
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date Wednesday 26 July 2017
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Declarations of Interest  
4. Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2017  (Pages 5 - 12)
5. Thematic Review of County Durham and Darlington Child Death 

Overview Panel - Report of Dr Mike Lavender, Chair of Child Death 
Overview Panel, County Durham and Darlington  (Pages 13 - 28)

6. Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update Report: 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham and Durham, 
Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby Draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans - Report of Chief Operating 
Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical Officer,  Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group  
(Pages 29 - 34)

7. Sustainability and Transformation Plans - Prevention Workstream 
Update - Report and Presentation of Director of Public Health County 
Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 
35 - 40)

8. Better Care Fund Quarter 4 Performance 2016/17 - Report of Strategic 
Programme Manager Care Act Implementation and Integration, Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 41 - 58)

9. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Performance Report- 
Report of Head of Service, Durham County Council  (Pages 59 - 96)



10. Public Health England Alcohol Evidence Review - Presentation and 
Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 97 - 98)

11. Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Update - Report of Director of Public 
Health County Durham, Durham County Council  (Pages 99 - 104)

12. County Durham Youth Offending Service Health Needs Assessment 
and New Model of Health Provision 2017/19 - Report of Strategic 
Manager, County Durham Youth Offending Service  (Pages 105 - 126)

13. Health and Wellbeing Board Big Tent Engagement Event 2017 - 
Strategic Manager Policy, Planning and Partnerships, Transformation 
and Partnerships, Durham County Council  (Pages 127 - 136)

14. Sugar Smart Programme - Report of Director of Public Health County 
Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 
137 - 148)

15. Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-17 - Report of 
Independent Chair, Local Safeguarding Adults Board  (Pages 149 - 
194)

16. Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17 - 
Report of Independent Chair, Local Safeguarding Children Board  
(Pages 195 - 216)

17. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

18. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

19. Pharmacy Applications - Report of Director of Public Health County 
Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 
217 - 224)

20. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Clare Pattinson
Interim Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
18 July 2017



Councillors L Hovvels and O Gunn

J Robinson Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council

M Whellans Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council

A Healy Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council

N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups

Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

A Foster North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust

C Martin Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

C Harries City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust

B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham
S Lamb Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust
L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and Durham County Council

A Reiss Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner

Contact: Jackie Graham Email: 03000 269704

To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board,
 Durham County Council



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, 
Durham on Thursday 22 June 2017 at 2.30 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman) 

 

Members of the Board: 

Councillors O Gunn, J Robinson, A Healy, C Harries, Dr S Findlay, N Bailey, B Jackson, 
A Reiss, L Jeavons,  

 
1 Election of Chairman  

 
Moved by Councillor O Gunn, Seconded by Dr S Findlay and 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor L Hovvels of be elected Chairman of the Board for the ensuing 
year. 
 

Councillor L Hovvels in the Chair 
 

2 Appointment of Vice-Chairman  
 
Moved by A Healy, Seconded by J Robinson  
 
Resolved: 
That of Dr S Findlay be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Board for the ensuing year. 
 

3 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from M Whellans, A Foster, C Martin,             
S Jacques, S Lamb, Dr J Smith, and Dr S Smart. 
 

4 Substitute Members  
 
G O’Neill for M Whellans, J Parkes for A Foster and J Birtley for S Lamb. 
 

5 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

6 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2017 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



7 Improved Better Care Fund  
 
The Board considered a report of the Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council that gave background information on the additional £2 
billion funding for adult social care announced in the spring budget 2017 (for copy 
see file of Minutes). 
 
The Head of Adult Care gave a presentation that highlighted the following:- 
 

 Adult Social Care Challenges 

 Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) & the allocation for Durham 
o 2017/18 £13m, 2018/19 £8m & 2019/20 £4m = Total of £25m 

 iBCF Spending Plans – Working Groups established to take forward the 
Emerging Themes 

o Meeting Social Care Needs 
o Reducing Pressure on the NHS 
o Supporting the Local Provider Market 
o System Development 

 
The Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield (DDES) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) acknowledged that this 
was short term funding and not a sustainable solution for social care. 
 
The Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council agreed 
with this.  She stated that further information was awaited, including what the Care 
Quality Commission’s “Appreciative Reviews” would involve.  Notification of a 
review would be through the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  She further 
advised that County Durham did not have the same issues in relation to delayed 
transfers of care as there was nationally.   
 
The Head of Planning & Service Strategy, Adult and Health Services, Durham 
County Council identified that it was important to have an element of innovation as 
part of the Improved Better Care Fund. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the Local Authority and CCG’s would progress plans to spend this 
funding as per the guidance set out in the grant conditions be noted. 

(ii) That oversight would be provided by the Integration Board and reported back 
to the Health and Wellbeing Board as part of the BCF monitoring process 
be agreed. 

 
8 Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update Report: Northumberland, 

Tyne and Wear and North Durham and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan  
 
The Board considered a joint report of the Director of Commissioning and 
Development, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group and the Chief Clinical 
Officer, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 
that gave an update on the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham 

Page 6



and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby Draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Corporate Director Adults and Health Services commented that the plans were 
building on what had been happening locally.   
 
The Strategic Manager, Policy, Planning and Partnerships, DCC asked how the 
local plans flowing from the STPs would align with the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) and was advised by the Chief Clinical Officer, North Durham and 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs,  that these plans would link to the 
JHWS. 
 
The Chief Clinical Officer DDES CCG said that it was complex with two STPs and 
13 workstreams developing the plan and that a lot of work was happening locally, 
regionally and nationally.   The Chief Operating Officer added that the language in 
the STPs was to be a focus, to ensure they were accessible to members of the 
public. 
 
The Head of Planning and Service Strategy queried why the priorities were different 
in the two STPs and commented that it was good to see a focus on mental health.  
The Chief Operating Officer added that the mental health workstream as part of the 
South STP was making sure that the Five Year Forward View was being 
implemented.  The focus for the Northern STP was looking at where clinical 
development could be developed further.    
 
Councillor Gunn asked how the STP would link into children and young people’s 
services.  The Chief Operating Officer advised that a recent presentation had been 
provided to the Children and Families Partnership to outline work that was taking 
place at scale for children, young people and families.  The Consultant in Public 
Health County Durham added that the prevention workstream had a focus on the 
best start in life and that children were very much a part of that. 
 
The Chief Operating Officer outlined she was keen for Healthwatch County 
Durham’s support in relation to engagement activities and she will be taking advice 
from Healthwatch as to the best way to carry this out. 
 
The Director of Public Health County Durham stated that prevention starts at a 
community level in terms of self-help. An update on the regional Prevention 
Workstream as part of the STPs will be shared with the Board at a future meeting.  
 
The Corporate Director, Adults and Health Services referred to Sunderland and 
South Tyneside STP and requested an update on progress.  She was advised that 
as part of the work on Pathways to Excellence there would be a public consultation 
starting on 5 July 2017 with a County Durham meeting taking place at the Glebe 
Centre, Murton.  This would look at Stroke Services, Maternity Services, Specialist 
Baby Care and Women’s Services.  The Chief Operating Officer said she would 
circulate a briefing to the board members. 
 
 
 

Page 7



Resolved: 
(i) That the progress updates for both STPs be received. 
(ii) That to receive further joint updates to future Health and Wellbeing Board 

meetings be agreed. 
 

9 Integration Update  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Integration, North Durham and 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and 
Durham County Council that provided progress with regard to Community 
Hubs/Teams Around Practices (TAP) (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Integration advised that a memorandum of understanding had been 
developed and a brand for the County Durham Accountable Care Network had 
been agreed.  She went on to explain that DDES CCG was part of the Primary Care 
Home joint project to shape the way primary care services were delivered and to 
support the avoidance of hospital admissions.   
 
The TAPs will focus on the top 2% of people in need and there would be a better 
plan and co-ordinated care for them.  The Board were informed that in order to 
include the voluntary sector, a delivery plan was being implemented. 
 
The Director of Integration said that there was a lot of work ongoing and that the 
model had been embraced locally.  The work would be reviewed regularly including 
the work with the voluntary sector. 
 
Councillor Gunn asked how the work with the voluntary sector was being taken 
forward. The Director of Integration outlined a contract had been awarded to a VCS 
organisation to work with others in the sector.  Workshops would also take place 
and a list of performance outcomes would be monitored. 
 
Councillor Gunn went on to say that there were so many voluntary and community 
organisations that were doing a lot of really important work on the ground, and who 
were reliant on funding.  She said that she would be interested to see how the 
relationship developed and said that it was important for councillors to be kept up to 
date with any developments. 
 
The Head of Planning and Service Strategy commented that a lot of work had been 
undertaken in such a short space of time and that it was important to hear from 
patients and service users so that stories were brought to life for the public and the 
board. 
 
The Director of Integration confirmed there would be a review in 6 months’ time with 
a report back to this board. 
 
It was agreed it was important that Area Action Partnerships were appraised of the 
work taking place. 
 
 
 

Page 8



Resolved: 
(i) That this report for information be received. 
(ii) That the direction of travel and note progress made be supported. 
(iii) To encourage further engagement of the VCS and request that Durham 

Community Action present to the County Durham Partnership a summary 
of its engagement to date and plans to enhance VCS involvement in 
primary care in the future. 

(iv) That to receive a further update report at a future Health and Wellbeing 
Board meeting be agreed. 

 
10 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report  

 
The Board considered a report of the  Head of Planning and Service Strategy, Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council that presented the Health and 
Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2016/17 for agreement (for copy of report see file 
of Minutes). 
 
The achievements of the board were highlighted, together with the details of locality 
health and wellbeing projects which supported the priorities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, as well as details of the future work moving forward. 
 
The board agreed that a press release be issued on the work carried out over the 
last year. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2016/17 be approved. 
(ii) That the future areas of work outlined in the report be agreed. 

 
11 CQC Inspection of Health Safeguarding and Looked After Children  

 
The Board received a report of the Director of Nursing, Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield and North Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups that provided an 
overview of recommendations from the Care Quality Commission (CQC) review of 
health services for children and looked after and safeguarding in County Durham 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and DDES CCG highlighted the key 
recommendations from the CQC and advised that an action plan had been 
developed which would be closely monitored. 
 
The Director of Public Health County Durham outlined the change of provider to the 
Drug and Alcohol Treatment service. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be received. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



12 Healthy Child Programme Board  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Durham County Council that gave an update on the development of the County 
Durham Healthy Child Programme Board and its proposed aim and vision for future 
collaborative frontline working from conception to 19 years (24 year for Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)) (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Consultant in Public health presented the report and advised the board that 
approval had been given in November 2016 to set up a Healthy Child Programme 
Board to discuss collaborative improvements to the health and social care offer to 
children, young people and families.  The Board would look to develop a seamless 
service at the point of contact, including maternity services, paediatrics, early help, 
early years and support services.  Three workshops had been held to date with the 
fourth meeting planned for June. 
 
The Consultant in Public Health explained that parents and children would be 
involved as the work progresses and that the draft HCP charter would be signed off 
by respective organisations.   Ante-natal care was identified as a “quick win” area to 
focus on initially.  
 
Resolved: 

(i) That information regarding the early formulation of the Healthy Child 
Programme Board be received. 

(ii) That the HCP board progressing with the intentions of co-designing and co-
producing a collaborative model of front line delivery from conception to 
19 years (24 years for SEND) over the coming two years and beyond be 
agreed. 

(iii) That to receive regular updates on progress to retain oversight of 
developments be agreed.  

 
13 "Work and You" Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2016  

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Children and Adults Services, Durham County Council which presented the 
2016/17 annual report focused on the importance of good work with a specific 
emphasis on our mid-life population (age 40 -70 years) (for copy of report see file of 
Minutes). 
 
The Consultant in Public Health presented the report and outlined that there had 
been an emphasis on physical and mental wellbeing in the workplace. The report 
was aimed at small to medium enterprises. 
 
The Consultant in Public Health outlined that Durham County Council were now 
working towards the Better Health at Work Award.   
 
In relation to a question from the Chief Clinical Officer, DDES CCG, the Director of 
Public Health outlined that the Healthy Living Pharmacy approach has been 
implemented in County Durham and they receive brief interventions training in 
relation to alcohol harm reduction. 

Page 10



 
The Chairman welcomed the report and was encouraged that the Council were 
doing more with healthier choices in the canteen and exercise opportunities for 
employees.   
 
The Director of Public Health commended the work outlined in the report and 
referred the board to a campaigns calendar and outlined the importance of 
organisations signing up, as well as Area Action Partnerships, to ensure key 
messages were spread across the population about the importance of supporting 
the health and wellbeing agenda. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the 2016/17 annual report of the Director of Public Health, County 
Durham be received.  

(ii) That the Annual Report be shared with other relevant partners to 
incorporate, where appropriate into future work programmes 

(iii) That to receive an update on the recommendations in this report as part of 
next DPH annual report be agreed. 

(iv) That to receive a separate update on the outcomes from the last DPH annual 
report on obesity be agreed. 

 
14 Health and Wellbeing - Area Action Partnership Links  

 
The Board considered a report of the Area Action Partnership Coordinator, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council that provided an update 
in relation to the work taking place to enhance the interface between Area Action 
Partnerships (AAPs) and the Health and Wellbeing Board to improve the alignment 
of AAP developments and investments and the priorities of the Partnerships (for 
copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Area Action Partnership Coordinator advised of the review of the structure for 
the Community Wellbeing Partnership and the work by County Durham and 
Darlington Fire and Rescue Service with the County Durham Dementia Action 
Alliance (CDDAA).  He went on to inform the board that the priority theme voting 
results for the general and schools surveys showed that Children, Young People 
and Families was ranked number one, this was followed by Older People and 
Health and Wellbeing.  The Board were advised that mental health was a top 
priority for 10 of the AAPs. 
 
Councillor Gunn referred to localised support for the development of funding bids. 
The AAP Co-ordinator outlined that Area Action Partnerships have localised profiles 
and also access information on the Integrated Needs Assessment which is the 
evidence base.   
 
The Chairman referred to defibrillators and the training required for community 
wardens and others.  The Area Action Partnership Coordinator said that he could 
map this information from the AAP perspective. 
 
 
 

Page 11



Resolved: 
(i) That the alignment of work of the AAP’s to the Health and Wellbeing Board 

be supported. 
(ii) That details of the AAP priorities for 2017/18 be received. 
(iii) That information about the shared work that the AAP’s and partners were 

currently working on be received. 
(iv) That to receive future update reports be agreed. 

 
 

15 Revision of Framework for the prevention of unintentional injuries in children 
and young people (0-19 years) in County Durham 2017-2020  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services Durham County Council that presented a revised 
delivery framework for the prevention of unintentional injuries in children and young 
people (0-19 years) in County Durham 2014-2017, requiring further consultation 
and approval (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health informed the board that there had been significant 
challenges in County Durham with the different social backgrounds and that a multi-
agency plan had been developed to tackle this.  She went on to highlight the key 
issues and advised that there would be a focus on the 0-5 year olds.  The board 
were asked to agree a framework for wider consultation with a further report to 
come back in September 2017. 
 
Resolved: 
That the Unintentional Injuries Delivery Framework for wider consultation as set out 
in the timeline be agreed. 
 

16 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
 

17 Pharmacy Applications  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health County Durham 
which provided a summary of a Pharmacy Relocation Application received from 
NHS England in accordance with the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local 
Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013 since the last formal meeting of the 
Board in March 2017 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

Page 12



 

 

 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Thematic Review of County Durham and 
Darlington Child Death Overview Panel 
 

 

 
 

Report of Dr Mike Lavender, Consultant in Public Health Medicine, 
Chair of Child Death Overview Panel  

 
Purpose of the Report 

1. To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board with an analysis of emerging themes 
identified by the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) following a review of all 
child deaths in County Durham and Darlington where there were modifiable 
factors that could have contributed to the child’s death. 

Background 

2. The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is a sub-committee of the County 
Durham and Darlington Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) and is 
responsible for reviewing all deaths of children who reside in County Durham or 
Darlington. 

3. The information received from all agencies involved in the child’s care is 
reviewed by the panel. The panel considers whether there were any modifiable 
factors that could have contributed to the death. A summary of the facts relating 
to each death is recorded on a Form C. This includes the cause of death and 
any learning points. The panel is required to submit an LSCB1 annual data 
return to the Department for Education on behalf of the LSCBs.  

4. The role of CDOP is to determine whether a child death was deemed 
preventable through modifiable factors which may have contributed to the death 
and to decide what, if any, actions could be taken to prevent future such 
deaths. The response by partner agencies to recommendations related to 
individual cases is monitored by CDOP. The main learning points and 
examples of good practice are summarised in the CDOP Annual Reports.  

5. The Rapid Response Nurses who are linked to CDOP process support parents 
and provide them with feedback from the review if they so wish. 

6. A function of CDOP also includes ‘identifying patterns or trends in local data 
and reporting these to the LSCB’. To identify any recurrent themes, the Chair of 
the CDOP working with the Designated Paediatrician for Child Deaths 
conducted a thematic review of child deaths between April 2014 and May 2016. 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

Process 

7. All child deaths where there were modifiable factors discussed by CDOP 
between April 2014 to May 2016 were included in the review. For these 
cases, the summary Form Cs and all additional information considered by 
CDOP were included in the review. These case notes from each death were 
reviewed by the Chair of the CDOP and the Designated Paediatrician for 
Child Deaths to identify any common themes. For each case, the cause of 
death, the key issues and learning points were highlighted. 

Results 

8. Of the 114 cases seen by CDOP between April 2014 and May 2016, 33 were 
noted as having modifiable factors. Table 1 shows the number of cases with 
modifiable factors by category of the cause of death.  

Table 1 Number of cases by category of the cause of death 

 

Category of cause of death Number of cases 

Unexpected neonatal death at term  6 

Premature birth 5 

Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy  7 

Trauma and accidents 7 

Unexpected death from medical conditions 7 

Suicide 1 

Total 33 

 
Unexpected neonatal death at term  

9. Table 2 outlines the issues and learning points identified in each of the six 
cases whose cause of death was classified as an unexpected neonatal death 
at term (normal gestational period).  There were six different specific causes 
of death identified (including one ‘unascertained’), with some common issues 
and common learning points 

 

Table 2 Unexpected neonatal deaths at term 

 

Cause of death Issues Learning points 

Cerebral bleed 
after prolonged 
second stage of 
labour 

CTG interpretation  
Delay in initiating the 
escalation policy  

Review the policy of foetal blood 
sampling in second stage of 
labour.  
Escalation policy to be initiated 
at the earliest opportunity.   
Closer monitoring of length in 
2nd stage of labour. 

Page 14



 

 

 

Multi-organ failure      
due to E. Coli 
sepsis due to 
colonic perforation 

CTG interpretation  
Delay in initiating the 
escalation policy 

Consultant must be informed of 
babies admitted to Special Care 
Baby Unit (SCBU) who require 
respiratory support. 
Handover of information for 
women in labour so that the 
urgency of a situation is clearly 
communicated. 

Unascertained CTG interpretation Simulation exercises for the 
resuscitation of babies. 
CTG interpretation training.   

Meconium 
aspiration 
syndrome 
secondary to 
asphyxia 

CTG interpretation 
Escalation policy 

Review guidance for intermittent 
monitoring of foetal heart during 
low-risk labour.   
Training to ensure correct 
equipment used for foetal heart 
monitoring. 
Ante-natal CTG recordings 
should be verified by an 
experienced person (Band 7 
midwife or an obstetric middle-
grade doctor) prior to a woman 
being discharged. 
CTG training 

1. Neonatal 
Encephalopathy 
and 
Intraventricular 
Haemorrhage 
2. Poorly 
Controlled 
Gestational 
Diabetes 

Service issues 
(implementing NICE clinical 
guidelines) 

Local guidelines revised to 
comply with the 
recommendations in NICE 
clinical guidance on the 
management of diabetes in 
pregnancy. 
 
 

Intra-uterine 
pneumonia from 
aspiration of 
amniotic fluid, due 
to utero-placental 
insufficiency  

CTG interpretation  
Delay in initiating the 
escalation policy 

Visibility of equipment in main 
theatre needs to be improved. 
CTG training. 
Ultrasound growth charts to be 
reviewed and standardised in 
line with regional and national  
guidance 

 

10. There are two recurrent themes from these cases; CTG interpretation and the 
escalation policy. 

1) Interpretation of the CTG monitoring the foetal heart rate during labour.  

Cardiotocograph monitoring (CTG) is a device for recording the foetal 
heartbeat and the uterine contractions during labour as one way of 
assessing the baby for any signs of distress. It is well recognised that the 
interpretation of CTG readings can be difficult in many circumstances. 
However, it is such an important indicator of the welfare of a baby during 

Page 15



 

 

 

labour that all delivery suites have a policy to ensure that CTG reading is 
consistently carried out to a high standard and all members of staff have 
access to regular training and supervision. The incorrect interpretation of the 
CTG was identified as a factor in five out of the six cases raising questions 
about the level of training and experience of the staff involved.  
 

2) Escalation policy 

The escalation policy refers to circumstances when the junior doctor on-call 
for the maternity unit requests the advice from a senior doctor when a 
delivery is not progressing as expected. There are two obstetrician led 
maternity units in County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust. One is in 
the University Hospital of North Durham and the other in Darlington 
Memorial Hospital. The consultant cover for the two units is not significantly 
different from most other maternity units of a similar size. It is normal for 
junior and staff grade doctors to provide the medical cover at night and at 
weekends. During these periods all such units have policies for a consultant 
to be called in from home to assist with a difficult labour and delivery.  

11. CTG interpretation and the escalation policy were identified as themes in the 
CDOP Thematic Review 2008 to 2014. Both factors have also been 
highlighted by two external reviews of maternity service in County Durham 
and Darlington, one in 2009 and the other in 2016.  

12. Since the CDOP process started in 2008, national, regional and local 
guidelines have included the recommendation for all obstetric led maternity 
units to work towards having a consultant present for 168 hours per week 
(24/7). If these standards had been met when these deaths occurred then the 
recommendation for an escalation policy would have been unnecessary.  

Premature birth 

13. Table 3 outlines the issues and learning points identified in each of the five 
cases whose cause of death was classified as a premature birth.  Although 
there were four different specific causes of death identified, there were some 
common issues and common learning points that were relevant to the majority 
of cases. These were in relation to communication between professionals and 
access to experienced senior staff through the implementation of the 
escalation policy.  

 

Table 3 Premature births 

 

Cause of death Issues Learning points 

Premature rupture 
of membranes 
Intra-uterine 
infection  

Difficulty with communication 
between two maternity 
services, both working at high 
activity level 
 

Improved communication 
between units when a Neonatal 
Intensive Care cot is required. 
Improved communication 
between units on the transfer of 
critically ill babies 
 

Page 16



 

 

 

Extreme 
prematurity 

Delay in ambulance transfer 
to tertiary unit due to 
pressures on the ambulance 
service. 
Communication between the 
Obstetrician and Consultant 
Paediatrician.  
Neonatal resuscitation 
techniques. 

Consultant to Consultant 
communication for pre-term 
deliveries. 

Severe respiratory 
distress syndrome 
due to extreme 
prematurity 

Staffing on a bank holiday 
Delay in contacting 
Consultant Paediatrician 
Only one Consultant 
Paediatrician available for 
birth of twins  
Communication difficulties 
between the tertiary units and 
maternity units prior to the 
arrival of the neonatal 
transport teams  
Equipment problems  
Technical difficulties in regard 
to intubation/airway 
management of the babies.  

Communication between units.  
Staff planning and rotas. 
Equipment audit. 
Review of resuscitation for  
extremely pre-term babies 
Review process for Consultant 
Paediatricians sustaining the 
skill set required for effective 
resuscitation and management 
of premature babies. 

Severe respiratory 
distress syndrome 
due to extreme 
prematurity 

As above (twin) As above (twin) 

Extreme 
prematurity 

Communication with 
Consultant Paediatrician at 
the time of delivery. 
Staff did not follow the formal 
process for confirmation of 
death. 
Staff did not follow the 
protocol for delivery and 
management of extreme pre-
term birth. 
Staff did not follow nationally 
recognised practice for the 
management of extremely 
pre-term birth.  

Review the policy and training 
regarding the management of 
pre- term maternal admissions. 
Consistent resuscitation 
procedures between ante natal 
and labour wards. 

 
Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy 

14. Table 4 outlines the issues and learning points identified in the seven cases 
whose cause of death was classified as a sudden unexpected death in 
infancy (SUDI).  There were four different specific causes of death identified 
and in three cases the cause of death was recorded as ‘unascertained’. 
Common issues were co-sleeping of a caregiver with the child and smoking 

Page 17



 

 

 

within the household. In one case a learning point around escalation of cases 
by junior doctors to more experienced consultants was identified. 

 

Table 4 Sudden unexpected death in infancy 

 

Cause of 
death 

Issues Learning points 

SUDI Co-sleeping Advice to parents on causes of 
SUDI. 

Unascertained Co-sleeping 
Smoking in the home 

Advice to parents on causes of 
SUDI.  

Unascertained Co-sleeping  
Drug misuse in home 
No senior paediatrician 
involved during three 
hospital admissions in one 
week.  
Discharged from hospital 
inappropriately. 

Review of communication policy 
between drug treatment services, 
community midwives and health 
visitors. 
Review of hospital discharge policy   
 

SUDI Parental smoking Advice to parents on causes of 
SUDI. 

SUDI Parental smoking 
Co-sleeping 

Advice to parents on causes of 
SUDI. 

Unascertained Co-sleeping Advice to parents on causes of 
SUDI. 

Accidental 
suffocation 

Co-sleeping  
Smoking in household 

Advice to parents on causes of 
SUDI. 

 
Trauma and accidents 

15. Table 5 outlines the issues and learning points identified in the seven cases 
whose cause of death was classified as trauma or accident. In most cases the 
associated learning points were specific to the particular cause of death.  
Some cases shared a common factor of communication between 
professionals and agencies. 
 

Table 5 Deaths associated with trauma and accidents 

 

Cause of death Issues Learning points 

Strangulation 
 

Homicide  
Mental health 
of mother 

No mental health assessment carried out.  
Communication between professionals and 
agencies. 

Head injury Abuse 
(domestic 
violence) 

Key learning points identified and followed 
up as part of the Serious Case Review. 
Communication between professionals and 
agencies a major factor. 

Page 18



 

 

 

Abusive Head 
Trauma 

Shaken baby Information sharing and communication 
between hospital and police 

Severe head injuries 
and chest injuries 
following a road 
traffic accident 

Motorbike 
modification 

There is no legal requirement for anyone 
selling a motorbike to declare they have 
made modifications that would affect its 
performance.  This was a matter of concern 
to the investigating Police Officers. 

Multiple injuries as a 
result of a crushing 
accident 

Health and 
safety 

The HSE investigation recommended a full 
risk assessment around the use of similar 
machinery. 

Accidental drowning Inadequate 
signage 

Improved signage 

Unascertained Drug and 
alcohol 
misuse in 
parents 

Training needs identified – knowledge gap 
in understanding of Hidden Harm and the 
impact of substance misusing parents on 
children. 

 
Unexpected death from medical conditions 

16. There were seven cases of unexpected deaths from medical conditions 
(Table 6). Common themes identified within the learning points included 
problems with communication (between bodies, senior and junior staff and 
wider colleagues) and escalation policies.   
 

Table 6 Unexpected deaths from medical conditions 

 

Cause of death Issues Learning points 

Raised intracranial 
pressure due to 
blockage of the 
shunt for treating 
hydrocephalus 

Service issues – 
blocked shunt 

Complex cases requiring treatment 
planning between different hospitals should 
be discussed at Consultant to Consultant 
level to minimise risk of miscommunication.   
  

Pulmonary 
embolus following 
severe sepsis. 
Congenital neuro-
disability.  

Service issue – 
care planning 

Consultant involvement in managing 
complex cases.  
Communications between local and tertiary 
services. 

Hashimoto 
encephalopathy 

No emergency 
care plan or 
family held record 
on discharge.  
Escalation policy 
not implemented. 
  

Emergency care plan for children with 
complex health needs. 
Consultant involvement in managing 
complex cases. 

Acute pulmonary 
embolism  

Service issue - 
eight month wait 
for surgery. 
 

Review of priorities for surgery. 

Page 19



 

 

 

Asthma Service issue – 
Asthma 
guidelines not 
followed. 
Ambulance 
delays 

Review of procedures to monitor asthma 
treatment compliance in primary care.  
Improved awareness and guidance in 
schools to manage children with asthma. 
  

Congenital adrenal 
hyperplasia 

Service issue -
management of 
children with 
failure to thrive 

Review the clinical policy on the 
management of babies failing to gain 
weight. 
 

Unascertained. 
Likely to be due to 
sickle cell disease 

Service issue – 
inappropriate 
early discharge. 

Review communication between 
Consultants and nurses. 
Review the management of sickle cell 
disease and the need for specialist advice. 

 
Suicide 

17. There was one death by suicide in this review. The learning points and issues 
are detailed in Table 7. 

Table 7 Death by suicide 
 

Cause 
of 
death 

Issues Learning points 

Suicide Mental health services – 
coordination and transfer 
of care between military 
psychiatrist and primary 
care.  

Provide the military psychiatric services with 
information about regional CAMHS services. 

 
Conclusions 

18. This report needs to be considered within the context of a broader consensus 
within the NHS to improve standards within maternity services1. There is no 
evidence from routinely available information or from the CDOP thematic 
reviews to suggest that the services provided by the NHS locally are any 
different to other hospitals of a similar size2.   

19. The low number of child deaths with modifiable factors each year in the 
population covered by County Durham and Darlington local authorities means 
that it is unlikely that a theme will emerge from within one year and included in 
the CDOP annual report. Only by looking at child deaths over a longer period 
and focusing on the deaths with modifiable factors can emerging themes be 
identified. 

                                                 
1 Better Births: Improving outcomes of maternity services in England.  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf 

2 MBRACE-UK Perinatal Mortality Surveillance Report May 2016. 
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/downloads/files/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK-PMS-Report-2014.pdf 

Page 20



 

 

 

20. This is the second thematic review by the County Durham and Darlington 
CDOP since it was established in 2008. For information the tables from the 
2014 report are included in the Appendix.  Table 8 summarises the recurrent 
themes identified in both reviews. 
 

Table 8 Recurrent themes from the reviews in 2014 and 2016 

 

Age group Theme 

Perinatal and infant deaths 
 

CTG training 
 

Escalation policies 
 

Resuscitation of neonates  

Communication between professionals and 
units on the transfer of neonatal care 

Awareness of risk factors to prevent SUDI 

Child deaths Mandatory training in paediatric resuscitation 

Emergency care plans for children with 
complex health problems 

 

21. From both reviews, a particular concern is the number of unexpected deaths 
of babies at a normal gestational age with common modifiable factors around 
their care during labour. For the 2016 review, a subgroup of CDOP met to 
consider a number of these cases in more depth. The purpose of the meeting 
was to consider the learning points and actions recommended for each case. 
This took into account the findings and recommendations of the external 
review of obstetric and paediatric services commissioned by County Durham 
and Darlington Foundation Trust. 

22. The conclusion from the CDOP subgroup meeting was that it was not 
necessary to make any further recommendations and the panel was assured 
that the action plan agreed by the CCGs and CDDFT would address most of 
the learning points highlighted by the CDOP Thematic Review. However, the 
subgroup concluded that the recommendations and action plans would not 
fully address all of the learning points. These related to service issues beyond 
the scope of local hospitals to change without the collaboration of 
neighbouring hospitals and regional services. An example of this is 
improvements in the care pathway for seriously ill babies between local 
services and regional neonatal intensive care units for the transfer of care. To 
address these concerns the LSCB could look to other groups such as the 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Overview and Scrutiny Committees to look 
into this further.    

23. The CDOP subgroup questioned whether the actions to address concerns 
regarding CTG interpretation and the escalation policy went far enough given 
the recurrence of these issues over several years. The subgroup discussed 
these issues taking into account the way in which obstetric and paediatric 
services are currently provided. The recurrent themes of CTG interpretation 
and escalation policies are the direct consequence of the current service 

Page 21



 

 

 

model. For example a more rapid progress toward a 7 day consultant 
delivered obstetric and acute paediatric service is beyond the remit of CDOP 
would make an escalation policy redundant and improve training and 
supervision of CTG interpretation.  

24. To address these broader concerns the CDOP has taken into account of the 
findings in the Wood Report: Review of the role and functions of Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards3 in relation to the future of CDOPs. 

 

Recommendations  

25. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a) Note the findings of the CDOP Thematic Review. 

(b) Take into account the learning points identified by the thematic reviews 
when considering plans for maternity and paediatric services. 

 

Contact:  Dr Mike Lavender, Consultant in Public Health  
Tel:       03000 267681  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
3 Wood Report: Review of the role and functions of Local Safeguarding Children Boards. March 2016. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/526329/Alan_Wood_re
view.pdf 

Page 22



 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – None 

 

Staffing – None 

 

Risk – None 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – None 

 

Accommodation – N/A 

 

Crime and Disorder – N/A 

 

Human Rights – N/A 

 

Consultation – N/A 

 

Procurement - None 

 

Disability Issues - None 

 

Legal Implications – None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

Appendix 2:  Tables from the CDOP Thematic Review 2008 to 2014 

 

Table 1 Numbers of cases in each category of death, as classified as part of 
the thematic review 
 

Category of cause of death Number of cases 

Unexpected neonatal death at term  4 

Premature birth 4 

Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy  7 

Trauma and accidents 8 

Unexpected death from medical conditions 11 

Suicide 2 

Total 36 

 
Table 2 Unexpected neonatal deaths at term 
 

Cause of death Issues Learning points 

Sepsis following 
traumatic forceps 
delivery  

CTG interpretation. 
Delay seeking medical 
assessment. 
Not seen by consultant on 
SCBU. 

CTG interpretation training.  
Escalation policy.  
Consultant delivered care in 
SCBU and obstetric unit. 

Intra-partum 
trauma 

CTG interpretation.  
Delay in escalating to senior 
staff. 
Prolonged second stage of 
labour.    

CTG interpretation training.  
Escalation policy.  
Consultant delivered 
obstetric service. 

Intra-partum 
asphyxia 

CTG interpretation. 
Delay in escalating to senior 
staff.  
Prolonged second stage of 
labour.  

CTG interpretation training. 
Escalation policy.  
Consultant delivered 
obstetric service. 

Intra-partum 
asphyxia 

CTG interpretation.  
Difficulty attaching scalp 
electrode.  
Emergency CS. 

CTG interpretation training.  
Escalation policy.  
Consultant delivered 
obstetric service.   
Staffing levels on labour 
ward. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

 

 

 Table 3 Premature births 
 

Cause of 
death 

Issues Learning points 

Premature 
birth 

Expected death Antibiotic treatment in neonatal care  

Premature 
birth 

Transfer between hospitals. 
Poor communication. 
 

Provision of PICU beds. 

Premature 
birth 

Specialist neonatal care 
pathway not followed. 

Quality standards in PICU service.  

Premature 
birth 

Pre-term labour attending an 
urgent care centre. 

Provision of maternity services in 
County Durham and Darlington. 

 
Table 4 Sudden Unexpected deaths in infancy 
 

Cause of 
death 

Issues Learning points 

SIDS Bed sharing. Mother on 
medication. 

Psychiatrists- awareness of bed-
sharing while on medication 

SIDS Died in care of relative - smoker, 
alcohol, medication.  

FSID - include information on child 
care by others. 

SIDS Pre-term. Co-sleeping. Reinforced guidance on co-sleeping. 

SIDS Co-sleeping. Alcohol. Smoking. Concerns over the way parents were 
treated. Changes to SUDIC 
procedures.  

SIDS Drug misuse Communication between agencies. 
Information sharing and confidentiality 
agreements.  

SIDS Pre-term. Over-wrapping. Skeletal survey post-mortem.  

Viral infection Domestic violence. Previous 
SIDS. Sleeping in a buggy. 

Provision of paediatric ophthalmology 
for post-mortem examination.  

 
Table 5 Trauma or accidents  
 

Cause of death Issues Learning points  

RTA Crossing a busy road Improved lighting, barriers and signs  

Accidental death Crushed by patio door HSE and Trading Standards informed  

Murdered Mother had mental illness Serious case review 

Murdered Bruising in an immobile 
child. No action taken. 

Serious case review 

Murdered Bruising in an immobile 
child. No action taken. 

Serious case review 

RTA Inexperienced rider. 
Modified motor bike 

Police - query the need to change the law  

Accidental death Crushed by concrete 
bollard 

HSE investigation  

Drowning Swimming in river DCC - request for signs, lifebelt. Awaiting reply. 

Page 25



 

 

 

Table 6 Unexpected deaths caused by medical conditions  
 

Cause of death Issues Learning points  

Asthma Delay in seeking medical help Care shared between divorced 
parents. Awareness of this at 
asthma reviews.  

Asthma BTS guidelines not followed in 
primary care. In appropriate 
discharge. Not seen by 
consultant. 

Management of asthma in primary 
care.  
Paediatric assessment for every 
admission. 

Septicaemia Delay instigating intensive care Mandatory training and joint 
exercises in paediatric resuscitation. 

Diabetic KA Delay in seeking medical help. Education for parents with children 
with diabetes.  
Emergency care plan for children 
with complex health needs. 

E. Coli and 
HUS 

Early discharge with 
inadequate discharge 
arrangements. 

Management guidelines for HUS. 
PICU checklist.  
Mandatory training and joint 
exercise in paediatric resuscitation. 

Encephalopathy Rare condition with treatable 
complications. No consultant 
assessment on admission. No 
follow up. No escalation from 
nurse led unit after discharge. 

Consultant paediatrician 
assessment in all complex cases.  
Emergency care plan for children 
with complex health needs. 

Epilepsy Delay in seeking medical help Discussion with parents on SUDEP.  
Emergency care plan for children 
with complex health needs. 

Hirschprung's 
disease  

NICE guidance for rectal 
biopsy. Compliance with 
treatment. 

Coroner Section 28 letter to NICE 
  

Hirschprung's 
disease 

Conservative treatment by RVI. 
Lost to follow up. Growth 
failure. No review in primary 
care for 2 years. 

Paediatric discharge policy. 
Community paediatric and school 
nursing policy on growth monitoring. 
Emergency care plan for children 
with complex health needs. 

Hydrocephalus Shunt revision RVI. Immediate 
discharge to North Tees. 

Monitor in Newcastle for at least 
24hrs. 
Consultant to consultant transfer 
protocol.  
Assessment of shunt procedures. 

PE due to 
septicaemia 

Severe pneumonia not 
recognised in nurse-led unit 

Consultant paediatrician 
assessment in all complex cases.  
Emergency care plan for children 
with complex health needs. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

 

 

Table 7 Suicide  
 

Cause of 
death 

Issues Learning points  

Suicide Discharged by the army. Lack of 
collaboration between army and 
NHS psychiatry service. 

Direct referral by Army to CAMHS - 
no response so far.  
Guidance to GPs for parents to 
contact CAMHS.  
Improved communication between 
agencies 

Suicide Self-discharge from CAMHS. 
Follow up letter not sent. 

CAMHS to ensure follow up letter 
included in discharge arrangements. 
Improved communication between 
agencies 

 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

26 July 2017 
 

Sustainability and Transformation Plans 
Update Report: Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear and North Durham and  
Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby Draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans  
 

 

 

Report of Nicola Bailey, Chief Operating Officer, North Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group and  
Dr Stewart Findlay, Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To provide an update to the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) on the two 

local Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs): Northumberland, Tyne 
and Wear and North Durham Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
(NTWND STP) and the Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire 
and Whitby Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan (DDTHRW STP) 
 

2. Both plans are available to view online on the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear 
and North Durham (NTWND) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) website  
(Link) DDTHRW Draft STP is available to view online on the Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
website (Link). 
 

Background 
 
3. The NHS shared planning guidance asked every health and care system to 

come together to create their own ambitious local blue print for accelerating the 
implementation of the Five Year Forward View. STPs are place based, multi-
year plans built around the needs of local populations. STPs are expected to 
support closing three gaps across health and care systems that were 
highlighted in the Five Year Forward View: 
 

 Health and wellbeing 

 Care and quality 

 Funding and financial efficiency 
 

4. STPs bring organisations together to develop a shared plan for better health 
and social care for local populations. STP footprints are not new statutory 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/NTWND-STP-final-submission-combined.pdf
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/STP-Draft-Plan-on-Page-Final.pdf


 

organisations. An umbrella plan has been developed containing specific plans 
to address key challenges.   

 
5. Workstreams associated with the two STPs in the North East workstreams are 

being coordinated and delivered across the area. Both DDES and North 
Durham CCGs, in conjunction with Durham County Council Officers, ensure 
consistent coordination of delivery of plans for the population of County 
Durham. 

 

6. A Prevention, Health and Wellbeing Workstream, sponsored by Terry Collins, 
Chief Executive, Durham County Council has been established across both 
STP foot prints in the region. This workstream is focussing on the following 
priorities in collaboration with partners: 
 

 Primary prevention  

 Reduce the impact of alcohol 

 Reduce obesity prevalence 

 Reduce smoking prevalence 

 Secondary prevention 

 Best start in life 

 Work and health 

 Asset based approach 

 Flu immunisation 

 Workforce development 

 Joined up public health campaigns 
 

7. The Director of Public Health County Durham will also provide a presentation 
on the STP Prevention workstream at the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting 
on 26th July 2017. 
 

Progress update (DDTHRW STP) 
 
8. Due to the close proximity of the June and July Health and Wellbeing Board 

meetings, and the delay to planned activities caused by the General Election 
Purdah, the progress updates are brief.  

9. The report that was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 
22nd June set out the 4 priority areas and updated timetable. It also provided 
figures and feedback from the STP public engagement.  

10. Further engagement is taking place over the summer and consultation on 
service change will begin in autumn 2017.  

Progress update (NTWND STP) 

11. The table in appendix 2 shows the different types of engagement events held in 
December 2016 and January 2017 and attendance at those events. In addition 
there were 55 written responses received either via email or letter and 94 
survey responses. 

Page 30



 

12. A presentation and discussion took place at the Children and Families 
Partnership meeting in June 2017 to explore aspects of the STP plan related to 
children’s services.   
 

13. A consultation to gather public views around the different ways stroke, 
maternity (obstetrics), women’s services (gynaecology) and children and young 
people’s urgent and emergency (paediatrics) NHS services will take place in 
South Tyneside, Sunderland and County Durham. 
 

14. Called ‘The Path to Excellence’, the public consultation will run for 14 and a half 
weeks from Wednesday 5th July until Sunday 15th October, and will focus on 
areas of hospital care which are delivered at South Tyneside General Hospital 
and Sunderland Royal Hospital including:  
 

 Stroke services specifically hospital (acute) care and hospital-based 
rehabilitation services. 

 Maternity services (obstetrics) covering hospital-based birthing facilities i.e. 
where you would give birth to your baby. 

 Women’s services (Gynaecology) covering inpatient surgery where you 
would need an overnight hospital stay. 

 Children and young people’s (paediatrics urgent and emergency) services 
and special care baby units. 

 
15. The Path to Excellence programme is being led by a partnership of local NHS 

organisations including NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group, 
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group, South Tyneside NHS 
Foundation Trust and City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust – 
working together as the South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership. 
North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG have 
senior representation within the partnership. 
 

16. A consultation event took place in Murton, County Durham on 6th July 2017. 
 
Recommendations 
 
17. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

(a) Receive the progress updates for both STPs 
 
(b) Agree to receive further joint updates to future Health and Wellbeing  

                    Board meetings. 
 

Contact:   Michael Houghton, Director of Commissioning and Development, 
North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 

Tel:           0191 389 8575 or  
Contact:  Sarah Burns, Director of Commissioning, Durham Dales, 

Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 
Tel:           0191 3713217  

 
 

Page 31



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – N/A 

 
Staffing – N/A 

 
Risk –  N/A 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – N/A 

 
Accommodation – N/A 

 
Crime and Disorder – NA 

 
Human Rights - NA 

 
Consultation – Public consultation has commenced on some hospital services 
provided at South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust and City Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. 
 
 
Procurement - NA 

 
Disability Issues - NA 

 
Legal Implications – N/A 

  

Page 32



 

Appendix 2: NTWND Engagement events and attendance  

 

Event  Attendances 

North Durham 
Drop in 1 
8 Dec 10am – 12noon 
Glenroyd House  
Medomsley road  
Consett, DH8 5HL 
 

8 

North Durham 
Focus group 1 
13 December (1pm – 3pm at North 
Road Methodist Church Hall) 
This will then be followed by a 
‘Walkabout’ in the surrounding area to 
try to engage directly 

24  

North Durham 
Focus group 2 
12 January (10am – 12pm, Bullion hall 
Chester-le-Street) 
 

11 (further 4 through Walkabout 
session) 

North Durham  
NTWND public session led by Mark 
Adams 
Alington House  
Thursday, 12 January 2017 from 18:00 
to 20:00 (GMT)  

42  

North Tyneside  
Whitley Bay, Whitley Bay Customer 
First Centre  
Monday, 16 January 2017 from 18:00 to 
20:00 
 

64  
 

Gateshead, St. Mary's Heritage Centre  
Wednesday, 11 January 2017 from 
18:00 to 20:00 (GMT)  
 

42  
 

Newcastle upon Tyne, Royal Station 
Hotel  
Monday, 9 January 2017 from 18:00 to 
20:00 (GMT)  
 

52 
 

Northumberland 
Hexham Community Centre 
Tuesday 10 January, 2pm 
 

32 

Northumberland 
Blyth Community Enterprise Centre 
Thursday 12 January, 10am 

11 

Page 33



 

Event  Attendances 

Northumberland 
Ashington CVA 
Thursday 12 January, 2pm 

23 

Northumberland 
Bellview Resource Centre, Belford 
Friday 13 January, 10am 

18 

Sunderland and South Tyneside  
Community and voluntary sector event 
16 September -1pm 

63  

East People Board (Sunderland) 14 
November – 3.30pm 

13 

West People Board (Sunderland) 14 
November – 5.30pm   

12 

Coalfield People Board (Sunderland)  
15 November – 5pm 

12 

North People Board (Sunderland) 
 16 November – 5pm 

11 

East Shields and Whitburn (ST)  
16 November – 6pm 

25 

Jarrow and Boldon CAF  (ST) 
24 November  – 5pm   

25 

Hebburn CAF (ST)  
28 November – 10am 

35 

East (Sunderland) VCS Network  
1 December – 1pm 

30 

West (Sunderland) VCS Network  
7 December – 10am 

23 

Jarrow Constituency Labour Party 
6 December - 7pm 

45 

West Shields, Cleadon and East Boldon 
CAF  
8 December – 10am 

20 

Riverside CAF (ST) 
8 December - 6pm 

21 

South Tyneside CCG Council of 
Practices 
15 December 3-4pm 

28 

North (Sunderland VCS Network)  
15 December - 1pm 

20 

Washington People Board 
16 January - 4pm 

15 

Washington VCS Network 
24 January - 9.30am 

16 

Coalfield VCS Network  
26 January - 10am 

33 

 

Page 34



 

 

Health & Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans - 
Prevention Workstream Update 
 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. To update the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress made by the North 

East Prevention Workstream. 
 
Background 
 
2. The Five Year Forward View sets out that a ‘radical upgrade in prevention’ is 

needed to improve people’s lives and achieve financial sustainability of the 
health and care system. The National Health Service (NHS) spends more 
than £15.5 billion per annum treating illness which directly results from alcohol 
and tobacco consumption, obesity, hypertension, falls, unhealthy levels of 
physical activity and social isolation. Most of this treatment is avoidable. This 
also has an impact on Council services including social care. 

 
3. The NHS and local councils have formed sustainability and transformation 

partnerships (STP’s) in 44 areas covering all of England, to improve health 
and care. Each area has developed proposals built around the needs of the 
whole population in the area. Working at scale across one or more STP 
footprint will provide the NHS and their local government partners to work 
together to build on existing local efforts and strengthen and implement 
preventative interventions that will close the local health and wellbeing gap.  

 
4. A challenge has always been to support prevention at scale, putting 

confidence in prevention’s ability to deliver. Our health and care system 
across Cumbria and the North East is currently serving a large “health and 
wellbeing debt” and we’re continuing to run a “health and wellbeing deficit”.  
Each of the three Sustainability and Transformation Plans within the Cumbria 
and North East footprint has placed a significant emphasis on improving 
health outcomes, reducing health inequalities and tackling the health and 
wellbeing gaps which exist.   

 
5. A regional wide group which currently covers two STP footprints 

(Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham (NTWND) and Durham, 
Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby (DDTHRW)) has 
been established which includes Directors of Public Health along with 
representatives from: Public Heath England, Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs), Provider Trusts, Health Education England North East, Healthwatch, 
Strategic Clinical Networks, Voluntary and Community Sector, NHS England 
Screening and Immunisation, Finance and other STP workstream leads.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 
6. The regional group is chaired by Dr Guy Pilkington as the Senior Responsible 

Officer for CCGs. Terry Collins, Chief Executive Durham County Council, is 
the Chief Executive Sponsor for Local Authorities for this work.  They are 
supported by Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health Durham County 
Council, and Dr Paul Edmondson-Jones, Director of Public Health Hartlepool 
Council who lead the prevention workstreams in the NTWND STP and 
DDTHRW STP respectively with project management support provided from 
North East Commissioning Support (NECS). Public Health England also 
provide support to the workstream. Each STP retains its own prevention 
programme but they have largely similar themes meaning it makes sense to 
work collaboratively across both footprints. 

 
7. The Directors of Public Health provide key links back to local Health and 

Wellbeing Boards to ensure alignment and that local priorities are reflected in 
the North East level work and vice versa. For Durham this includes the 
priorities set out in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the emerging 
County Durham Partnership approach to prevention. 

 
Progress 
 
8. The North East Combined Authority (NECA) established a Commission for 

Health and Social Care which reported in 2016 and set out ten 
recommendations to help the health and social care leaders break the vicious 
cycle of poor health and poverty. This included a recommendation to secure a 
shift in spend towards prevention to improve health and wellbeing and reduce 
health inequalities across the health and care system. The STP Prevention 
Workstream has taken cognisance of the Report and the recommendations 
are reflected in the priorities.   

 
9. The Tees Valley Combined Authority (TVCA) does not have health and well-

being as one of its agreed objectives but its major focus will be on economic 
growth and providing jobs for local residents. As they key way to improve 
health is to get people back into work, many of the recommendations of the 
NECA Commission are equally applicable to TVCA and, in common with 
colleagues in the NECA area, the DDTHRW STP Prevention Workstream has 
taken account of the Report too.  

 
10. The NTWND STP priorities for health and well-being are: 
 

 Reduce the prevalence of smoking and obesity, and reduce the impact of 
alcohol 

 Radical upgrade in our approach to ill health prevention and secondary 
prevention 

 Collaborate across the system to ensure the best start in life 

 Create a network approach to support community asset-based 
approaches to support people to be healthy and well at home, including 
social prescribing, working closely with the third sector 

 Enhance people’s ability to self-care, increase their independence, self-
esteem and self-efficacy 

Page 36



 

 

11. The DDTHRW STP priorities for health and well-being are: 
 

 Scaling up prevention, health and well-being to improve the physical and 
mental health of our population and reduce inequity 

 Ensuring every child has the best start in life 

 Reduce prevalence of smoking and obesity and reduce the impact of 
alcohol 

 Radical upgrade in approach to ill health prevention and secondary 
prevention 

 Enhance people’s ability to self-care, increase self-esteem and self-
efficacy 

 Roll out Making Every Contact Count 
 
12. The two STP prevention workstreams have worked collaboratively to develop 

a joint work programme that addresses these priorities across both footprints. 
The key elements of this joint work programme: 

 

 Primary prevention – reduce smoking prevalence, reduce alcohol related 
harm, giving every child the best start in life and reduce the prevalence of 
obesity. This is underpinned by seeking to address the social determinants 
of health including child poverty 

 

 Secondary prevention – reduce premature mortality from CVD, Cancer, 
COPD and Diabetes 

 

 Increasing Flu immunisation  
 

 Health & Work 
 

 Shifting the spend to prevention 
 

 Embedding Community Centred & Asset Based Approaches (include self-
care) 

 

 Making Every Contact Count (MECC)   
 

 Scaling opportunities for social marketing, communications and public 
health messages across the NHS 

 
13. The workstream has developed a work plan which includes clinical leadership 

where appropriate. While much of the work to date has been to establish 
groups and set some key actions, a number of key highlights to date are: 

 

 Workstream governance established with NHS chairing Board, key 
priorities agreed, key sub-groups identified and established, overarching 
work plan developed and working with NECS to ensure standard Project 
Initiation Document for each priority and standard highlight reports across 
both STP footprints. Links back to Health and Wellbeing Boards 
developing 

Page 37



 

 

 Reducing Tobacco Dependency Taskforce convened and initial paper 
completed to submit to both STP Boards to agree a clear mandate for a 
smoke free NHS by April 2019. It builds on the 10 key recommendations 
that came from the Regional Tobacco Workshop earlier in the year. This 
taskforce is co-chaired by the Cancer Alliance and Lead Director of Public 
Health 

 

 Joint Prevention Workstream is one of 8 STP footprints across the country 
to have been successful in bidding for support from Building Health 
Partnerships to pilot links with Voluntary and Community Sector focussed 
on a community asset based approach to self-care. A Project Group has 
been established and the first workshop is due to take place on 20th July 
2017 

 
14. The priorities in the North East work are already well aligned to County 

Durham’s priorities within the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. However 
they do have some specific focus on the NHS role in prevention given the 
need to implement the NHS Five Year Forward View. This is reflected in the 
ambition from a smoke free NHS by 2019. 

 
15.  However the workstream should also support Durham’s ambition to focus on 

prevention across the County Durham Partnership. This approach covers all 
areas of activity not just health with the following key aspects: 

 

• Community resilience and connectivity is important 
• A shift in focus is needed 

• Interventions should promote independence through self-management  
• Investment is needed in areas that will help people to help themselves, 

deliver solutions and scale up good practice 

• A greater focus on prevention is needed to achieve necessary budget 
reductions 

 
As both areas of work develop there is real potential to focus on arears of 
greatest impact. 

 
Recommendations 
 
16.  The Health & Wellbeing Board is recommended to:  

 

 Receive details of the progress made by the Prevention Workstream and 
the positive way in which the Prevention Workstream is working across the 
north east to give the opportunity to better work at scale and at pace 
 

 Agree to receive a more comprehensive report to a future meeting and 
how it will impact on population health in County Durham 

 
 

Contact:  Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham 
Tel:  03000 264323 

Page 38



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance – there are no financial implications at this time  
 
Staffing - project support is provided across the system 
 
Risk - nil 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – this is being taken into 
consideration as the work stream priorities are developed 
 
Accommodation - nil 
 
Crime and Disorder - nil 
 
Human Rights - no issues 
 
Consultation – the STP plan for NTWND and DDTHRW had engagement exercises 
in each Local Authority area 
 
Procurement - no implications at this time 
 
Disability Issues - no specific issues 
 
Legal Implications - nil 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Better Care Fund Quarter 4 Performance 
2016/17 
 

 

 
 

Report of Paul Copeland, Strategic Programme Manager, Better 
Care Fund and Integration, Adult and Health Services, Durham 
County Council. 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Better Care Fund 
(BCF) Q4 2016/17 to the Health & Wellbeing Board including benchmarking 
and analysis of non-elective admissions data.  

2. The BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template for Quarter 4 2016/17 is available 
upon request.  

3. Non – elective emergency admissions review.  

Background 

4. The BCF allocation for Durham in 2016/17 increased to £44.579, from 
£43.735m in 2015/16.  

5. BCF Policy and Planning Guidance for 2016/17 issued by NHS England 
signalled a need to maintain stability.  

6. In response to the above BCF planning in Durham was based upon rolling 
forward the existing programme and projects from 2015/16 following agreement 
with partners.  

7. Previous BCF conditions relating to payment for performance were replaced by 
two national conditions: 

 Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services 
(which may include a wide range of community services). 

 Agreement on local action plans and targets to reduce delayed transfers 
of care (DToC).  

8. BCF planning requirements for 2016/17 required Health and Wellbeing 
Boards to continue collecting information on four key metrics which are 
identified below: 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 years +) to 
residential/nursing homes (per 100,000 population). 

 Percentage of older people (aged 65 years plus) who were still at home 
91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation 
services.  

 DToC (delayed days) from hospital (per 100,000 population/per 3 
month period).  

 Non-elective admissions (per 100,000 population/per 3 month period).  

9. In addition, BCF plans were required to include the locally determined metrics 
which are as follows: 

 Percentage of carers who are very/extremely satisfied with the support 
services they receive.  

 The number of people in receipt of telecare (per 100,000 population).  

Performance Update 

10. Performance against the six key metrics and deliverables are measured against 
current targets and historical performance. BCF Q4 2016/17 indicates positive 
performance in 3 of the key/local metrics. The exceptions being non-elective 
admissions where there was no improvement in performance, permanent 
admissions of older people to residential/nursing care homes which failed to 
meet the target and carers where no data is currently available.  

11. A traffic light system is used in the report, where green refers to ‘on’ or ‘better 
than target’, amber is ‘within’ 2% of the target and red is ‘below’ the target.  

Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 years +) to residential/nursing 
care homes per 100,000 population.  
 

Indicator Historical Actual Targets Performance 
against 
target 

Q4 15/16 Q4 16/17  Q4 16/17 Total 16/17 

Permanent admissions of 
older people (aged 65 
years+) to 
residential/nursing care 
homes per 100,000 
population.  

736.3 768.8 750.8 1876.9  

 
12. The Q4 2016/17 rate for older people (aged 65 years +) to residential/nursing 

care homes per 100,000 population on a permanent basis was 768.8. This did 
not meet the Q4 2016/17 target of 750.8. 

13. The number of bed days commissioned remains relatively stable and shows a 
slight decrease from 2015/16 as older people are admitted into 
residential/nursing care homes later in life.  

Page 42



 

 

14. Exacting scrutiny of all admissions to residential or nursing care homes 
remains a high priority in order to ensure that those people who are unable to 
be supported safely in their own homes and admitted to permanent residential 
or nursing care.  

15. Expenditure on residential and nursing care overall remains within budget.  

Percentage of older people (aged 65 years +) who were still at home 91 days 
after discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation.  

 
Indicator Historical Actual Target Performance 

against 
target 

Q4 15/16 Q4 16/17 Q4 16/17 

Percentage of older people (aged 65 
years+) who were still at home 91 
days after discharge from hospital 
into reablement/rehabilitation.   
 

87.2% 87.8% 86.0%  

 

16. Performance in Q4 2016/17 at 87.8% is above the target of 86.0% and is 
comparable to the same period in 2015/16 (87.2%).  

DToC (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population/per 3 month period. 

Indicator Historical Actual Targets Performance 
against 
target 

Q4 
14/15 

Q4 
15/16 

Q4 
16/17 

Q4  
16/17 

DToC (delayed days) from hospital 
per 100,000 population (per 3 month 
period). 
 

452 429 313 417.2  

 

17. Q4 2016/17 performance at 313 per 100,000 population is significantly better 
than target at 417.2. 

18. Key elements which contribute to this positive performance are effective 
discharge management/joint working between partners and greater use of 
reablement to facilitate discharge.  

19. Durham is amongst the lowest rates in England at 0.7 delays per 100,000 
population compared to a national rate of 6.4 per 100,000 population.   

Non Elective Admissions per 100,000 population (per 3 month period). 

Indicator Historical Actual Targets Performance 
against 
target 

Q2 
16/17 

Q3 
16/17 

Q4 
16/17 

Q4 
16/17 

Non elective admissions per 100,000 
population (per 3 month period).  
 

2962 3062 3022 2930  

 

Page 43



 

 

Non Elective Admissions per 100,000 population (per 3 month period) 

20. The Q4 2016/17 outturn figure for non-elective admissions was 3022 per 
100,000 population against a target of 2930. Performance has therefore 
missed the target although marginally better than the Q3 2016/17 figure of 
3062 per 100,000 population.  

21. The highest reason for non-elective admissions concerns paediatrics, with 
children being admitted for viral infections and common colds with an average 
length of stay of 1 day or less.  

22. It should be noted that whilst the focus of the BCF in County Durham has 
been on Adults, statistical returns on non-elective admissions include children. 

23. From a County Durham perspective if children’s data were removed from the 
final figures the targets would have been achieved.  

24. The second highest reason for non-elective admission to hospital concern 
symptoms relating to Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). The 
increased prevalence of COPD is related to past heavy industry and the 
prevalence of smoking tobacco.  

Percentage of carers who are very/extremely satisfied with the support 
services they receive 

Indicator Historical Actual Annual 
Target 
16/17 

Performance 
against 
target 

14/15 15/16 

Percentage of carers who are 
very/extremely satisfied with the 
support they receive.  
 

54.4 National 
Carers 

Survey not 

completed.  

No data 
available 

50.0  

 

25. Publication of results from the National Carer’s Survey will not be published 
until autumn 2017.  

The number of people in receipt of telecare per 100,000 population.  

Indicator Historical Actual Annual 
Target 

Performance 
against 
target Q4 

14/15 
Q4 

15/16 
Q4 

16/17 
 

16/17 

The number of people in receipt of 
telecare per 100,000 population.  
 

292 474 542 454  

 

26. The number of people recorded in receipt of telecare per 100,000 population 
for Q4 2016/17 was 527 which has exceeded the target of 454 and is an 
improvement on the same period in 2015/16 (474).  

 

Page 44



 

 

Non-Elective Emergency Admissions Review.  

27. Analysis of non-elective emergency admissions are highlighted in Appendix 2.  

28. A summary of the main findings are as follows: 

 County Durham overall has seen a relatively small increase in 
emergency admissions over time.  

 Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG (DDES CCG) have 
seen an increase from 2015/16 to 2016/17, whereas North Durham 
CCG (ND CCG) have seen very little change in activity (Figure 1). 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) is the 
main provider across County Durham and activity has remained 
relatively consistent over time (Figure 2).  

 There has been a slight increase in activity at other hospitals within 
North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation trust the most notable. 
(Figure 3).  

 In comparison to the 10 North East CCG’s, ND CCG currently have the 
second lowest rate per 100,000 population of emergency admissions 
and DDES CCG is the fourth highest out of North East CCG’s.  

 As at the end of March 2017, ND CCG combined with DDESG CCG 
had a lower rate of emergency admissions than the North East 
average.  

29. Ongoing developments which are designed to impact positively on non-
elective emergency admissions are as follows: 

 The NHS Right Care programme is directed at improving population-
based healthcare through focussing on value and reducing 
unwarranted variation. North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG have the right care data packs and 
tools and in conjunction with partners and clinical leads seek to identify 
opportunities to reduce unwarranted variation. The respiratory pathway 
has been identified as a priority for County Durham and in particular 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). A project group has 
been established to agree and implement improvements to the COPD 
Pathway.  

 Attendance at Emergency Departments (EDs) continue to increase and 
a significant proportion of patients have needs which could be 
addressed through services other than emergency medicine. 
Streaming patients away from ED’s to co-located GP led primary care 
services to ensure that patients receive the care they need and 
performance against the 4 hour ED standards improves. Plans are in 
place to implement primary care streaming at the University Hospital of 
North Durham by October 2017.  

Page 45



 

 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation trust are seeking to 
improve the pathway for paediatrics through a number of initiatives 
which should strengthen the interface between Secondary Care and 
Primary Care Clinician’s through the sharing of knowledge and 
experience.  

 DDES CCG have made changes to their Urgent Care and Primary 
Care Services where patients are now able to make urgent 
appointments with a GP central hub location, allowing patients to be 
seen close to home, rather than travelling to Accident and Emergency 
(A&E).  

 The development of Teams Around Patients (TAP’s) who will focus on 
emergency admissions are expected to impact upon non-elective 
admissions going forward.  

30. The Integration and Better Care Fund Planning requirements for 2017-2019 
were published on 4th July 2017.  

Recommendations  

31.      The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

 Note the contents of this report. 

 Request that the Healthy Child Programme Board undertake an in-
depth analysis of non-elective emergency admission as part of their 
work programme.  

 Agree to receive further updates in relation to BCF quarterly 
performance.  

 

Contact:  Paul Copeland, Strategic Programme Manager, Better Care Fund  
                and Integration.   
Tel:      03000 256190.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – The BCF 2016/17 pooled budget is £44.579m. 

 

Staffing – None.  

 

Risk – A risk sharing agreement has been ratified between partners.  

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – The Equality Act 2010 
requires the Council to ensure that all decisions are reviewed for their potential 
impact upon people.  

 

Accommodation – None  

 

Crime and Disorder - None 

 

Human Rights - None 

 

Consultation – As necessary through the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

 

Procurement - None  

 

Disability Issues – See commentary concerning Quality and Diversity.  

 

Legal Implications – Any legal implications concerning the BCF programme and 
projects are considered and reviewed as necessary.  

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Non-elective emergency 
admissions review 

Better Care Fund 

 

County Durham Local Authority 

Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield CCG 

North Durham CCG 

 

Naomi Rutherford, Senior Information Analyst 

Naomi.rutherford@nhs.net, 0191 374 4107 

7
th
 July 2017 

 

Checked for audit purposes by 
Alison Barber, Senior Information Analyst 

 

Page 49



Page 2 of 10 

Report Specification 

Data Protection 
This information is commercially sensitive, supplied to Paul Copeland, Strategic Programme 
Manager, Better Care Fund & Integration, Durham County Council on behalf of North Durham and 
Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield (DDES) CCG, in confidence for the sole purpose of 
commissioning. It is not to be disclosed to any third party without the express written permission of 
the provider(s) / CCG concerned. 

Data description 
The report was requested by Paul Copeland on behalf of the Integration Steering Group. The report 
relates to non-elective admissions as per the Better Care Fund report for the local authority and 
CCGs. The report only relates to non-elective emergency admissions, and excludes non-elective 
non-emergency admissions which relate to maternities and other admissions whose activity is out 
of control of commissioners. 

Timescales 
When the data was collected/extracted – June 2017 
Time period covered in report – 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2017 (last three financial years) 

 

Geography 
This report covers activity of patients within County Durham local authority. 
 

Source of data 
This report uses a dataset called temporary National Repository (tNR) which is used to report for 
Better Care Fund (BCF) submissions, which is based on national Secondary Uses Service (SUS) 
data without taking into account local rules. 

Data specification 

Discharge date: 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2017 

CCG: 00D, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield CCG, 00J North Durham CCG 

Point of delivery: Non-elective emergency admissions 

Admission Method: 2% - emergency admissions only 

Treatment function code: Acute specialties only. Treatment functions relating to well babies, 
therapies, codes where a large proportion is considered to be non-consultant, or where the 
treatment function is not known are excluded. 

Clarification 

The Better Care Fund reports use all non-elective admissions. This report uses only non-elective 
emergency admissions, so other non-elective admissions such as births and other activity out of 
control of the commissioner or local authority. 

Production 
This report was produced by Naomi Rutherford, Senior Information Analyst, and was reviewed by 
Alison Barber, Senior Information Analyst. No part of this report should be reproduced or shared in 
any form or by any means without reference to NECS Information Services.  

Page 50



Page 3 of 10 

Caveats 

The report does not include emergency admissions to mental health trusts. 

The report does not compare activity against the plan. Each year NECS on behalf of CCGs predicts 
planned and unplanned activity down to HRG level for each CCG. The plan takes into account an 
increasing population, different numbers of working days or bank holidays in each year, increases 
or changes in disease prevalence, and known trends in data to predict activity. It is expected that 
activity will increase year on year. A comparison against other North East CCGs over time has 
been included in the report to add context around County Durham’s figures. 

Better Care Fund mappings 

The Better Care Fund reports are based on mappings provided by NHS England of CCGs to Health 
and Wellbeing boards. County Durham Local Authority maps to four CCGs: 

 DDES CCG – 97.5% 

 North Durham CCG – 96.6% 

 Gateshead CCG – 1.8% 

 Sunderland CCG – 1.2% 

 Hartlepool & Stockton-on-Tees CCG – 0.1% 

Throughout the report the activity for County Durham is mapped to the above CCGs. Where 
County Durham local authority is described in the report, this includes activity for County Durham 
for all above CCGs. Where DDES and North Durham CCGs are described, this is where the activity 
reflects a proportion of the County Durham LA activity, rather than the patients are registered with a 
GP practice of the CCGs. 

There are many patients living in Darlington Borough Council area but are registered with DDES 
CCG, and activity for these patients will not be included in this report. This may also be the case for 
patients living on the other borders of the CCG for example in North Durham CCG where some of 
their registered patients may live in Washington (Sunderland CCG) but are registered with a 
Chester-le-Street (North Durham CCG) GP practice. 

In order to be compliant with CCG data sharing agreements, any values between 1 and 5 
MUST be suppressed if the information is to be shared outside of NECS or the CCG. As this 
report is for the Integration Board, small number suppression is used throughout the report. 

No attempt should be made to disaggregate any of the information contained within this 
report with the intention of identifying an individual or individuals. 

Page 51



Page 4 of 10 

 

Contents 

Report Specification .......................................................................................................................... 2 

Data Protection  ................................................................................................. 2 

Data description  ................................................................................................. 2 

Timescales  ................................................................................................. 2 

Geography  ................................................................................................. 2 

Source of data  ................................................................................................. 2 

Data specification  ................................................................................................. 2 

Clarification  ................................................................................................. 2 

Production  ................................................................................................. 2 

Caveats  ................................................................................................. 3 

Better Care Fund mappings  ................................................................................................. 3 

Summary........................................................................................................................................... 4 

Data source ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

Activity over time ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Provider............................................................................................................................................. 7 

HRG .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

PA Paediatric Medicine  ................................................................................................. 8 

DZ Thoracic Procedures & Disorders ............................................................................................ 9 

CCG comparison ............................................................................................................................ 10 

 

 

Summary 

The following key points are seen in the report: 

 County Durham local authority have seen a gradual though small increase in emergency 
admissions over time 

 Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield CCG (DDES CCG) in particular has seen an 
increase from 2015/16 to 2016/17 where North Durham CCG have seen little change 

 County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) is the main provider in County 
Durham and has seen consistent activity over time. There has been a slight increase in 
activity at other hospital providers, e.g. North Tees & Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 

 HRG cost codes relating to Paediatric Medicine had the highest activity of all HRGs, these 
mostly related to children being admitted for viral infections and common colds 

 Other admissions related to Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, particularly in the 
winter months 

 In comparison to all North East CCGs, North Durham currently have the second lowest rate 
per 10,000 population of emergency admissions, and DDES CCG is showing as fourth 
highest out of 10 CCGs, however as County Durham the rate of emergency admissions is 
below the North East average

Page 52



Page 5 of 10 

Data source 

This report uses a dataset called temporary National Repository (tNR) which is used to 
report for Better Care Fund (BCF) submissions, which is based on national Secondary Uses 
Service (SUS) data without taking into account local rules. 

 

Activity over time 

The following chart shows the number of emergency admissions for County Durham local authority 
(split by apportioned CCG) over the past three years. 

 
Fig. 1 

The chart shows a slight increasing trend.  

When comparing activity year on year, DDES CCG have shown an increase in emergency 
admissions from 2015/16 to 2016/17, following a decrease on the previous year. 

 

Variance in emergency admissions for North Durham CCG have fluctuated over the yearly 
comparisons however overall there has been minimal change in activity. 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

A
p

r-
1

4
M

ay
-1

4
Ju

n
-1

4
Ju

l-
1

4
A

u
g-

1
4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct

-1
4

N
o

v-
1

4
D

e
c-

1
4

Ja
n

-1
5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5
M

ay
-1

5
Ju

n
-1

5
Ju

l-
1

5
A

u
g-

1
5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v-
1

5
D

e
c-

1
5

Ja
n

-1
6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar

-1
6

A
p

r-
1

6
M

ay
-1

6
Ju

n
-1

6
Ju

l-
1

6
A

u
g-

1
6

Se
p

-1
6

O
ct

-1
6

N
o

v-
1

6
D

e
c-

1
6

Ja
n

-1
7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar

-1
7

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

e
m

e
rg

e
n

cy
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

s

Month of discharge

Emergency admissions, County Durham local authority

DDES North Durham Non-Co Durham CCG Linear (County Durham LA)

CCG Month 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
2014/15 vs. 

2015/16

2015/16 vs. 

2016/17

Apr 2,614 2,589 2,759 -25 171

May 2,729 2,566 2,860 -163 294

Jun 2,631 2,587 2,812 -45 225

Jul 2,761 2,715 2,825 -46 109

Aug 2,598 2,564 2,718 -34 154

Sep 2,649 2,609 2,729 -40 120

Oct 2,764 2,815 2,741 51 -74

Nov 2,582 2,680 2,767 98 87

Dec 3,026 2,810 2,921 -217 111

Jan 2,881 2,779 2,825 -102 46

Feb 2,506 2,642 2,688 137 46

Mar 2,857 2,829 2,891 -27 61

DDES CCG Total 32,598 32,185 33,535 -414 1,350

DDES CCG

Page 53



 

Page 6 of 10 

 

The following table shows the activity at County Durham Local Authority level, this includes activity 
for patients registered with other CCGs but who are resident in County Durham LA. 

 

In 2016/17 55.4% of activity related to DDES CCG registered patients, 43.7% to North Durham 
CCG registered patients, and 0.9% to patients registered with other CCGS. The comparison of 
2015/16 to 2016/17 shows an increase, attributable to DDES CCG activity. 

 

CCG Month 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
2014/15 vs. 

2015/16

2015/16 vs. 

2016/17

Apr 2,099 2,154 2,155 55 1

May 2,213 2,272 2,237 59 -35

Jun 2,143 2,214 2,223 71 9

Jul 2,269 2,315 2,193 46 -123

Aug 2,091 2,066 2,124 -25 58

Sep 2,165 2,101 2,106 -64 5

Oct 2,371 2,255 2,239 -117 -16

Nov 2,149 2,193 2,190 44 -3

Dec 2,385 2,340 2,312 -44 -28

Jan 2,231 2,196 2,242 -36 46

Feb 2,026 2,107 2,021 80 -86

Mar 2,393 2,225 2,403 -168 179

North Durham CCG Total 26,536 26,436 26,444 -100 7

North 

Durham CCG

CCG Month 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
2014/15 vs. 

2015/16

2015/16 vs. 

2016/17

Apr 4,762 4,796 4,955 34 159

May 5,001 4,890 5,143 -110 252

Jun 4,836 4,854 5,079 18 225

Jul 5,081 5,081 5,061 0 -20

Aug 4,747 4,691 4,894 -56 202

Sep 4,868 4,760 4,883 -108 123

Oct 5,193 5,133 5,023 -60 -110

Nov 4,782 4,923 5,000 141 77

Dec 5,474 5,199 5,277 -275 78

Jan 5,163 5,026 5,111 -136 85

Feb 4,585 4,804 4,750 219 -54

Mar 5,318 5,114 5,344 -204 229

59,809 59,272 60,519 -537 1,247

County 

Durham LA

County Durham LA total

Page 54



Page 7 of 10 

Provider 

Of the total activity for County Durham LA, 71.1% occurred at CDDFT, 11.6% at City Hospitals 
Sunderland, 10.6% at North Tees NHS FT, and the rest at Newcastle NHS FT, Gateshead FT, and 
other providers. 

The following charts show the six month rolling average of emergency admissions split by provider. 
The charts are split in two to show more clearly changes in the group of providers excluding 
CDDFT. The first chart shows CDDFT and all other providers, and the second chart splits out the 
other providers group into the main separate hospital trusts with emergency admissions from 
County Durham LA residents. 

 
Fig. 2 

It appears as though activity at CDDFT is consistent over time, though activity in the ‘all other 
providers’ group appears to be increasing over time. 

When splitting the ‘All other providers’ from the above chart into the following chart, the increase 
appears to be mostly attributable to North Tees & Hartlepool NHS FT (NTHT), which is also one of 
DDES CCG’s main hospital providers. 

 
Fig. 3 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

Fe
b

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

O
ct

-1
5

D
e

c-
1

5

Fe
b

-1
6

A
p

r-
1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

A
u

g-
1

6

O
ct

-1
6

D
e

c-
1

6

Fe
b

-1
7

6
-m

o
n

th
 r

o
lli

n
g 

av
e

ra
ge

Em
e

rg
e

n
cy

 a
d

sm
is

si
o

n
s

Month of discharge

Six month rolling average of emergency admissions, 
CDDFT & all other providers grouped, County Durham LA

CDDFT All other providers

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

A
p

r-
1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

A
u

g-
1

4

O
ct

-1
4

D
e

c-
1

4

Fe
b

-1
5

A
p

r-
1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

A
u

g-
1

5

O
ct

-1
5

D
e

c-
1

5

Fe
b

-1
6

A
p

r-
1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

A
u

g-
1

6

O
ct

-1
6

D
e

c-
1

6

Fe
b

-1
7

6
-m

o
n

th
 r

o
lli

n
g 

av
e

ra
ge

Em
e

rg
e

n
cy

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
s

Month of discharge

Six month rolling average of emergency admissions, all 
other providers (excl. CDDFT), County Durham LA

CHS NTHT NUTH Gateshead Other providers

Page 55



 

Page 8 of 10 

HRG 
Healthcare Resource Group codes (HRGs) are cost codes produced by a computer program called 
a Grouper after the diagnoses, procedures, co-morbidities and demographics of a patient relating 
to their emergency admission have been entered into the system.  

There are thousands of HRGs, however they can be grouped into sub-chapters using the first two 
characters of the code. The following table shows the number of emergency admissions by HRG 
sub-chapter, by financial quarter, for 2016/17, for the top 10 HRG codes, and includes the overall 
total for activity for all HRGs in the year. 

 

 

PA Paediatric Medicine 

PA Paediatric Medicine has had the highest activity of all sub-chapters for all quarters except for 
Q4 2016/17. Although the number of admissions in Q2 2016/17 decreased and in Q3 2016/17 this 
increased, overall the proportion remained stable.  

  

The average across the time period was 14.8% of total activity related to PA Paediatric Medicine, 
but when summing the activity in Q2 (Jul-Sep) and Q3 (Oct-Dec) the proportion covering those two 
quarters is 14.9% overall. This may suggest that the lower figure in Q2 2016/17 and the higher 
figure in Q3 2016/17 balanced each other out as overall activity was average for that HRG sub-
chapter. Activity for PA Paediatric Medicine does follow patterns annually of seasonal variation, 
where activity increases over the winter months with HRGs for ‘PA19A Viral Infections with length 
of stay 1 day or less’ and ‘PA11Z Acute Upper Respiratory Tract Infection and Common Cold’ 
contributing to 21.6% of the overall PA chapter activity in 2016/17. 

 

2016/17 

Q1

2016/17 

Q2

2016/17 

Q3

2016/17 

Q4

2016/17 

Total

PA Paediatric Medicine 2,229 1,831 2,674 2,230 8,965

DZ Thoracic Procedures and Disorders 1,917 1,605 2,157 2,393 8,072

FZ Digestive System Procedures and Disorders 1,770 1,898 1,760 1,691 7,119

EB Cardiac Disorders 1,551 1,542 1,527 1,524 6,143

AA Nervous System Procedures and Disorders 866 869 789 783 3,308

WA Immunology, infectious diseases, poisoning, shock, special examinations, screening 854 799 788 790 3,230

HA Orthopaedic Trauma Procedures 781 762 697 788 3,028

LA Renal Procedures and Disorders 706 820 744 685 2,956

CZ Mouth Head Neck and Ears Procedures and Disorders 491 468 468 520 1,948

GC Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic System Disorders 440 450 393 389 1,672

15,177 14,837 15,300 15,205 60,519Grand Total (all HRGs included)

HRG sub-chapter code & name

Top 10 HRG codes

2016/17 

Q1

2016/17 

Q2

2016/17 

Q3

2016/17 

Q4

2016/17 

Total

PA Paediatric Medicine 2,229 1,831 2,674 2,230 8,965

Total emergency admissions 15,177 14,837 15,300 15,205 60,519

% PA Paediatric Medicine 14.7% 12.3% 17.5% 14.7% 14.8%

Page 56



Page 9 of 10 

DZ Thoracic Procedures & Disorders 

HRG of DZ11A Lobar, Atypical or Viral Pneumonia with Major CC was the highest occurring HRG 
in the sub-chapter, and this saw an increase in activity in Q4 as you would expect during the winter 
months. 

 

In contrast the table shows that COPD admissions appeared to be their highest in Q3 (DZ21A, 
DZ21H). 

It is likely the admissions for the chapter of DZ are lowest in Q2 as these are the summer months 
when respiratory issues are less common. 

For some HRGs such as DZ17A Respiratory Neoplasms with Major CC, the activity does not 
fluctuate greatly as admissions relating to cancer are not usually seasonal. 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

DZ11A Lobar, Atypical or Viral Pneumonia with Major CC 528 428 482 667

DZ21A Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease or Bronchitis with length of stay 1 day or less discharged home 157 105 169 150

DZ21H Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease or Bronchitis without NIV without Intubation with Major CC 131 115 172 159

DZ22A Unspecified Acute Lower Respiratory Infection with Major CC 123 86 169 182

DZ11B Lobar, Atypical or Viral Pneumonia with CC 123 106 145 164

DZ21J Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease or Bronchitis without NIV without Intubation with CC 103 83 138 142

DZ22B Unspecified Acute Lower Respiratory Infection with CC 90 77 99 126

DZ24A Inhalation Lung Injury or Foreign Body with Major CC 57 46 63 74

DZ19B Other Respiratory Diagnoses with CC 51 64 52 58

DZ22C Unspecified Acute Lower Respiratory Infection without CC 49 26 57 58

DZ15E Asthma with CC without Intubation 41 28 60 48

DZ09A Pulmonary Embolus with Major CC 41 38 50 44

DZ17A Respiratory Neoplasms with Major CC 35 40 41 35

DZ09B Pulmonary Embolus with CC 34 37 40 38

DZ11C Lobar, Atypical or Viral Pneumonia without CC 36 25 32 39

DZ21E Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease or Bronchitis with NIV without Intubation with Major CC 24 22 37 42

DZ16A Pleural Effusion with Major CC 25 17 35 39

269 262 316 327

1,917 1,605 2,157 2,393

Less than 100 admissions in 2016/17

Total DZ sub-chapter

HRG Code & Description

2016/17

Page 57



Page 10 of 10 

CCG comparison 

The data used in this section reflects activity by registered CCG, and is not limited by local authority or apportioned.  

The following chart shows the six-month rolling average of rate per 10,000 emergency admissions, for North East CCGs. By using the six month 
rolling average, it removes the natural fluctuation in activity month on month and makes the charts more readable. 

 
Fig. 4 

The chart shows North Durham currently have the second lowest rate per 10,000 population of emergency admissions. DDES CCG is showing as 
fourth highest out of 10 CCGs. 

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

140.0
A

p
r-

1
4

M
ay

-1
4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-

1
4

A
u

g-
1

4
Se

p
-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
N

o
v-

1
4

D
e

c-
1

4
Ja

n
-1

5
Fe

b
-1

5
M

ar
-1

5
A

p
r-

1
5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-

1
5

A
u

g-
1

5
Se

p
-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
N

o
v-

1
5

D
e

c-
1

5
Ja

n
-1

6
Fe

b
-1

6
M

ar
-1

6
A

p
r-

1
6

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-

1
6

A
u

g-
1

6
Se

p
-1

6
O

ct
-1

6
N

o
v-

1
6

D
e

c-
1

6
Ja

n
-1

7
Fe

b
-1

7
M

ar
-1

7

Si
x-

m
o

n
th

 r
o

lli
n

g 
av

e
ra

ge
 o

f 
e

m
e

rg
e

n
cy

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
s 

p
e

r 
1

0
,0

0
0

 r
e

gi
st

e
re

d
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n

Month of discharge

Six month rolling average of emergency admissions 
per 10,000 registered population, North East CCGs

CCG1

CCG2

CCG3

CCG4

CCG5

CCG6

CCG7

CCG8

DDES CCG

North Durham CCG

P
age 58



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2016-19 Performance Report  
 

 

 
 

Report of  Peter Appleton,  Durham County Council 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To report the progress being made against the priorities and outcomes set in 

the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19. 
 

Background 
 

2 The Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Report is structured around the 
six strategic objectives of the JHWS and reports progress being made against 
the strategic actions and performance outcomes identified. This includes 
performance indicators linked to the Better Care Fund (indicators are labelled 
as ‘BCF’) and Clinical Commissioning Group Quality Premium Indicators 
(indicators are labelled as ‘QPI’). 

 

3 The Performance Scorecard, which includes all of the performance indicators 
within the JHWS, is attached at Appendix 2. 

 

4 Due to the nature of the performance data being reported, there is significant 
variation in the time periods associated with each indicator. For example, 
several indicators have a time lag of over 12 months. This report includes the 
latest performance information available nationally, regionally and locally. 

 
5 The following rating system is used for performance indicators and is consistent 

with the rating system used by the County Durham Partnership: 
 

Performance Against 
Target 

Direction of Travel 
Performance Against 

Comparators 
Banding 

 

Target achieved or 
exceeded 

 

Improved/Same Better than comparator 
 

 

Performance within 2% 
of target 

 

Within 2% of previous 
performance 

Within 2% of 
comparator 

 

Performance more 
than 2% away from 

target 

Deteriorated by more 
than 2% 

More than 2% worse 
than comparator 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 
 

Overview of Performance  
 
6 There are 150 actions within the JHWS 2016-19 Delivery Plan. Progress is as 

follows: 
 

 
 
7 There are 92 Indicators in the JHWS Performance Scorecard. Since the last 

report, updated data is available for 73 indicators. 
 
8 There are 36 indicators with targets where updated data is available and 

included in the report. Performance against target is as follows: 
 

 
 
9 There are 58 indicators where updated data is available and it is possible to 

track Direction of Travel. Performance is as follows:  
 

 
 

10 The following sections of the report are structured by JHWS Objective and 
provide updates about the following: 

 

 Delivery Plan actions where revised dates have been agreed 

 Performance indicators more than 2% behind target 

 Other areas for improvement i.e. where performance has a significantly 
deteriorating trend and/or is significantly behind the national average 

 Highlights and achievements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 
 

Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and 
have the best start in life 

 

11 There are 51 actions under Objective 1. Progress is as follows: 
 

 
 

12 The 5 actions where performance is behind target are as follows: 
 

 Implement the County Durham Teenage Pregnancy and Teen Parent 
delivery plan 2016-18 by: 
 
Undertaking consultations with young people who are Looked after 
Children (LAC) and Care Leavers (CL) to identify their sex and 
relationships education (SRE) needs in order to ensure they receive 
suitable SRE information and support. 
 

o The target date has been revised from December 2016 to September 
2017. This will allow time for a rapid review of the current health needs 
including SRE / sexual health. A more robust Health Needs 
Assessment (HNA) for LAC / CL will be considered by children’s 
management team following the presentation of the initial findings from 
the initial health needs review in September. The corporate parenting 
panel will be sighted on any work undertaken.  
 

 Review the integrated sexual health service and re-procure for October 
2017 to improve public sexual health, including reduction in Blood 
Borne Virus rates. 
 
o The review of the Sexual Health Service was completed in February 

2017. However, due to the additional transition time required to procure 
a clinical service, the existing contract with County Durham and 
Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) has been extended for 3 months. 
The revised target date is January 2018 to reflect the new contract 
commencement date. The revised target date is on target.  
 

 Undertake a strategic review of preventative mental health and suicide 
prevention services and re-procure where necessary. 
 
o A review of mental health / suicide prevention services has been 

undertaken. Activity to plan the commissioning and re-procurement of 
services is still underway and existing contracts have been rolled forward 
to allow for this. 
 

Page 61



 
 

o There has been a phased approach to the implementation of the new 
mental health model which has required additional time for more in-
depth reviews. 
 

o Target date revised from December 2016 to October 2017. 
 

 Develop specific web pages for parents/carers giving information on 
preventing self-harm and how to support their children. These pages are 
to be designed by, or with direct involvement of, young people who have 
knowledge of self-harm and emotional health and wellbeing such as 
help4teens.co.uk. 
 
o Work is progressing under the Durham Local Safeguarding Children’s 

Board (LSCB) - a self-harm pathway was presented to the LSCB 
meeting in October 2016. The pathway and links to MindEd family pages 
will be uploaded on the LSCB website (MindEd is a free educational 
resource on children and young people's mental health for adults). 

 
o The development of the Children and Young People's Portal continues 

with a go-live date expected of July 2017. 
 

 Identify evidence based interventions for those at high risk of self harm 
including:  
o Looked after children and care leavers  
o Young carers 
o Those engaged with criminal justice system 
o Those who have experienced violence and abuse  
o Children, young people and families from Gypsy Roma Traveller 

communities 
o Preventing suicide among trans young people 

 
o Work is still ongoing to ensure that the needs of vulnerable young people 

who are at high risk of self-harm are embedded in revised strategies. 
 

o There has been a phased approach to the implementation of the new 
mental health model which has required additional time for more in-
depth reviews. 

 
o Initial target date of December 2016 has been revised to August 2017. 

 
13 There are 4 target indicators under Objective 1 for which new data is reported. 

Performance against target is as follows: 
 

 
Performance indicators more than 2% below target: 
 

2 1 1

Achieved Target

Within 2% of target

More than 2% below

Page 62



 
 

Emergency admission rate for children with asthma - (QPI) 
 

14 The emergency admission rate for children with asthma per 100,000 population 
aged 0-18 in DDES for 2016/17 is 240.17 which has not achieved the QPI 
target of 223.4. Within North Durham, this is 228.87 per 100,000 population 
aged 0-18 which has marginally missed the QPI target of 228. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

YTD 
Target 

National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

N/A 

Emergency admission 
rate for children with 
asthma per 100,000 
population aged 0-18 
(QPI) ND 

228.87 
(Apr16-
Mar17) 

228 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 

N/A 

Emergency admission 
rate for children with 
asthma per 100,000 
population aged 0-18 - 
(QPI) DDES  

  240.17 
(Apr16-
Mar17) 

223.4 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 

 
Areas for Improvement 
 

Breastfeeding   
 

15 Both breastfeeding PIs (initiation and prevalence) are below latest national and 
regional performance. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
2016/17 

National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

51.4% 
(Jan-

Mar16) 
Breastfeeding initiation 

54.4% 
(Jan-

Mar 17) 

Tracker 
74.3% 

(2014/15) 
60.1% 

(2014/15) 

23.9% 
(Jan-

Mar16) 

Prevalence of 
breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth 

26.8% 
(Jan-

Mar 17) 

Tracker 

44.1% 
(Oct-Dec 

16) 

32.6% 
(Oct-Dec 

16) 


 
16 Public Health, Health Visitors, Midwifery and Children’s Centre colleagues are 

working together to finalise a multi-agency action plan to increase 
breastfeeding rates. The plan will outline specific details on universal and 
targeted actions to increase 6-8 week breastfeeding rates. Models of best 
practice are being looked at from other areas who have improved their rates. 
This will be fully implemented from July 2017 and will require a wider system 
approach to tackle the social norms relating to breastfeeding in County 
Durham.  

 
17 The Best Beginnings ‘Baby Buddy’ app has been created with mums, midwives 

and doctors to help provide reliable and accurate information that is available 
24 hours a day. The launch of the app was held on 7 July 2017. 

 
 

Page 63



 
 

Admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions - under 18's (rate per 
100,000) 
 
18 Latest data from the Local Alcohol Profile (LAPE) identifies that the rate of 

hospital admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions for under 18’s per 
100,000 is 67.5 which is significantly above the national average, however 
similar to the North East regional average. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
2016/17 

National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

72.8 
(12/13-
14/15) 

Admission episodes 
for alcohol specific 
conditions - under 
18's (rate per 
100,000) 

67.5 
(13/14-
15/16) 

Tracker 
37.4 

(2013/14-
2015/16) 

66.9 
(2013/14-
2015/16) 

 

 
19 Public Health and Durham Constabulary are currently working with CDDFT to 

further interrogate A&E data in relation to alcohol admissions for both adults 
and under 18. All partners have met to benchmark current pathways and 
enhance the connectivity between CDDFT and the current Drug and Alcohol 
Service. A new bespoke pathway has been included in the specification for the 
new drug and alcohol recovery Service which will be commissioned in 2017/18. 

 
20 The Alcohol Seizures Pathway, a partnership approached aimed at managing a 

response to any underage young person caught by Durham Constabulary in 
the possession of alcohol, is in place. Depending on their age and need for 
consent, the young person is referred by the Police to the Drug and Alcohol 
Recovery Service and then contacted for an offer of prevention or early 
intervention sessions, based mainly in school. If there is a difficulty in identifying 
the young person, the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service will visit the local 
school in the area to provide: 

 
o General awareness raising session about alcohol harm – usually in 

assembly 
o A year group session for the targeted age group 
o One-to-one session or group work with the identified young person(s). 

This is also followed up with the family if deemed appropriate 
o Entry into the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service for more fostering 

support which also involves the family 
 

21 The damaging effects that alcohol can have on residents, their families, the 
surrounding community and the emergency services has been recognised in a 
month long campaign led by the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner for 
County Durham and Darlington. Launched on 12th June 2017 the campaign will 
raise awareness and gather public perception on a variety of topical issues 
around alcohol consumption, which will inform future policy decisions. 
 

22 The four-week campaign has a different theme each week. They are: the 
impact on emergency services, drink driving, health and well-being, and ending 
with a focus on young people and retailers. 

Page 64



 
 

23 The campaign will also highlight issues raised by other organisations at local, 
regional and national levels, around the effects on health, anti-social behaviour 
(both adults and young people), domestic violence and abuse and underage 
drinking. 

 
Mothers smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) 

 
24 The percentage of mothers smoking at the time of delivery (SATOD) has 

achieved target but remains higher than regional and national averages. In 
2016/17, 867 of 5,241 mothers in County Durham (16.5%) were smoking at the 
time of delivery. 

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

18.1% 
(2015/16) 

Percentage of 
mothers smoking at 
time of delivery 

16.5% 
(2016/17) 

17.2% 
10.5% 

(2016/17) 
16% 

(2016/17) 

 
25 SATOD ranges from 13.4% in North Durham CCG to 19.1% in DDES CCG. 

DDES has the third highest SATOD rate in the North East and fifteenth highest 
of all CCGs in England. 
 

26 NHS England have allocated funding (£75,000) to Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) with higher than England average ‘Smoking at Time of 
Delivery’ (SATOD). 

 
27 A steering group has been established to deliver an incentive scheme on behalf 

of DDES CCG made up of the Public Health tobacco control lead, Stop 
Smoking Service pregnancy lead, maternity service leads and 0-19 leads within 
CDDFT. 

 
28 Women are recruited via health professional referral based on the following 

criteria: Teen pregnancy; Living in an area of deprivation/high smoking 
prevalence; Living with a smoker/s; Smoked throughout previous pregnancy; 
Judgement of the relevant health care professional 

 
29 Participating women can receive a maximum of £260 ‘Love to Shop’ vouchers 

(which cannot be spent on tobacco or alcohol) if recruited in the early weeks of 
pregnancy and are still quit at 12 weeks following childbirth. This is £10 for 
each week the women remained quit and a final £60 voucher if still quit a 12 
weeks post-partum. Vouchers are only issued once declared smoke free by a 
validated carbon monoxide (CO) test. In addition to this the woman’s ‘significant 
other support’ can then also receive 2 gift cards with a combined value of £40, 
if the woman is still quit to 12-weeks following childbirth and they themselves 
are also smoke free (CO validated). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 
 

Other areas for improvement 
 
Teenage Conceptions 
 
30 Although sustained downward trends in teenage conceptions are evident, both 

under 16 and under 18 conceptions remain higher than the national average. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

5.8 
 (2014) 

Under 16 conception 
rate  per 1,000 girls 
aged 13-15 years 

6.6 
(2015) 

Tracker 
3.7 

(2015) 
6.2 

(2015) 

28.5 
(2014) 

Under 18 conception 
rate per 1,000 15-17 
year old women 

26.4 
(2015) 

Tracker 
20.8 

(2015) 
28 

(2015) 

 
31 Under 18 conceptions continue to decrease; in 2015, there were 219 

conceptions. This compares to 499 in 1998 when recording began. Of the 219 
under 18 conceptions, 50 were girls aged under 16. This has reduced from 81 
in 2009 (when data recording began).  

 
32 It should be noted that annual data identifies a slight increase in under 16 

conceptions, however this relates to only 4 additional conceptions and the 
three-year rolling data continues to highlight a downward trend: 

 

 
 
33 The County Durham Teenage Pregnancy Partnership Board continues to 

implement the 2016-18 action plan which aims to reduce teenage pregnancy 
and support young parents. Partners are working in schools improve and 
sustain the quality of Sex and Relationship Education (SRE). This will increase 
staff confidence to discuss SRE and signpost to appropriate services, ensure 
robust SRE policies are in place that reflect the needs of the student 
population, and ensure that schools have a planned programme of SRE in 
place. 

 

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

2008--2010 2009-2011 2010-12 2011-2013 2012-2014 2013-2015

R
at

e
s 

p
e

r 
1

,0
0

0
 f

e
m

al
e

s 
ag

e
d

 1
3

-1
5

 
ye

ar
s

Data source ONS - March 2016

Under 16 Conception Rate

England North East County Durham

Page 66



 
 

Performance Highlights 
 
Young People (aged 10-24) admitted to hospital as a result of Self-Harm 
 
34 The young person’s self-harm admission rate has reduced and is now below 

comparator averages. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

440.3 
(2014/15) 

Young People (aged 10-24) 
admitted to hospital as a 
result of Self-Harm 

420.8 
(2015/16) 

Tracker 
430.5 

(2015/16) 
442.9 

(2015/16) 

 
Young Person’s Treatment for Substance Misuse 

 
35 The percentage of exits from young person’s drug and alcohol treatment which 

are planned is 91% (167 of 183). This is exceeding target, has increased from 
the same period last year (86%) and is higher than the national average. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

86% 
(2015/16) 

Percentage of all exits from 
young person’s treatment 
which are planned (alcohol 
and drugs) 

91% 
(2016/17) 

82% 
82% 

(2016/17) 
Not 

available 

 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Waiting Times 
 

36 Between April 2016 and March 2017, 89.1% of young people referred to 
CAMHS (1,822 of 2,045) were seen within 9 weeks, which was an increase 
compared to 2015/16 (77.3%). Whilst contact performance has improved, 
further work is required to understand the effectiveness of work and capacity 
issues in CAMHS. The HWB may wish to receive a further report from the 
healthy child programme board regarding CAMHS.  

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator Latest Data Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

77.3% 
(2015/16) 

Number of young people 
referred to CAMHS who are 
seen within 9 weeks 

89.1% 
(2016/17) 

Tracker 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 
 

Infant Mortality 
 

37 The infant mortality rate is lower in County Durham than in comparator groups. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator Latest Data Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

3.4 
(2012-14) 

Infant Mortality rate 
3.4 

(2013-15) 
Tracker 

3.9 
(2013-

15) 

3.6 
(2013-

15) 


 
Health and Wellbeing Board Achievements and Future Work 

 
38 Following the successful evaluation the CAMHS Crisis Service pilot, the CCGs 

have continued to invest in the service, which operates 08:00-22:00, seven 
days per week. All three CCGs in the TEWV area have recently committed to 
increase funding to deliver a 24/7 crisis service model. A successful funding bid 
was also made to the Accelerator Project which will allow development of a 
model for intensive home treatment for children and young people with complex 
needs; extending the period of intensive support beyond the current 72 hours 
offered by the CAMHS Crisis Service.  

 
39 To support the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme in County Durham, a Healthy 

Child Programme Board has been established as a sub-group of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, to provide a specific focus on health issues affecting 
children, young people and families to reduce health inequalities and deliver 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes.  

 
40 All school nurses are being trained in mental health first aid, and a number are 

being trained to become specialist Quit Smoking Advisors, who support young 
people to stop smoking. 
 

41 The Healthy Weight Alliance, a sub group of the HWB who work to tackle 
obesity in County Durham, has become part of a national pilot to tackle obesity. 
Part of this work involves working in the community through breastfeeding 
cafes and peer support groups to educate people about the benefits of 
breastfeeding, and how it links to reduced obesity in children. 

 
42 In partnership with Newcastle University a project is being finalised which will 

assist in understanding the cultural challenges of weight gain in infancy. This 
three year programme will also focus on improving the early years health 
professional’s approach to discussing weight with parents. 

 
43 AAPs are instrumental in improving opportunities for physical activity within 

their communities. The ‘Ready Sett Go’ programme in South West Durham, 
aims to improve physical literacy amongst early years and work is now ongoing 
to consider how to expand the programme across County Durham. 

 
44 The slow to 20 for safer streets programme reduces traffic casualties and 

makes our communities safer places to play. Road safety education and cycling 
schemes are included, to equip children with the skills they need.  

Page 68



 
 

 

Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
 

45 There are 42 actions under this objective. Progress is as follows: 
 

 
 
46 The action where performance is behind target is as follows: 

 

 Target GP surgeries with the highest number of COPD patients, offering 
patients the range of Warm and Healthy Homes interventions and 
monitor the impact on their health and wellbeing. 
 
o The project was originally due to start in March 2017. However, delays in 

securing funding for the evaluation of the project have meant that the 
project has been delayed until September 2017. A funding proposal is due 
to be submitted to Energy Action Grants Agency (EAGA) in July 2017.  

o The practice have been informed of the delay. 
 
47 There are 12 indicators with targets under Objective 2 for which new data is 

reported. Performance against target is as follows: 
 

 
 
Performance indicators more than 2% below target: 
 
Percentage of the eligible population who receive a health check 
 

48  In 2016/17, 6.9% of the eligible population (10,982 of 158,690) have received 
a health check. This is below target of 8% and regional (7.3%) and national 
averages (8.5%). 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

 
7% 

(2015/16) 
 

Percentage of the eligible 
population who receive a 
health check 

 
6.9% 

(2016/17) 
 

8% 
8.5% 

(2016/17) 
7.3% 

(2016/17) 

 


 

 

Page 69



 
 

49  A total of 10,982 health checks were carried out between April 2016 and March 
2017, of these 694 were undertaken on those identified as at high-risk of 
cardiovascular disease on GP Practice Registers. 

 
50 In addition, a further 2,882 Mini Health ‘MOTs’ were undertaken in County 

Durham. Whilst Mini Health ‘MOTs’ come under the banner of the Check4Life / 
Health Check programme they do not themselves constitute a full Health 
Check. As a result, activity levels of Mini Health MOTs are not reported to NHS 
England and they do not form part of the national measure reported. 

 
51 A new Health Check service was commissioned from 1 April 2017. All GP 

practices in County Durham are signed up and will offer targeted health checks 
to those at risk of high-CVD, as well as health checks on all of those eligible 
alongside community based organisations i.e. pharmacies.  

 
52 In 2017/18, a new measure number of people who have received an NHS 

Health Check with a contacted (GP and community based) annual target of 
9,500 checks will replace the current indicator. 

 
Cancer Waiting Times – First Treatment within 62 Days 

 
53 Neither DDES nor North Durham CCGs are meeting the national target for the 

proportion of patients who receive first treatment for cancer within 62 days. 
North Durham CCG is however close to target and above the national average. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

81.3% 
(2015/16) 

% of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 62 days of 
an urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer - DDES CCG 

81.7% 
(2016/17) 

85% 
82.1% 

(2016/17) 
Not 

available 

83.9% 
(2015/16) 

% of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 62 days of 
an urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer - ND CCG 

84.5% 
(2016/17) 

85% 
82.1% 

(2016/17) 
Not 

available 

 
54 The 62 day cancer waiting times standard remains an area of focus for both 

CCGs and providers in County Durham. The most common breach reasons 
identified are complex diagnostic pathways, medical reasons and patient 
choice.   
 

55 DDES CCG did not meet the 85% target in the three consecutive months of 
quarter 4 2016/17 and report actions to address this non-achievement as 
follows: 

 CDDFT Service Development Improvement Plan (SDIP) for 2017/18 now in 
draft with key focus on areas requiring improvement e.g. lung and breast 
pathways. 

 Trial of direct access to computerised tomography CT for lung agreed in 3 
practices in Darlington for 3 months commenced on 03/04/17, before brief 
evaluation and roll out across CDDFT Trust wide in order to reduce 62 day 
breaches attributable to lung pathways. 

Page 70



 
 

 Cancer groups across the region to use the intelligence around cancer 
breaches which the Safeguard Incident and Risk Management System 

(SIRMS) can provide to better inform and challenge conversations around 
operational performance. Report discussed at the County Durham and 
Darlington operational meeting group. 

 Public Health England (PHE) are undertaking a review of screening 
services, outcomes are awaited. 

 Patient journey mapping taking place (urology and GI to be focused upon) 
to reduce delays in pathways attributable to patient choice. 

 
56 The performance of the main local hospital NHS FTs in relation to this indicator 

is presented below. CDDFT and North Tees and Hartlepool FT are performing 
above the national average. CDDFT are exceeding the national target. 

 

Trust 2016/17 

North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 86.4% 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 85.4% 

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 84.0% 

All English Providers 82.1% 

 
Successful completions of drug and alcohol treatment 
 
57 Performance in relation to drug and alcohol treatment remains a concern, with 

successful completions below target for alcohol, opiates and non-opiates. The 
latest data relates to clients exiting treatment between October 2015 – 
September 2016, with re-presentations within 6 months up to March 2017.  

 

DURHAM 
Same period 
previous year 

Representations 
to Mar17 

DoT Target 

Opiates 6.0% 6.2%  <8.0% 

Non-opiates 33.0% 26.9%  <43.6% 

Alcohol 30.2% 28.6%  38.3% 

 
58 A performance plan has been developed by the council’s commissioned drug 

and alcohol treatment provider, which continues to be closely monitored on a 
monthly basis. Provider, Stakeholder, Service User and Members Briefing 
events have recently been held to consult upon the design of a new service, 
which will focus on community outreach model aimed at providing more locally 
accessible services. The date for the procurement process to begin still 
requires confirmation at this stage. 

 
Cervical Cancer Screening 

 

59 The percentage of women eligible for cervical screening as at 31 March 2016 
who were screened adequately within County Durham is 76.9% for 2016 
against a national target of 80%. Only two local authorities in the country have 
achieved the 80% target. 
 

Page 71



 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East  

Direction 
of Travel 

77.6% 
(2015) 

The percentage of women in a 
population eligible for cervical 
screening at a given point in time who 
were screened adequately within a 
specified period 

76.9% 
(2016) 

80% 
72.7% 
(2016) 

75.2% 
(2016) 

 
60 Please note that although this indicator has not achieved the target set 

nationally of 80%, benchmarking identifies County Durham as the second best 
performing local authority in the region and performance is significantly above 
the England average.  
 

61 Whilst the CCGs do not directly commission cancer screening services they 
actively promote the uptake of screening opportunities via their Macmillan 
Primary Care Nurses and Cancer Research UK Health Professional 
Engagement Facilitator by visiting GP practices. Cancer Research UK have 
carried out joint visits to practices with low uptake of screening to support 
them with examples of good practice along with CCGs Cancer Lead 
Macmillan GP. 
 

Other areas for improvement 
 
Mortality Rates and Early Deaths 

 

62 A mixed picture is presented in relation to premature (under 75) mortality rates 
per 100,000 population for 2013-15 in County Durham. Early deaths from 
Liver Disease have got significantly worse since 2012-14. Cancer has 
reduced, but is still significantly above the England average. Long-term, there 
is an improvement from 2001-03. 
 

Mortality Rate (per 100,000 

population) 

Durham 

(2012-14) 

Durham 

(2013-15) 
DoT 

North 

East 
England 

Cardiovascular diseases (including 

heart disease and stroke) 
81.7 83  85.1 74.6 

Cancer 168.6 163.2  162.7 138.8 

Liver disease 20.1 21.8  24.4 18 

Respiratory diseases 41.8 42.5  41.9 33.1 

NB: All rates are per 100,000 population 

 

63 Lifestyle choices and social, economic and environmental factors also have a 
direct impact. Lifestyle factors include stopping or reducing smoking, 
promoting safe and sensible drinking, getting people to be more active and 
improving their diet. There are a number of programmes that Public Health 
leads or contributes which aim to impact upon these, including: 

 

 County Durham Tobacco Control Alliance leads on smoking cessation. The 
council is also the lead commissioner of the regional tobacco programme 
‘Fresh’. County Durham has experienced a steady drop in smoking 
prevalence over the last three years, resulting in a 3.2% drop since 2012. The 
Stop Smoking Service is currently exceeding its targeted number of quitters. 

Page 72



 
 

 

 The NHS Health Checks programme has recently been reviewed with a GP 
federation based programme offering broad access and the community 
outreach programme supporting those who do not engage with primary care. 
The new service will remain targeted toward those with a high-risk of CVD. 

 

 Public Health are also currently seeking additional funding from the British 
Heart Foundation to compliment the community health check programme with 
additional capacity to provide an extra 2,000 blood pressure measurements 
per year in addition to those conducted as part of an NHS Health Check. 

 

 The local roll out of the national NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme has 
been underway since April 2016. This is led by the two CCGs with advice 
from Public Health. It aims to identify people at high risk of developing Type 2 
diabetes and offer them support designed to lower their risk. 

 

Life Expectancy 
 

64 The latest data (2013-15) shows that male life expectancy stands at 79.5 years 
for England, 77.9 years for the North East and 78.1 years for County Durham. 
For County Durham, this is an increase of 0.1 year since 2012-14. Male life 
expectancy in County Durham is significantly lower than England; there is a 
gap of 1.4 years. Male life expectancy has been increasing over time at a 
county, regional and national level. Compared to 2000-02 men in County 
Durham now live 3.4 years longer 
 

65 The latest data (2013-15) shows that female life expectancy at birth stands at 
81.2 years for County Durham. Although this is a 0.1 year decrease when 
compared to 2012-14 (81.3 years) female life expectancy has been increasing 
over time at a county, regional and national level. Compared to 2000-02 women 
in County Durham live 1.9 years longer. Female life expectancy in County 
Durham is significantly lower than England (83.1 years); there is a gap of 1.8 
years. For the North East female life expectancy is 81.6 years. Female life 
expectancy also reduced slightly from 2012-14 in both comparator groups. 

 
Previous 

data 
Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

78 
(2012-14) 

Male life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

78.1 
(2013-15) 

Tracker 
79.5 

(2013-15) 
77.9 

(2013-15) 

81.3 
(2012-14) 

Female life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

81.2 
(2013-15) 

Tracker 
83.1 

(2013-15) 
81.6 

(2013-15) 

 
Performance Highlights 
 
Cancer Treatment within 31 Days 

 
66 Over 97% of patients in both CCGs received their first definitive treatment for 

cancer within 31 days of diagnosis (Decision to treat date). This exceeds target 
(96%) and the national average (94.4%). 
 

Page 73



 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

97.8% 
(Oct-

Dec16) 

Percentage of patients receiving 
first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 31 days from diagnosis 
(decision to treat date) - DDES 
CCG  

97.2% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

96% 

94.4% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

N/A 

99.4% 
(Oct-

Dec16) 

Percentage of patients receiving 
first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 31 days from diagnosis 
(decision to treat date) - ND CCG 

98.2% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

96% 

94.4% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

N/A 

 
Smoking Quitters 

 
67 Between April 2016 and March 2017, 2,841 people quit smoking following 

support from the stop smoking service (SSS). This has achieved the SSS’ 
contracted yearly target of 2,311 quitters, although there has been a reduction 
in the overall number of quitters since last year. There is an increase in the use 
of e-cigarettes which have become widely available and may be reducing 
numbers embarking on the stop smoking programme. The fall in smoking 
prevalence generally may also be contributing to the decline in use of smoking 
cessation services. 

 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

3076.1 
[2,903] 

(2015/16) 

Four week smoking quitters 
per 100,000 18+ smoking 
population [Number of 
quitters] 

3010.4 
(2,841 

quitters) 
(2016/17) 

2449 
[2,311 

quitters] 

N/A N/A 

 
Breast and Bowel Cancer Screening 
 
68 In addition to County Durham being the second best performing authority in the 

regional in relation to cervical cancer screening, both breast and bowel 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

77.8% 
(2015) 

Breast Cancer Screening 
78.1% 
(2016) 

70% 
75.5% 
(2016) 

77.3% 
(2016) 

61.2% 
(2015) 

Bowel Cancer Screening 
60.9% 
(2016) 

60% 
57.9% 
(2016) 

59.4% 
(2016) 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board Achievements and Future Work 
 

69 The National Diabetes Prevention Programme has entered the second year of 
the two year contract and the programme is now established in at least 2 
practices (and up to 6) in each locality across County Durham. Implementation 
Plan key milestones are on track. Together, the CCGs and the Provider are to 
submit a request to NHS England for an uplift in the allocation of programme 
places, to allow more people at risk of diabetes to access the programme in 
17/18. 

Page 74



 
 

 
70 The Warm and Health Homes programme trained 120 frontline health and 

social care staff. This generated 86 referrals all of whom were provided with 
energy efficiency advice, 17 had a benefit check, 11 received a fire safety 
check and 27 accessed Public Health funding for measures such as new 
central heating or boiler. 

 
71 Macmillan Joining the Dots County Durham a partnership project between 

Durham County Council and Macmillan Cancer Support has undertaken patient 
and carer engagement to identify the unmet needs of people affected by cancer 
through surveys, in-depth interviews and outreach visits; identifying and 
mapping current services that are available to meet people’s holistic needs in 
the community. The project has recently recruited 10 coproduction volunteers 
who will be helping to co-design the operational model and the project funding 
has been extended for two further years until March 2020.  

 
72 The County Durham tobacco control alliance, a sub group of the HWB, delivers 

tobacco control activities. A peer assessment of this group particularly 
acknowledged the Health and Wellbeing Board’s vision and leadership in 
tobacco control. Smokefreelife County Durham has been running Quit and Get 
Fit programmes for smokers who want to quit. They can take part in organised 
Zumba or Bootcamp sessions, as well as access specialist support and 
medications. 

 
 

Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and 
support for people with long term conditions 

 
73 There are 17 actions under this objective. Progress against the actions is as 

follows: 
 

 
 

74 There are 15 indicators with targets under Objective 3 for which new data is 
reported. Performance against target is as follows: 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 
 

Performance indicators more than 2% below target: 
 
Overall satisfaction of carers with support and services they receive (BCF) 
 
75 The overall satisfaction of carers with support and services they receive is 

43.3% which is below the Better Care Fund target and north east average and 
a significant decrease from 2014/15. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

54.4% 
(2014/15) 

Overall satisfaction of 
carers with support and 
services they receive 

43.3% 
(2016/17) 

46.0% - 
54.0% 

41.2% 
(2014/15) 

49.3% 
(2014/15) 







 
76 Analysis has identified that carer satisfaction decreases with the length of time 

someone has been a carer. Further work will be undertaken to explore the 
survey findings with Durham County Carers Support and effects of austerity on 
cared-for packages and links to carer satisfaction. Benchmarking for 2016/17 
will be available in August 2017. 

 
Avoidable emergency admissions per 100,000 population (BCF) 

 
77 Between January and March 2017, there were 3,022 avoidable emergency 

admissions to hospital per 100,000 population. Performance is above the Better 
Care Fund target of 2930 and performance in the same period in the previous 
year (2,984). 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

2,984 
(Jan-Mar 

16) 

Avoidable emergency 
admissions per 100,000 
population (BCF) 

3,022 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

2,930 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

 
78 It has been recognised that more detailed analysis of the specialities most 

affected by non-elective admissions (i.e. age range of children and adults, 
paediatric and geriatric admission reason and source of admission) is needed 
to further understand performance, which has not met BCF targets in all four 
quarters of 2016/17. 
 

79 A detailed report on BCF performance, with an analysis carried out by CCGs, 
will be presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 26th July 2017. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
 

Other areas for improvement 
 
Adults aged 65+ admitted to residential or nursing care (BCF) 
 
80 Between April 2016 and March 2017 the rate of 65+ permanent admissions to 

residential or nursing care per 100,000 populations is higher than the Better 
Care Fund target and has increased from the same period in 2015/16.  
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

736.3 per 
100,000 

(2015/16) 

Adults aged 65+ per 
100,000 population 
admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to 
residential or nursing care 

764.1 
[Prov] 

(2016/17) 

750.8 per 
100,000 

(2016/17) 

628.2 
(2015/16) 

843.0 
(2015/16) 

 
81 The rate of 764.1 per 100,000 adults aged 65 and over relates to 804 actual 

admissions to permanent residential and nursing care. This is 14 more than the 
target of 790 and higher than the 767 admissions in 2015/16. 
 

82 Of the 804 admissions, 294 were direct to specialist dementia care and 95 to 
nursing care. Complexity of care is increasing with an additional 38 admissions 
to dementia care compared to the same period last year. The average age of 
older people admitted to residential and nursing care in 2016/17 was 86.8 
years. 

 
83 Over the last 12 months, after an increase in summer/autumn 2016, the 

number of bed days purchased in each 4-week period has reduced.    
 

84 Panels continue to scrutinise permanent admissions to residential or nursing 
care homes in order to ensure that those who are unable to be supported safely 
at home are admitted to permanent care. 

 
Falls and injuries in the over 65s (Age-sex standardised rate of emergency 
hospital admissions for falls or falls injuries in persons aged 65 and over per 
100,000 population) 
 
85 The rate of emergency hospital admissions for falls and injuries in persons 

aged 65 and over per 100,000 population is 2,239 for 2015/16, which is higher 
than the national rate for the same period and an increase from the rate in 
2014/15. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

2,183 
(2014/15) 

Falls and injuries in 
the over 65s per 
100,000 population 

2,239 
(2015/16) 

Tracker 
2,169 

(2015/16) 
2,257 

(2015/16) 

 
86 The difference in rates between 2014/15 and 2015/16 results from just under 

100 additional emergency admissions in the 12 month period. 
 

Page 77



 
 

Hip fractures in over 65s (Age-sex standardised rate of emergency admissions 
for fractured neck of femur in persons aged 65 and over per 100,000 
population) 

 
87 The rate emergency admissions for hip fractures in persons aged 65 and over 

per 100,000 population is 655 for 2015/16, which is higher than the national 
rate for the same period and an increase from the rate for 2014/15. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

615 
(2014/15) 

Hip fractures in over 
65s per 100,000 
population 

655 
(2015/16) 

Tracker 
589 

(2015/16) 
679 

(2015/16) 

 
88 The difference in rates between 2014/15 and 2015/16 results from 44 additional 

hip fractures in the 12 month period.  
 

89 ‘Falls and injuries in the over 65s’ and ‘Hip fractures in the over 65s’ are to be 
addressed in the joint commissioning group. A report will be submitted to the 
HWB on the 20th March 2018. 

 
Performance Highlights 
 
Telecare (BCF) 
 

90 There has been an increase in the number of people in receipt of Telecare 
when compared to the same period in 2016 and this has exceeded the Better 
Care Fund target. 

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

474.1 
(At 31 
Mar16) 

The number of people in 
receipt of Telecare per 100,000 
(BCF) 

541.7 
(At 31 
Mar17) 

454 
Not 

available 
Not 

available  

 

 
Older People at Home 91 Days after Hospital Discharge following Reablement/ 
Rehabilitation Services (BCF) 
 

91 Between April 2016 and March 2017, 87.8% of older people were still living at 
home 3 months after they were discharged from hospital into reablement / 
rehabilitation services. This has exceeded target and is better than latest 
national and regional benchmarking figures. 

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

85.7% 
(2015/16) 

Proportion of older people (65 
and over) who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into reablement/ 
rehabilitation services (BCF) 

87.8% 
(2016/17) 

86% 
82.7% 

(2015/16) 
85.5% 

(2015/16)  

Page 78



 
 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital (QPI and BCF) 
 
92 Performance against all delayed transfers of care measures is positive in 

County Durham. Both DDES and NC CCGs are meeting QPI targets.  
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

4.7 
(2015/16) 

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital per 100,000 
population (ASCOF) 

3.8 
[Prov] 

(2016/17) 
Tracker 

15.1 
[Prov] 

(2016/17) 

5.6 
(2015/16)  

1.2 
(2015/16) 

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital attributable to 
adult social care per 100,000 
population (ASCOF) 

0.7 
(2016/17) 

Tracker 6.4 
Not  

available 

315 
(Oct-Dec 

16) 

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital per 100,000 
population (BCF) 

313 
(Jan-Mar 

17) 

417.2 
(Jan-Mar 

17) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available  

Not 
available 

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital per 100,000 
population aged 18+ - DDES 
(QPI) 

3.31 
(2016/17) 

4.15 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 

Not 
available 

Delayed transfers of care 
from hospital per 100,000 
population aged 18+  - ND 
(QPI) 

3.35 
(2016/17) 

4.14 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 

 
93 There are a number of different measures of delayed discharges which are 

used for different purposes. Definitions for the indicators above are as follows: 
 

 Measure 1 (ASCOF): The average number of people per 100,000 
population who are medically fit for discharge from a hospital bed (both 
acute and non-acute settings) where the discharge has been delayed and 
is attributable to either health or social care. Calculation is based on a 
single day every month;  

 Measure 2  (ASCOF) This is a two part measure that reflects Measure 1 
and the average number of delayed transfers of care (for those aged 18 
and over) on a particular day taken over the year, that are attributable to 
social care or jointly to social care and the NHS. This is the average of the 
12 monthly snapshots. 

 

 Measure 3 (BCF): The average number of days per 100,000 population 
that patients are delayed within the 3 month reporting period and the delay 
is attributable to either health or social care. Calculation is based on a full 3 
month period and is a statutory indicator within the Better Care Fund; 

 Measures 4 and 5 (QPI): The number of days per 100,000 population that 
patients are delayed which are attributable to the NHS. Calculation is based 
on full year and split by CCG. 

 
 
 

Page 79



 
 

Self-Directed Support 
 

94 As at 31 March 17, 92.4% of adult social care service users were in receipt of 
self-directed support. This is above target and the national average. 

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

92.8% 
(At 31 
Mar16) 

Proportion of people using social 
care who receive self-directed 
support 

92.4% 
(as at 31 
Mar17) 

90.0% 
86.9% 
(2015-

16) 

95.4% 
(2015-

16) 
 

 
Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) - Improving antibiotics prescribing in primary 
care (QPI) 
 
95 In the twelve months ending March 2017 both CCGs met QPI targets for 

improving antibiotic prescribing in primary care. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

1.356 
(Apr 15 – 
Mar 16) 

Improving antibiotics prescribing 
in primary care (QPI) DDES 
a) reduction in antibiotics 

1.311 
(Apr 16 – 
Mar 17) 

less 
than 
1.374 

Not 
available 

Not 
available  

6.81 
(Apr 15 – 
Mar 16) 

Improving antibiotics prescribing 
in primary care (QPI) DDES 
b) reduction in broad spectrum 
antibiotics 

6.31 
(Apr 16 – 
Mar 17) 

less 
than 10 

Not 
available  

Not 
available  

1.225 
(Apr 15 – 
Mar 16) 

Improving antibiotics prescribing 
in primary care (QPI) ND 
a) reduction in antibiotics 

1.198 
(Apr 16 – 
Mar 17) 

less 
than 
1.221 

Not 
available 

Not 
available  

9.47 
(Apr 15 – 
Mar 16) 

Improving antibiotics prescribing 
in primary care (QPI) ND 
b) reduction in broad spectrum 
antibiotics 

5.44 
(Apr 16 – 
Mar 17) 

less 
than 10 

Not 
available  

Not 
available  

 
96 The CCGs have continued to work closely with local microbiologists and 

infection control to reduce overall antibiotic prescribing. 
 

97 Work has continued in line with the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence’s guideline NG15: Antimicrobial Stewardship, with an update 
against these guidelines planned for early 17/18. Work around the new 2017-19 
Quality Premium has also started towards the end of 16/17, and will continue 
into the new financial year.  This will involve working across boundaries with 
secondary care, Public Health teams and Infection Prevention and control 
teams.  This will build on previous work to reduce antibiotic consumption.  It will 
also focus on the national priority to reduce gram negative bacteraemia, 
especially those associated with urine infections. 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board Achievements and Future Work 

 
98 The HWB has agreed the spending plans for the Better Care Fund which has 

invested in services to support the integration of health and social care.  This 

Page 80



 
 

includes Intermediate Care Plus which provides one route into all intermediate 
care services, prevents unnecessary admission to hospitals or premature 
admission to care homes, and promotes independence and faster recovery 
from illness and timely discharge from hospital. 
 

99 The HWB (through the Better Care Fund) has invested in services to support 
carers including NHS Personalised Carer Support Fund supports carers to take 
time out from their caring role and allow them to recharge their batteries. This 
can be in the form of a therapy voucher, gym membership, attending a course, 
a holiday etc. 
 

100 Funding of £380,000 is managed by Durham County Carers Support and The 
Bridge Young Carers Service, who are monitored by Durham County Council, 
to ensure the carers are getting value from the funding pot. 
 

Objective 4: Improve Mental Health and Wellbeing of the Population 
 
101 There are 32 actions under objective 4. Progress is as follows:  

 

 
 

102 The action which is behind target is as follows: 
 

 Develop a new recovery-focused mental health service in Meadowfield, 
to provide an accommodation advice and resource centre for people 
with mental health needs 

 
o There have been delays in planning and subsequently building the 

accommodation. Target date revised from April to September 2017. 
 
103 There are 2 indicators with a target under Objective 4 for which new data is 

reported. Performance against target is as follows: 
 

 
 
Indicators more than 2% behind target 

 
104 There are no indicators under objective 4 which are more than 2% behind 

target. 
 
 

2

Achieved Target

Within 2% of target

More than 2%
below

Page 81



 
 

Other areas for improvement 
 
Gap between the employment rate for those with a long-term health condition 
and the overall employment rate 
 
105 The gap between the overall employment rate and that for those with a long-

term health condition has increased and is above national and regional rates. 
Durham has the 18th highest employment gap of 148 local authorities. 

 
Previous 

data 
Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

20% 
(Jul-

Sep15) 

Gap between the 
employment rate for 
those with a long term 
health condition and the 
overall employment rate 

 
20.2% 
(Jul-

Sep16) 
 

Tracker 

12.6% 
(Jul-

Sep16) 

16.7% 
(Jul-

Sep16) 


 
106 Commencing in January 2017 and working with delivery partners, Working 

Links are delivering the European Social Fund Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) Opt-In programme which supports long-term unemployed 
people in the North East Local Enterprise Partnership area, who have exited 
the DWP work programme but have not secured sustained employment. The 
programme has a focus on dealing with the issues of client groups with multiple 
barriers to employment including often complex health needs. Working with 
these priority group participants over a maximum continuous period of 52 
weeks the delivery model focuses on continuous engagement, employer sales 
sessions, health and wellbeing sessions, IT literacy and social inclusion 
activities.  
 

107 Alongside this programme, the North East Mental Health Trailblazer has 
commenced delivery. This is one of four pilots established by the government. 
Work is underway in County Durham to develop the Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies service (IAPT) to deliver support to those with long 
term health conditions with the aim to secure increased employment outcomes 
as part of the recovery package. The service recently received a visit from the 
NHS England Intensive Support Team and actions are to be developed based 
upon this feedback.  
 

Performance Highlights 
 
Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm. (Age-sex standardised rate of 
emergency hospital admissions for intentional self-harm per 100,000 
population) 

 
108 The rate of hospital admissions as a result of self-harm per 100,000 population 

is 197.2 for 2015/16 which is a decrease from 2014/15 and below the North 
East average. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

238.4 
(2014/15) 

Hospital admissions as 
a result of self-harm 

197.2 
(2015/16) 

Tracker 
196.5 

(2015/16) 
230.5 

(2015/16) 

Page 82



 
 

 

Percentage of people who use adult social care services who have as much 
social contact as they want with people they like 

 
109 In the 2015/16 national Adult Social Care Survey, 49.2% of adult social care 

service users reported that they have as much social contact as they want with 
people they like 

 
Previous 

data 
Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

49.2% 
(2015/16) 

Percentage of people 
who use adult social 
care services who 
have as much social 
contact as they want 
with people they like 

49.2% 
[Prov] 

(2015/16) 

Tracker 
45.4% 

(2015/16) 
49.9% 

(2015/16) 

 
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Services: People entering 
IAPT services as a % of those estimated to have anxiety/depression (QPI) 
 
110 Both DDES and ND CCGs have achieved the QPI target for people entering 

IAPT services as a percentage of those estimated to have anxiety/depression. 
 

Previous 
data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

11.7% 
(2015/16) 

People entering IAPT 
services as a % of those 
estimated to have 
anxiety/depression - ND 

20.2%    
(2016/17) 

15% 
Not 

available 
Not 

available  

12.1% 
(2015/16) 

People entering IAPT 
services as a % of those 
estimated to have 
anxiety/depression  - DDES 

19.6% 
(2016/17) 

15% 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board Achievements and Future Work 

 
111 The refreshed Dementia Strategy / 'plan on a page' is complete and has been 

signed off by the Carers Strategy Group. 
 

112 There are a number of dementia friendly projects which have been delivered 
across the county as part of the implementation of the Dementia Strategy 
agreed by the HWB. These include Dementia Friendly Communities, which 
have been established at Spennymoor, Bishop Auckland and Stanley. Progress 
in establishing Dementia Friendly Communities is being made at Barnard 
Castle, Chester le Street, Trimdon and Evenwood. Dalton Park Retail Centre in 
Murton is becoming ‘dementia friendly’. The Centre has agreed to use 
appropriate signage in new retail units and the cinema will work more ‘dementia 
friendly’.  All staff will also complete ‘Dementia Friends’ training. 

 

Page 83



 
 

113 Since February 2016, over 800 referrals have been made to the Dementia 
Adviser Service, which include referrals from GPs, Social Care, community 
psychiatric nurses, and self-referrals.  Referral pathways have also been 
established with Durham County Carers Support and County Durham and 
Darlington Fire and Rescue Service. 

 
114 Dementia Connect has been established as the main web based dementia 

information site. The site has been populated with comprehensive and up to 
date information on dementia services and resources.  Advice and guidance 
has been sent out to relevant organisations to publicise the website (including 
GP systems) and to enable them to delete /add services as appropriate. 
 

115 County Durham and Darlington Fire & Rescue Service carry out Safe and 
Wellbeing visits which expand on their home fire safety advice to include a 
wellbeing assessment covering loneliness and isolation, dementia, smoking 
cessation, alcohol harm, trips and falls and winter warmth, with referrals being 
made where necessary to relevant partner agencies; making every contact 
count.  
 

Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm 
 

116 There are 5 actions for objective 5. Progress against them is as follows: 
 

 
 
117 There is 1 indicator with a target under Objective 5 for which new data is 

reported. Performance against target is as follows: 
 

 
 
Other Areas for Improvement 
 
Children with a Child Protection Plan 
 
118 The number of children with a Child Protection Plan continues to increase – 

There are 501 as at 31-Mar-17. The rate (50.0) is now higher than the England 
average (43.1) but remains well below the North East (59.6) and Statistical 
Neighbours (59.3). 

 

4 1

Complete

On Target

Behind Target /
Delete

Page 84



 
 

As at 
31 Mar 
2016 

Indicator 
As at 

31 Mar 
2017 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

34.9 
Rate of children with a Child 
Protection Plan per 10,000 
population 

50.0 Tracker 
43.1 

(31 Mar 
2016) 

59.6 
(31 Mar 
2016) 

 

 
119 Analytical work is ongoing within Durham County Council to determine any 

factors which may have impacted upon the increase. 
 

Performance Highlights 
 
Percentage of repeat incidents of domestic violence (referrals to MARAC) 

 
120 There were 209 cases discussed at the MARAC between April and September 

2016, of which 34 were repeats. This equates to 16.3%. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

14.9% 
(Apr-

Sep15) 

Percentage of repeat 
incidents of domestic 
violence (referrals to 
MARAC) 

16.3% 
(Apr-

Sep16) 

Less 
than 
25% 

25% 
(Jul14-
Jun15)  

29% 
(Jul14-
Jun15) 

 

 
People Who Use Services Who Say Those Services Make Them Feel Safe and 
Secure 
 

121 Latest data from the local Adult Social Care Survey (ASCS) shows that 93.1% 
of respondents reported that the social care services they use made them feel 
safe and secure. This has slightly decreased from the same period in 2015 but 
is above latest 2015/16 benchmarking data. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

94.1% 
(Apr 15-
Feb 16) 

Proportion of people 
who use services who 
say those services 
make them feels safe 
and secure 

93.1% 
(Apr 16-
Feb17) 

Tracker 
85.4% 

(2015/16) 
88.9% 

(2015/16) 

 
Adult Social Care Safeguarding 
 

122 Almost 95% of adult social care service users achieved the desired outcomes 
from the adult safeguarding process 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 
Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

N/A 

Percentage of individuals 
who achieved their desired 
outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

94.9% 
(2016/17) 

Tracker 
Not 

available 
Not 

available 
N/A 

 

Page 85



 
 

Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with 
the care and support that they need 

 
 
123 There are 3 actions under objective 6. Progress is as follows: 

 

 
 

124 There are no indicators with targets under Objective 6 for which new data is 
reported.  

 
Performance Highlights 
 
Deaths in Usual Place of Residence 
 

125 The proportion of deaths in usual place of residence in both CCGs is above 
national and regional averages. 

 

2014/15 Indicator 2015/16 Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

 

46.1% 
(2015) 

 

Proportion of deaths in 
usual place of residence 
(DDES CCG) 

48.5% 
(2016) 

Tracker 
45.8% 
(2016) 

46.5% 
(2016) 

 

50.4% 
(2015) 

 

Proportion of deaths in 
usual place of residence 
(North Durham CCG) 

49.6% 
(2016) 

Tracker 
45.8% 
(2016) 

46.5% 
(2016) 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board Achievements 
 
126 The HWB have signed up to the Motor Neurone Disease (MND) Charter. The 

Charter was created to help raise awareness and campaign to improve 
services for people with MND and their carers at a local level. 
 

127 AAP’s are supporting the HWB to ensure people receive high quality care 
towards the end of their life as part of the Improving Palliative Care and End of 
Life Plan agreed by the HWB.   

 
Recommendations 
 

128 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

 Note the performance highlights and areas for improvement identified 
throughout this report; 

3

Complete

On Target

Behind Target /
Delete

Page 86



 
 

 Note the falls and hip fractures, and CAMHS reports that will be 
presented to the board at forthcoming meetings; 

 Note performance against the 2016/17 Quality Premium Indicators. 
 

Contact: Laura Malone, Team Leader - Performance, Co-ordination and        
Development, Strategy, Transformation and Partnerships 

 

Tel: 03000 267 348  e-mail: laura.malone@durham.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Page 87

mailto:laura.malone@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

 
 

 

 
 
 
Finance Performance Management is a key activity in delivering 

efficiencies and value for money 
 

Staffing Performance management is a key element of resource 
allocation 
 

Risk Effective performance management can help to highlight 
and manage key risks 
 

Equality and 
Diversity / Public 
Sector Equality 
Duty 

None 
 
 
 
 

Accommodation None 
 

Crime and 
Disorder 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy includes actions 
which contribute to community safety priorities and includes 
an objective to protect vulnerable people from harm. 
 

Human Rights None 
 

Consultation The content of the performance management process has 
been agreed with the Board and has been part of the 
consultation on the JHWS 
 

Procurement None 
 

Disability Issues A range of indicators which monitor services to people with a 
disability are included within the performance system 
 

Legal Implications Performance management is crucial to ensure that key 
legal/statutory requirements are being discharged 
appropriately 
 

 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 88



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar Councils

57.6%

2014/15

54.4%

(2015/16)
Breastfeeding initiation

54.4%

[CCG data 

combined]

(Jan-Mar 17)

Tracker 
51.4%

(Jan-Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun 17)

74.3%

(2014/15)

60.1%

(2014/15)
Not available

28.9%

(2014/15)

28.1%

(2015/16)
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth

26.8%

(Jan-Mar 17)
Tracker 

23.9%

(Jan-Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun 17)

44.1%

(Oct-Dec 16)

32.6%

(Oct-Dec 16)

30.3%

(2015/16)

23.8%

(2013/14)

23%

(2014/15)

Percentage of children aged 4-5 classified as overweight 

or obese

24.3%

(2015/16)
Tracker 

23%

(2014/15)

Q3  2017/18

(2016/17)

22.1%

(2015/16)

24.5%

(2015/16)
Not available

36.2%

(2013/14)

36.5%

(2014/15)

Percentage of children aged 10-11 classified as 

overweight or obese

37%

(2015/16)
Tracker 

36.5%

(2014/15)

Q3  2017/18

(2016/17)

34.2%

(2015/16)

37%

(2015/16)
Not available

73.5%

(2014/15)

77.3%

(2015/16)

Number of young people referred to CAMHS who are 

seen within 9 weeks

89.1%

(2016/17)
Tracker 

77.3%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun 17)
Not available Not available Not available

75.2

(11/12-13/14)

72.8

(12/13-14/15)

Admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions - 

under 18's (rate per 100,000)

67.5

(13/14-15/16)
Tracker 

72.8

(12/13-14/15)

Q1 18/19 

(14/15-16/17)

37.4

(2013/14-

2015/16)

66.9

(2013/14-2015/16)
Not available

69%

(2014/15)

86%

(2015/16)

Percentage of exits from young person's substance 

misuse treatment that are planned discharges

91%

(2016/17)
82% 

86%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

82%

(2016/17)
Not available Not available

7.9

(2013)

5.8

(2014)
Under 16 conception rate

6.6

(2015)
Tracker 

5.8

(2014)

Q4 2017/18

(2016)

3.7

(2015)

6.2

(2015)

6.1

(2015)

33.8

(2013)

28.5

(2014)
Under 18 conception rate

26.4

(2015)
Tracker 

28.5

(2014)

Q1 2017/18

(Jan-Mar16)

20.8

(2015)

28.0

(2015)

28.6

(2015)

19.0%

(2014/15)

18.1%

(2015/16)
Percentage of mothers smoking at time of delivery

16.5%

(2016/17)
17.2% 

18.1%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

10.5%

(2016/17)

16%

(2016/17)
Not available

3.3

(2011-13)

3.4

(2012-14)
Infant mortality rate

3.4

(2013-15)
Tracker 

3.4

(2012-14)

Q3 2017/18

(2014-16)

3.9

(2013-15)

3.6

(2013-15)

3.7

(2012-14)

15.8

(2014/15)

14.7

(2015/16)

Emotional and behavioural health of Looked After 

Children [lower score is better]

16.0

[Prov]

(2016/17)

Tracker 
14.7

(2015/16)

Q2 2018/19

[Prov] 

(2017/18)

14.0

(2015/16)

14.5

(2015/16)

14.0

(2015/16)

523.5

(2013/14)

440.3

(2014/15)

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital as a 

result of self-harm

420.8

(2015/16)
Tracker 

440.3

(2014/15)
Mar-18

430.5

(2015/16)

442.9

(2015/16)
Not available

63%

(2007/08)

72.8%

(2011/12))
Proportion of five year old children free from dental decay

64.9%

(2014/15)
Tracker 

72.8%

(2011/12))

No update 

planned

75.2%

(2014/15)

72%

(2014/15)
Not available

Not available Not available

Percentage of Community Eating Disorder Service cases 

receiving NICE compliant treatment in line with the new 

access and waiting time standards

Baseline to be 

established  in 

2016/17 & targets 

developed for 

2017/18

Tracker N/A Not available 2017/18 Not available Not available Not available

Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Scorecard: 4th Quarter 2016/17

Key - Direction of Travel: Improved   Deteriorated    Within 2%

Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in life

Previous Final Data

P
age 89



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

Not available Not available
Emergency admission rate for children with asthma 

per 100,000 population aged 0-18 (QPI) - ND

 228.87

(Apr16-Mar17)
228.0 N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Emergency admission rate for children with asthma 

per 100,000 population aged 0-18 - (QPI)  DDES 

 240.17

(Apr16-Mar17)
223.4 N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

394.18

(2012)

407.1

(2013)

All cause mortality for persons aged under 75 years per 

100,000 population

407.1

(2014)
Tracker 

407.1

(2013)

Data release 

date TBC

332.93

(2014)

409.44

(2014)
Not available

88.8

(2011-13)

81.7

(2012-14)

Mortality from all cardiovascular diseases  (including 

heart disease and stroke) for persons aged under 75 

years per 100,000 population

83

(2013-15)
Tracker 

81.7

(2012-14)

Q3 2017/18

(2014-16)

74.6

(2013-15)

85.1

(2013-15)
Not available

166.6

(2011-13)

168.6

(2012-14)

Mortality from cancer for persons aged under 75 years 

per 100,000 population

163.2

(2013-15)
Tracker 

168.6

(2012-14)

Q3 2017/18

(2014-16)

138.8

(2013-15)

162.7

(2013-15)
Not available

21.9

(2011-13)

20.1

(2012-14)

Mortality from liver disease for persons aged under 75 

years per 100,000 population

21.8

(2013-15)
Tracker 

20.1

(2012-14)

Q4  2017/18

(2014-16)

18

(2013-15)

24.4

(2013-15)
Not available

43.4

(2011-13)

41.8

(2012-14)

Mortality from respiratory disease for persons aged 

under 75 years per 100,000 population

42.5

(2013-15)
Tracker 

41.8

(2012-14)

Q4  2017/18

(2014-16)

33.1

(2013-15)

41.9

(2013-15)
Not available

7.4%

(2014/15)

7%

(2015/16)

Percentage of the eligible population who receive an 

NHS Health Check

6.9%

(2016/17)
8% 

7%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

8.5%

(2016/17)

7.3%

(2016/17)
Not available

98.3%

(Jul-Sep16)

97.8%

(Oct-Dec16)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer within 31 days from diagnosis 

(decision to treat date) - DDES CCG 

97.2%

(Jan-Mar17)
96% 

98.5%

(Jan-Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

94.4%

(Jan-Mar17)
Not available Not available

100%

(Jul-Sep16)

99.4%

(Oct-Dec16)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer within 31 days from diagnosis 

(decision to treat date) - North Durham CCG

98.2%

(Jan-Mar17)
96% 

99.4%

(Jan-Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

94.4%

(Jan-Mar17)
Not available Not available

81.2%

(2014/15)

81.3%

(2015/16)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP 

referral for suspected cancer - DDES CCG

81.7%

(2016/17)
85% 

81.3%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

82.7%

(2016/17)
Not available Not available

85.5%

(2014/15)

83.9%

(2015/16)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP 

referral for suspected cancer - North Durham CCG

85%

(2016/17)
85% 

83.9%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

82.7%

(2016/17)
Not available Not available

Not available
49.5%

(2014)
Cancer diagnosed at early stage (QPI)  - ND

2016/17

comparative  data

released

Mar-18

4 percentage point 

improvement or 

achieve >60% in 

2016

N/A

2015/16

baseline data

released

Mar-17

Q4 2017/18

(2016/17)
Not available Not available Not available

Not available
49.6%

(2014)
Cancer diagnosed at early stage (QPI)  - DDES

2016/17

comparative  data

released

Mar-18

4 percentage point 

improvement or 

achieve >60% in 

2016

N/A

2015/16

baseline data

released

Mar-17

Q4 2017/18

(2016/17)
Not available Not available Not available

Strategic Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths

P
age 90



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

77.9

(2011-13)

78

(2012-14)
Male life expectancy at birth (years)

78.1

(2013-15)
Tracker 

78

(2012-14)

Q4 2017/18

(2014-16)

79.5

(2013-15)

77.9

(2013-15)
Not available

81.3

(2011-13)

81.3

(2012-14)
Female life expectancy at birth (years)

81.2

(2013-15)
Tracker 

81.3

(2012-14)

Q4 2017/18

(2014-16)

83.1

(2013-15)

81.6

(2013-15)
Not available

6.8%

(2014)

5.2%

(2015)

Successful completions as a percentage of total 

number in drug treatment - Opiates

6.2%
(Oct 15 - Sep 16 

representations to  

Mar17)

8.02% - 

12.40% 
6%

(Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(2016)

6.6%
(Oct 15 - Sep 16 

representations to  

Mar17)

Not available

Top Quartile: 

8.02% -

12.40%

39.9%

(2014)

25.4%

(2015)

Successful completions as a percentage of total 

number in drug treatment - Non Opiates

26.9%
(Oct 15 - Sep 16 

representations to  

Mar17)

49.11% - 

56.68% 
33%

(Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(2016)

37.1%
(Oct 15 - Sep 16 

representations to  

Mar17)

Not available
Top Quartile:

49.11% - 56.68%

35.9%

(2015)

27.5%

(2016)

Percentage of alcohol users that left alcohol treatment 

successfully who do not re-present to treatment 

within 6 months

28.6%
(Oct 15-Sep 16 

with rep to Mar 17)

38.3% 
30.2%

(Mar16)

Q1 2017/18

(Apr16-Mar17)

38.3%
(Oct 15-Sep 16 with 

rep to Mar 17)

Not available Not available

747.3

(2014/15)

751.7

[Prov]

(2015/16)

Alcohol related admissions to hospital per 100,000

573.0

[Prov]

(Apr-Dec16)

Tracker 
570.3

(Apr-Dec15)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)

489.5

[Prov]

(Apr-Dec 16)

656.6

[Prov]

(Apr-Dec 16)

Not available

3,250.9

[3,068]

(2014/15)

3076.1

[2903]

(2015/16)

Four week smoking quitters per 100,000 18+ smoking 

population [Number of quitters]

3010.4

(2841 quitters)

(2016/17)

2449

[2311 

quitters]


3076.1

[2903]

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

20.3

(2014)

19%

(2015)

Estimated smoking prevalence of persons aged 18 

and over

17.9

(2016)
Tracker 

19%

(2015)

Q2 2018/19

(2017) 

15.5%

(2016)

17.2%

(2016)
Not available

51.4%

(2013)

55.5%

(2014)
Proportion of physically active adults

57.3%

(2015)
Tracker 

55.5%

(2014)

Q2 2017/18

(2016)

57%

(2015)

52.9%

(2015)
Not available

72.5

(2012)

69%

(2012/14)

Excess weight in adults (Proportion of adults classified as 

overweight or obese)

67.6%

(2013-15)
Tracker  Not available

Q2 2017/18

(2014-16)

64.8%

(2013-15)

68.6%

(2013-15)
Not available

77.9%

(2014)

77.8%

(2015)

 The percentage of women in a population eligible for 

breast screening at a given point in time who were 

screened adequately within a specified period

78.1%

(2016)
70% 

77.8%

(2015)

Q4 2017/18

(2017)

75.5%

(2016)

77.3%

(2016)
Not available

78%

(2014)

77.6%

(2015)

The percentage of women in a population eligible for 

cervical screening at a given point in time who were 

screened adequately within a specified period

76.9%

(2016)
80% 

77.6%

(2015)

Q4 2017/18

(2017)

72.7%

(2016)

75.2%

(2016)
Not available

N/A
61.2%

(2015)

The percentage of people eligible for bowel screening 

who were screened adequately within the previous 2½ 

years

60.9%

(2016)
60% 

61.2%

(2015)

Q4 2017/18

(2017)

57.9%

(As at 31-Mar-16)

59.4%

(As at 31-Mar-16)
Not available

19%

(2010/13)

16.8%

(2011/14)
Excess winter deaths

19.7%

(2012-15)
Tracker 

16.8%

(2011/14)

Q4  2017/18

(2013/16)

19.6%

(2012/15)

19.3%

(2012/15)
Not available

P
age 91



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

Not available Not available
Percentage of people with learning disabilities that have a 

health check - DDES

46.7%

(2013/14)
Tracker N/A Not available

Data release 

unknown

44.2%

(2013/14)

56.6%

(2013/14)
Not available

Not available Not available
Percentage of people with learning disabilities that have a 

health check - ND

60.3%

(2013/14)
Tracker N/A Not available

Data release 

unknown

44.2%

(2013/14)

56.6%

(2013/14)
Not available

6.77%

[estimated]

(2012/13)

6.9%

(2013/14)

Prevalence of diabetes (recorded diabetes in the 

population registered with GP practices aged 17 and over)

7%

(2014/15)
Tracker 

6.9%

(2013/14)

Q2  2017/18

(2015/16)

6.4% 

(2014/15)

6.7%

(2014/15)
Not available

8.7  

 (2014-15)

Not reported 

2015/16
Carer reported quality of life

8.4 

 (2016-17)
Tracker 

8.7  

 (2014-15)

Q4 (2018/19)

(2018/19)

7.9 

(2014/15)

8.5

(2014/15)

8.3

(2014/15)

54.4%

(2014-15)

Not available 

(2015/16)

Overall satisfaction of carers with support and 

services they receive (Extremely/Very Satisfied) (BCF)

43.3%

(2016/17)

46.0% - 

54.0% 
54.4%

(2014-15)

Q4 (2018/19)

(2018/19)

41.2%

(2014/15 National 

Survey)

49.3%

(2014/15 National 

Survey)

45.7%

(2014/15 National 

Survey)

92.6%

(2014/15)

91.8%

(2015/16)

The percentage of service users reporting that the 

help and support they receive has made their quality 

of life better

89.1%

(Apr 16-Feb 

17)

Tracker 

91.6%

(Apr 15-Feb 

16)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)
Not reported Not reported Not reported

89.8%

(At 31-Mar-15)

92.8%

(At 31 Mar16)

Proportion of people using social care who receive 

self-directed support 

92.4%

(as at Mar 17)
90.0% 

92.8%

(At 31 Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(as at 30 Jun-

17)

86.9%

(ASCOF 15-16)

95.4%

(ASCOF 15-16)

85.2%

(Provisional

 ASCOF 15-16)

820.9 per 

100,000

(2014/15)

736.3 

100,000

(2015/16)

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted on a 

permanent basis in the year to residential or nursing 

care (BCF)

764.1

[Prov]

(2016/17)

 750.8 per 

100,000

(2016/17)


736.3 

100,000

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)

628.2

(2015/16 - 

ASCOF)

843.0

(2015/16 - 

ASCOF)

750.4 

(Provisional

 ASCOF 15-16)

90.3%

(2014/15)

85.7%

(2015/16)

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were 

still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital 

into reablement/ rehabilitation services (BCF)

87.8%

(2016/17)
86% 

85.7%

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun 17)

82.7%

(2015/16 - 

ASCOF)

85.5%

(2015/16 - 

ASCOF)

Not available

11.2

(2009/10)

12.1

(2010/11)

Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from 

hospital

12.4

(2011/12)
Tracker 

12.1

(2010/11)

Data release 

date TBC

11.8

(2011/12)

12.7

(2011/12)
Not available

7.7

(2014/15)

4.6

(2015/16)

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population (ASCOF)

4.0

(Apr 16 - Feb 

17)

Tracker 
4.6

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)

16.4

(Apr16-Feb17)

5.6

(2015/16)
Not available

285

(Jul-Sep 16)

315

(Oct-Dec 16)

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population (BCF)

313

(Jan-Mar 17)

417.2

(Jan-Mar 17)

Quarterly 

targets only 
429

(Jan-Mar16)

Q2

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population aged 18+ - DDES (QPI)

3.31

(Apr16- Mar 

17)

4.15 N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population aged 18+  - ND (QPI)

3.35

(Apr16-Mar 17)
4.14 N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

2263

(2013/14)

2183

(2014/15)

Falls and injuries in the over 65s. (Age-sex 

standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions 

for falls or falls injuries in persons aged 65 and over 

per 100,000 population)

2239

(2015/16)
Tracker 

2,183

(2014/15)

Q1 2018/19

(2016/17)

2,169

(2015/16)

2,257

(2015/16)
Not reported

Strategic Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with long term conditions

P
age 92



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

772

(2013/14)

615

(2014/15)

Hip fractures in over 65s. (Age-sex standardised rate 

of emergency admissions for fractured neck of femur 

in persons aged 65 and over per 100,000 population)

655

(2015/16)
Tracker 

615

(2014/15)

Q1 2018/19

(2016/17)

589

(2015/16)

679

(2015/16)
Not reported

67.3%

(Jul13-Mar14)

71.1%

(Jul14-Mar15)

Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their 

condition

65.1%

(Jul15-Mar16)
Tracker 

71.1%

(2014/15)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)

64.3%

(Jul15-Mar16)

68.3%

(Jul15-Mar16)
Not available

2962

(Jul-Sep 16)

3062

(Oct-Dec 16)

Avoidable emergency admissions per 100,000 

population (BCF)

3022

(Jan-Mar17)

2930

(Jan-Mar17)

Quarterly 

targets only 
2984

(Jan-Mar16)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)
Not available Not available Not available

292

(2014/15)

474.1
(2015/16)

The number of people in receipt of Telecare per 

100,000 (BCF)

541.7

(At 31 Mar17)
454 

474.1

(At 31 Mar16)
TBC Not available Not available Not available

929,391

(2015/16)

234,603

(Jul-Sep16)

Number of residential/nursing care beds for people 

ages 65 and over commissioned by Durham County 

Council

925,824 

(2016/17)
Tracker 

929,391

(2015/16)

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun170
Not available Not available Not available

Not available
1.356

(Apr 15 – Mar 16)

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) Improving antibiotics 

prescribing in primary care (QPI) DDES

a) reduction in the number of antibiotics prescribed in 

primary care

1.311

(Apr 16 - Mar 

17)

less than 

1.374  N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available
6.81

(Apr 15 – Mar 16)

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) Improving antibiotics 

prescribing in primary care (QPI) DDES

b) reduction in the proportion of broad spectrum 

antibiotics prescribed in primary care 

6.31

(Apr 16 - Mar 

17)

less than 10  N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available
1.225

(Apr 15 – Mar 16)

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) Improving antibiotics 

prescribing in primary care (QPI) ND

a) reduction in the number of antibiotics prescribed in 

primary care 

1.198

(Apr 16 - Mar 

17)

less than 

1.221  N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available
9.47

(Apr 15 – Mar 16)

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) Improving antibiotics 

prescribing in primary care (QPI) ND

b) reduction in the proportion of broad spectrum 

antibiotics prescribed in primary care

5.44

(Apr 16 - Mar 

17)

less than 10  N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Increase in the proportion of GP referrals made by e-

referrals  (QPI)  DDES

78%

(Sep16)

20% increase on 

Mar16 outturn@ 

Mar17 or 

80% @ Mar17

N/A N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Increase in the proportion of GP referrals made by e-

referrals (QPI)  ND

78%

(Sep16)

20% increase on 

Mar16 outturn@ 

Mar17 or 

80% @ Mar17

N/A N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Overall experience of making a GP appointment  (QPI) 

DDES

87.5% 
(Q4 

14/15&Q215/16)

85% or 3 

percetage points 

increase in July 

2017

N/A N/A
Q2 

2017/18 Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available Overall experience of making a GP appointment (QPI)  ND
89.3%

(Q4 

14/15&Q215/16)

85% or 3 

percetage points 

increase in July 

2017

N/A N/A
Q2 

2017/18 Not available Not available Not available

P
age 93



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

12.7%

(2014/15)

14.7%

(2015/16)

Gap between the employment rate for those with a 

long term health condition and the overall 

employment rate

20.2%

(Jul-Sep16)
Tracker 

20%

(Jul-Sep15))

Q1 2017/18

(Oct-Dec16)

12.6%

(Jul-Sep16)

16.7%

(Jul-Sep16)
Not available

LTC  0.709 LTC 0.679

0.463

(Jul14-Mar15)

0.433

(Apr15-Mar16

LTC  0.713 LTC 0.692

0.508

(Jul14-Mar15)

0.490

(Apr15-Mar16)

15

(2011-13)

[204]

14.8

(2012-14)

[202]

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and injury of 

undetermined intent) per 100,000 population [number of 

suicides]

15.7

(2013-15)

[215]

Tracker 

14.8

(2012-14)

[202]

Q4  2017/18

(2014-16)

10.1

(2013-15)

12.4

(2013-15)
Not reported

287.4

(2013/14)

238.4

(2014/15)

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm. (Age-sex 

standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions 

for intentional self-harm per 100,000 population)

197.2

(2015/16)
Tracker 

238.4

(2014/15)

Q4 2017/18

(2016/17)

196.5

(2015/16)

230.5

(2015/16)
Not available

413.2

(2012/13)

485.4

(2013/14)

Excess under 75 mortality rate  in adults with serious 

mental illness per 100,000 population

451.7

(2014/15)
Tracker 

485.4

(2013/14)

Q3 2017/18

(2015/16)

370

(2014/15)
Not reported Not reported

48.7%

(2014/15)

49.2%

(2015/16)

Percentage of people who use adult social care 

services who have as much social contact as they 

want with people they like

49.2%

[Prov]

(2016/17)

Tracker 
49.2%

(2015/16)

Q4 2017/18

(2017/18)

45.4%

 (2015/16)

49.9%

(2015/16)
Not available

55.2

(2012/13)

66

(2013/14)

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia -

DDES CCG

75.6

(2014/15)
Tracker 

66

(2013/14)

Data release 

date TBC

61.4

(2014/15)
Not reported Not reported

52.6

(2012/13)

57.4

(2013/14)

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia -

North Durham CCG

67.3

(2014/15)
Tracker 

57.4

(2013/14)

Data release 

date TBC

61.4

(2014/15)
Not reported Not reported

Not available
11.7%

(2015/16)

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

Services: People entering IAPT services as a % of 

those estimated to have anxiety/depression (QPI)  ND

20.2%   

(Apr 16-Mar17)
15% 

12.79%

Baseline
Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available
12.1%

(2015/16)

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

Services: People entering IAPT services as a % of 

those estimated to have anxiety/depression (QPI) 

DDES

19.6%

(Apr16-Mar17)
15% 

11.67%

Baseline
Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available

Health related quality of life for people with a long 

term mental health condition - (QPI) DDES 

Health related quality of life for people with a long 

term mental health condition - (QPI) ND 

Reduction in 

gap with QoL 

of any LTC

Reduction in 

gap with QoL 

of any LTC

0.463

(Jul14-Mar15)

Q2 2018/19

(Jul16-Mar17)

0.528

(Jul15-Mar16)
Not available

Strategic Objective 4: Improve mental health and wellbeing of the population

Not available Not reported

0.508

(Jul14-Mar15)

Q2 2018/19

(Jul16-Mar17)

0.528

(Jul15-Mar16)
Not available Not reported





P
age 94



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 

Target

2016/17

Target

Direction of 

Travel - same 

period 

previous year

Data same 

period 

previous year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

14.8%

(2014/15)

13.4%

(2015/16)

Percentage of repeat incidents of domestic violence 

(referrals to MARAC)

13%

(2016/17)

Less than 

25% 
13.4%

(2015/16)
TBC

26%

(2016)

28%

(2016)
Not available

90.5%

(2014/15)

90.5%

(2015/16)

The proportion of people who use services who say 

that those services have made them feel safe and 

secure

93.1%

(Apr 16-Feb17)
Tracker 

94.1%

(Apr 15-Feb 

16)

Q1 2017/18

(2016/17)

85.4%

(2015/16)

88.9%

(2015/16)
Not available

497

(2014-15)

665

(2015-16)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor 

of parental mental health is identified 

813

[Prov]

(2016/17)

Tracker  665
Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

695

(2014-15)

1,205

(2015-16)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor 

of parental domestic violence is identified 

1119

[Prov]

(2016/17)

Tracker  1205
Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

383

(2014-15)

491

(2015-16)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor 

of parental alcohol misuse is identified 

467

[Prov]

(2016/17)

Tracker  491
Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

296

(2014-15)

420

(2015-16)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor 

of parental drug misuse is identified 

458

[Prov]

(2016/17)

Tracker  420
Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

37.6

(at 31 Mar 15)

34.9

(as at 31-Mar-16)

Number of children with a Child Protection Plan per 

10,000 population

50

(31-Mar-17)
Tracker 

34.9

(as at 31-Mar-

16)

Q2 2016/17

(at Jun-16)

43.1

(31 Mar 2016)

59.6

(31 Mar 2016)

59.33

(31 Mar 2016)

Not available
75.6%

(Apr-Sep16)

Percentage of individuals who achieved their desired 

outcomes from the adult safeguarding process

94.9%

(2016/17)
Tracker N/A N/A

Q2 2017/18

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

45.6%

(2014/15)

46.7%

(2015/16)

Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence 

(DDES CCG)

48.5%

(2016)
Tracker 

46.1%

(2015)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)

45.8%

(2016)

46.5%

(2016)
Not available

49.2%

(2014/15)

48.8%

(2015/16)

Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence 

(North Durham CCG)

49.6%

(2016)
Tracker 

50.4%

(2015)

Q2 2017/18

(2016/17)

45.8%

(2016)

46.5%

(2016)
Not available

New data reported for all indicators in bold

Strategic Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm

Strategic Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and support that they need

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the 

forthcoming presentation on the findings of Public Health England’s (PHE) 
alcohol evidence review. Sue Taylor, Partnerships Manager at Balance, will 
deliver a presentation to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 26 July 
2017. 

 
Background 

 
2 In 2014-15 the Department of Health commissioned Public Health England 

(PHE) to review the evidence and provide advice on the public health impacts 
of alcohol and possible evidence-based solutions. 

3 PHE published the review in December 2016, England’s most comprehensive 
look at evidence on the public health burden of alcohol and policy responses to 
reduce health, social and economic harm.  

 
Recommendations 
  
4 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

 
a) Receive the forthcoming presentation at the HWB meeting on 26 July 

2017. 
 

Contact:  Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council 

Tel                03000 264323 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Public Health England Alcohol Evidence 
Review 
 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council  

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



 

 

Appendix 1 – Implications 

 
Finance  
None 
 
Staffing 
None 
 
Risk 
None 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None 
 
Accommodation 
None 
 
Crime and Disorder 
None 
 
Human Rights 
None 
 
Consultation 
None 
 
Procurement 
None 
 
Disability Issues 
None 
 
Legal Implications 
None 
 
 

Page 98



 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

26 July 2017 

 

Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Update 

 

 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, 

Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an 

update on the Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Task and Finish Group in 
County Durham. 

 
Background 
 
2. The Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy Group identified the need to identify a 

range of measures that can be initiated to reduce the impact foetal exposure to 
alcohol before birth. This can result in a range of disorders commonly referred to 
as Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD). 

 
3. Health education messages indicating safe limits for alcohol intake in pregnancy 

have fluctuated in the past, but the UK Chief Medical Officer indicated in 2016, 
that no level of alcohol is safe to drink in pregnancy (CMO, 2016). This has 
helped clarify the position for women planning for pregnancy. 

 
4. Prevalence of FASD in the NE is thought to be underestimated as 1% of the total 

population (9.1 per 1000 population) (PHE, 2016). FASD can be considered the 
leading cause of preventable non-genetic learning disability in the UK. 
 

County Durham FASD Task and Finish Group 
 

5. The County Durham FASD Task and Finish group was initiated to consider the 
issues raised in a Public Health England (PHE) funded North East Healthcare 
Needs Assessment (2015) and the model for prevention and early intervention 
undertaken by Stockton Borough Council.  

 
6. The FASD Task and Finish Group met for the first time on Friday 17th March 

2017, with representation from DCC Public Health, Lifeline, CDDFT Midwifery, 
CDDFT Sexual Health Services and Balance. The Terms of Reference for the 
group were agreed with a focus for prevention and early intervention only. 
 

7. A FASD Action Plan (Appendix 2.) has been initiated with sign local partners and 
monitored through the Alcohol Harm Reduction Group and the Healthy Child 
Programme Board. The FASD Task and Finish Group will meet on 12th July 2017 
to ensure identified actions are progressing within agreed timescales. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



 

Recommendations 
 
8. The Health and Wellbeing is recommended to: 
 

a) Consider the content of this report  
b) Note the areas for completion on the FASD Action Plan (appendix 2) 

 
 

Contact:    Jane Sunter, Public Health Portfolio Lead, Durham County Council  
Tel:            03000 266 897                       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 

 
Finance 
Any financial implications of future work on FASD will need to be carried within the 
existed Public Health funding. 
 
Staffing 
Any requirement for delivering the requirements identified by a potential County 
Durham FASD Network will staffed through current allocations. 
 
Risk 
Raising the FASD agenda may heighten the expectation in families for bespoke 
support to address their needs. This may have impact on finances and capacity issues. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
Public health aims to reduce inequalities and improve health outcomes by reviewing 
PH outcomes data and developing relevant policies, strategies and intentions as 
appropriate.  
 
Accommodation 
N/A  
 
Crime and Disorder  
Reducing the incidence of FASD may have a long term impact on reducing crime and 
disorder in County Durham. 
 
Human Rights 
None 
 
Consultation  
For any bespoke pathways to be developed the requirement to consult clinical and 
social care staff and families and carers of individuals with FASD will be imperative. 
 
Procurement  
N/A 
 
Disability Issues 
None 
 
Legal Implications  
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 101



 

Appendix 2 

 
Table 1. FASD Action Plan April 2017 
 

 Area for Action Method of 
delivery 

Identified 
Partners 

Timescale  
 

Progress 

1. Campaign to 
promote the revised 
CMO guidelines for 
no safe levels of 
drinking in 
pregnancy. 
 
Resources 
disseminated to: 
 
GP practices 
Pharmacies (given 
out with Emergency 
Contraception and 
Ovulation kits) 
Sexual Health 
Services  
0-19’s contacts 
Midwifery (including 
preconception care 
and planning) and 
community midwives 
- integrate into 
breastfeeding 
pathways. 
Stenographers 
Best Bar None 
Contacts 
Drug and Alcohol 
Services 
Via Schools training 
programme 
MECC trained 
personnel 
Health and 
Wellbeing teams 
AAP’s 
DCC 
Durham 
Constabulary 
YOS 
Workplaces  
 
 

Assess the 
Durham 
Constabulary 
leaflet and 
Balance leaflet 
for FASD 
amend as 
required for 
County 
Durham. 
 
Revisit on 
FASD Day 9th 
September 
2017 
  

Via FASD 
Task and 
Finish 
Group 
Members 
and 
associated 
partners 

Resource 
template has 
been sent on by 
Mary Edwards 
from Balance for 
amendment. 
 
To be 
disseminated 
throughout May 
2017. 

COMPLETE 
Resource 
template 
amended and 
sent to all 
relevant 
partners for 
dissemination 
in the lead up 
to FASD day 
(9th 
September) 
 
FASD task 
and Finish on 
12th July will 
plan 
programme 
for 
dissemination. 

Page 102



 

 Area for Action Method of 
delivery 

Identified 
Partners 

Timescale  
 

Progress 

2 Revisit Antenatal 
processes for 
alcohol intake 
assessment and 
timescales for 
revisiting re 
assessment during 
maternity pathway.  
 
Ensure FASD is 
integrated into the 
Better Births 
initiative 

CDDFT to 
review the 
standardised 
assessment 
for in antenatal 
(8-week 
booking) and 
revisit 
maternity 
pathway for 
midwives to 
ensure MECC 
is maximised 
at every 
opportunity.  
 
This includes 
Post-natal 
appointment 
logged via the 
Child Health 
Record. 
 
CDDFT to 
integrate 
FASD  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CDDFT – 
maternity 
and 
community 
midwifery 
team 
(Emma 
McBeth)  

Meeting to update 
pathways 
arranged between 
Emma McBeth 
and Lifeline on 
11th May 2017. 
 
Update session 
for midwives on 
the pathway 
arranged for 7th 
July 2017 

COMPLETE 
Pathways 
meeting 
undertaken 
 
2nd mandatory 
session 
scheduled for 
7th July for 
midwives in 
CDDFT  
 

Page 103



 

 Area for Action Method of 
delivery 

Identified 
Partners 

Timescale  
 

Progress 

3 Training for all 
relevant staff on 
alcohol and 
pregnancy and 
FASD Awareness 
 
Utilising Balances’ 
Infographic to 
enhance the 
teachable moment. 
 

Training 
updates 
scheduled on 
the CDDFT 
SAGE training 
in July. 
 
Training on the 
CDFFT LARK 
meeting for 
sexual health 
services to be 
arranged   
 
CGL to liaise 
with CDDFT to 
undertake 
needs 
assessment 
for training of 
staff utilising 
options for e-
learning and 
also specific 
training for 
staff teams. 
 
FASD to be 
integrated into 
Lifeline’s wider 
training 
programme for 
MECC and 
Have a Word 
with wider 
health and 
social care 
staff. 

 Ongoing as part 
of Lifeline’s 
training 
programme into 
8-month contract 
extension. 
 
SAGE training 
arranged for 2nd 
June  2017 
 
LARK (sexual 
health) training 
arranged for 25th 
May 2017 
 
Midwifery training 
organised to 
coincide with 
FASD Day.  

COMPLETE 
1st mandatory 
training 
session for 
midwives and 
sexual health 
service 
delivered with 
good 
attendance  
 
2nd training 
session to be 
held on 7th 
July 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
COMPLETE 
FASD now 
incorporated 
in to generic 
MECC 
training   

 
 

 

 

Page 104



 

 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
County Durham Youth Offending Service 
Health Needs Assessment and 
New Model of Health Provision 2017/19 
 

 

 
 

Report of Gill Eshelby, Strategic Manager, County Durham Youth 
Offending Service  

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the Health and Wellbeing Board with the Executive Summary and 
Health Needs Assessment (HNA) of Young People who Offend 2016/17, 
including key findings and recommendations, attached at Appendix 2. 

 
2 To present the new co-commissioned model of Health provision in County 

Durham Youth Offending Service (CDYOS) for 2017/19. The model, based on 
findings and recommendations in the HNA, was approved by CDYOS 
Management Board (February 2017). 

 
3 The report also outlines funding arrangements and governance for the model, 

and considers implications of such a collaborative approach for the wider system. 
 
Background 
 

4 Children and young people who are in contact with the youth justice system (YJS) 
are generally a socially excluded population, with significant complex health 
needs. Research has demonstrated that the health outcomes for young people 
who offend are poor, associated with poorer physical, emotional and socio-
economic wellbeing. 

 
5 Tackling the health and wellbeing needs of young people who offend is a 

complex issue and depends on many underlying factors such as: low educational 
attainment; poor attendance at school; non-participation in post-16 learning; 
unidentified speech, language and communication needs; mental health issues; 
and increased risk-taking behaviour relating to smoking, drug and alcohol use 
and risky sexual activity.  

 
6 CDYOS recognises the health needs of young people who offend and CDYOS 

Management Board has a clear commitment to improve the health and wellbeing 
outcomes for young people.  

 
7 Current statutory commissioning responsibility to provide a health post in the 

Youth Opportunity Service (YOS) lies with the CCGs (Health and Social Care Act 
2012).  

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 12



 

 

8 The Management Board commissioned the HNA in early 2016; work was jointly 
led by CDYOS and Public Health. A multi-agency project board was responsible 
for the oversight and monitoring of the HNA project and ensuring the project 
outcomes were achieved. One of the aims of CDYOS HNA was to identify the 
needs of young people supervised by CDYOS to inform future commissioning 
intentions. 

 
9 Until March 2017 CDYOS Health provision consisted of 3fte community nurses 

employed by County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT). 
The posts had been in CDYOS since April 2000 (creation of the YOS). The 
specification (done by North of England Commissioning Support (NECS)) ended 
31 March 2017.  Funding for the 3fte YOS nurses arose as an issue in late 
September 2016, when they were informed by their employer that funding for the 
posts could not be identified. Notice was served in early January and the last 
nurse left CDYOS on 17 March 2017.  

 
10 HNA interim findings and recommendations were presented to CDYOS 

Management Board in November 2016. The final draft HNA, key findings and 
recommendations were approved by the Board (February 2017). These have 
informed the new co-commissioned model of health provision for 2017/19. 
 

Partnership Involvement and Progress to date 
 
11 Considerable progress has been made since early January to develop the new 

model for 2017/19. We are very grateful to all partners who have risen to the 
challenge to pool resources, ‘bend’ current commissioned services, and co-
commission the innovative new provision. 

 
12 The contribution of Public Health to improve outcomes for young people in the 

youth justice system has been significant – not only in relation to the HNA. Public 
Health have provided £80k non-recurrent funding to support a Specialist 
Children’s Public Health nurse post for 2 years; agreed variation of Harrogate 
and District Foundation Trust (HDFT) contract to include the post until March 
2019; and included 2fte substance misuse posts for CDYOS in the new Drug and 
Alcohol service specification. 

 
13 Challenges and risks have been acknowledged and mitigated, including: 

 Safeguarding vulnerable young people in the youth justice system 

 Meeting their health needs to reduce reoffending 

 Reputational risk/potential inspection risk during transition to new model 
 

14 Opportunities include: 

 Development of a Speech Language and Communication Needs (SLCN) 
Strategy for Co. Durham 

 Current core School Leadership Teams (SLT) service contract review 
(2017) 

 Sexual Health Service Review (currently underway) 

 New Drug and Alcohol Service commission (go live Oct 2017) 

 School Nursing Service review (2019) 

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) Transformation 
funding (2017 onwards) 

Page 106



 

 

 Liaison and Diversion Service (extension to March 2018) 
 
15 Meetings/discussions have involved the following commissioners: 

 CDYOS 

 Public Health, Durham County Council (DCC) 

 DCC Commissioners  

 NHS England (Health and Justice) 

 CCGs (DDES and NDCCG) 

 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 
 
Health Steering Group 
 
16 On 6 January, the commissioners listed in paragraph 15 (above) agreed to form 

a Health Steering Group. Gill Eshelby chairs the Steering Group and is project 
managing the work.  

 
17 The Health Steering Group is a subgroup of CDYOS Management Board to 

ensure robust governance. It met monthly until April 2017 to drive forward 
developments and will meet quarterly for the rest of 2017/18. Terms of reference, 
membership and accountability have been agreed.  An action plan is being 
developed to implement the recommendations in the HNA. This will be presented 
to the Management Board in September 2017. 

 
18 It was agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board that a Healthy Child 

Programme Board would be established to provide an opportunity to bring 
together a multi-disciplinary group to discuss integrated working and develop a 
small number of shared objectives, with the aim of reducing health inequalities 
and delivering improved health and wellbeing outcomes for children and families. 

 
19 Work has been taking place with stakeholders and colleagues to start to embed 

the approach to the delivery of the Healthy Child Programme across the county 
to transform our approach and embrace a truly collaborative delivery model, 
wrapped around the needs of children and families. It is recommended that the 
work of CDYOS Health Steering Group and the HNA is considered for inclusion 
as part of the development of the Healthy Child Programme Board. 

 
CDYOS Health Provision 2017/19 
 
20 CDYOS Health provision is being co-commissioned by DCC Public Health, NHS 

England, CDYOS, the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner, 
and CCGs.  An overarching document sets out the model, functions, service 
specifications, performance management, and information sharing agreements. 
All secondments to CDYOS are subject to Service Level Agreements (SLAs) with 
commissioners and providers; all SLAs include Information Sharing Agreements 
(ISAs) and Data Sharing Agreements (DSAs). 

 
21 Funding has been secured from a range of sources to support some posts (see 

paragraph 23 below). Other posts/functions will be provided by shaping 
commissioned services to address the needs identified in the HNA. The CCGs 
have included young people who offend in their prioritization. Negotiations are 

Page 107



 

 

currently underway to include 1fte CDYOS Speech and Language Therapist in 
core service (commissioned by CCGs) from December 2017. 

 
22 The model offers the opportunity for joint work, co-commissioning and innovation 

– thinking ‘outside the box’ to develop and implement a new model to meet the 
health needs of young people who offend.  This approach will ensure an 
innovative partnership approach, value for money, and robust performance 
management framework to monitor impact and outcomes. 

 
23 The HNA identified the need for specific functions in CDYOS. Based on the 

findings of the HNA, CDYOS Health provision for 2017/19 will be: 

 1fte Speech and Language Therapist 

 1fte Specialist Children’s Public Health Nurse  

 2fte Drug and Alcohol staff  

 2fte Health Care Support Workers (Mental Health)  

 1.5fte Liaison & Diversion Link Workers   
 
24 The table below provides more detail: 
 

Post/Function Cost/Source 
of funding 

Provider Comments 

1fte Speech & 
Language 
Therapist 
(Band 6) 
 
2017/18  
CDYOS non-
recurrent 
funding  

c.27k (0.64 
CDYOS); 
0.36 NTHFT 
 
 
c.60k per year 
(core SLT 
contract from 
Dec 2017) 
 

NTHFT Current CDYOS DCC contract 
extended for 8 months (April – 
end Nov 2017).  
 
CDYOS post/function to be 
incorporated into core SLT 
contract from 8 Dec 2017. 
Negotiations underway with 
provider (CCG commission). 

2fte Health 
Care Support 
Workers 
(Mental Health) 
(Band 3) 
 
 
2017/19 

c.60k per year 
for 2fte 
 
NHS England  
Health & 
Justice 
 
2017/19 
funding 

TEWV 
 

NHS England Health & Justice to 
commission 3fte for Durham & 
Darlington YOS (2fte CDYOS; 
1fte DYOS). Total cost c.87k per 
year. 
 
TEWV to employ & align to L&D. 
 
NHS England Health & Justice to 
fund via CAMHS Transformation. 
 
 

2fte Drug & 
Alcohol staff 
 
Oct 2017 
onwards 

Cost tbc 
 
 
Public Health 

Provider tbc 2fte young people’s posts to be 
included in new Drug and 
Alcohol service spec (Public 
Health commission). 
 
Posts in CDYOS from Oct 2017 
– for duration of contract 

Page 108



 

 

Post/Function Cost/Source 
of funding 

Provider Comments 

1fte Specialist 
Children’s 
Public Health 
Nurse (Band 6) 
 
 
 
2017/19  
 

C.60k per 
year. 
 
(40k Public 
Health; 20k 
OPCVC) for 2 
years 
 
Non – 
recurrent 
2017/19 only 

Harrogate 
and District  
Foundation 
Trust  

Public Health non - recurrent 
funding:  80k (40k per year) for 
17/18 and 18/19. Public Health 
commission. 
 
Shortfall of 20k per year to be 
funded by the Office of the 
Police, Crime and Victims 
Commissioner (OPCVC). 
 
Post to be aligned to HDFT from 
April 2017 for 2 years 

1.5fte Liaison 
and Diversion 
Workers 
 
2017/18 
 
 

No cost to 
CDYOS – in 
L&D structure  

TEWV L&D model includes 1.5fte staff 
to link with CDYOS and 0.5fte 
Darlington YOS. Links to Police 
custody suites/courts etc. 
Additional capacity/functions – 
not full time in the YOS. 

 
Conclusion 
 
25 Following Management Board approval on 13 February 2017, work commenced 

to implement the new model to meet the needs of young people in the youth 
justice system in Co Durham, as recommended in the HNA. Recruitment to some 
posts is currently underway; others have already commenced in CDYOS.  

 
26 The Youth Justice Board (YJB) are aware of this work and want to raise it 

nationally as an example of co-commissioning, local leadership and good 
practice. This is especially important in view of the Taylor Review of the Youth 
Justice System and Government Response (December 2016) and the national 
Youth Justice Reform Programme which will commence in 2017/18. The Taylor 
Review emphasised the crucial role health and education have in reducing re-
offending. The Executive Summary and new model was also shared with the 
Ministry of Justice (MoJ) Youth Policy Unit when they visited CDYOS in May. 

 
27 The Executive Summary and new model have been shared with the Children and 

Families Partnership, the Safe Durham Partnership and Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board. 

 
28 Discussions will need to take place at strategic level about current 

commissioning responsibilities to ensure sustainability beyond March 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



 

 

Recommendations  
 
29 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

a) Receive for information the new model of health provision in CDYOS 
b) Receive an update in due course 
c) Consider implications of such a collaborative approach for the wider system, 

especially for vulnerable groups 
d) Consider current commissioning responsibilities to ensure sustainability 
e) Refer the work to the Healthy Child Programme Board  

 
 

Contact: Gill Eshelby, Strategic Manager, CDYOS 
Email: gill.eshelby@durham.gov.uk 
Tel: 03000 265 989 
 
Michelle Baldwin, Public Health Portfolio Lead 
Email:michelle.baldwin@durham.gov.uk 
Tel: 03000 267663 

 
 
  

Page 110

mailto:gill.eshelby@durham.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – Funding to mainstream this important area of work after 2018/19 needs to 
be secured via commissioning. 
 
Staffing – The HNA and Exec Summary identified the health staff required in CDYOS 
to meet the health needs of young people who offend in Co Durham.  
 
Risk – Young people in the youth justice system have a range of complex health needs 
which impact on a range of outcomes: educational achievement, employability, 
behaviour/vulnerability, criminality/offending, mental health and disadvantage. 
Services need to be mainstreamed for continuous delivery post 2018/19. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – CDYOS aims to reduce 
health inequalities for young people who offend, and improve health outcomes based 
on identified need. 

 
Accommodation – Not applicable 
 
Crime and Disorder – The Taylor Review of the Youth Justice System (December 
2016) highlights the major role health plays in youth offending. 
 
Human Rights – Young people in the youth justice system, and their parents/carers, 
have a right to access appropriate health provision to meet their needs. 
 
Consultation – Young people who offend and their parents/carers; young victims of 
crime and their parents/carers have been consulted during CDYOS HNA. 
 
Procurement – This work needs to inform future commissioning  
 
Disability Issues – The new model will have no negative impact on disability and aims 
to provide additional support for young people with SLCN.  
 
Legal Implications – Current commissioning responsibilities need to be clarified at 
strategic level to ensure sustainability beyond March 2019. 
 
 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Youth Offending Service  
Health Needs Assessment  
Executive Summary  
 
April 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 113



 

 

Acknowledgments  
 
County Durham Youth Offending Service would like to thank all the organisations and 

individuals who have helped produce this Health Needs Assessment. 

We would like to give specific thanks to: 

 Gill O’Neill, Consultant in Public Health DCC 

 Gill Eshelby, Strategic Manager CDYOS  

 Dave Summers, Countywide Manager CDYOS  

 Michelle Baldwin, Public Health Portfolio Lead DCC 

 Keith Appleton, Team Manager CDYOS  

 Michael Fleming, Public Health Epidemiologist DCC 

 Katie Dunstan-Smith Public Health Intelligence Specialist DCC 

 Ruth Kimmins, Joint Commissioning Manager – Children, NECS 

 Linda Bailey, Strategic Lead Progression and Learning DCC 

 Stephen Crass, Policy, Planning and Partnerships Officer DCC 

 Donna Sweet , Service Development Manager TEWV 

 Lynn Hall, Housing Solutions Manager DCC 

 Marie Smith, Housing Solutions Manager DCC 

 Jo-Anne O’Driscoll, Case Management System Co-ordinator CDYOS 

 

We also wish to thank everyone who participated in qualitative focus groups to support this 

project. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

 

Executive Summary 

 
Children and young people who are in contact with the Youth Justice System (YJS) are 
generally a socially excluded population with significant complex health needs. There is 
evidence showing that children and young people who offend are less likely than their peers 
to have their health needs recognised and these needs tend to remain unrecognised and 
unsupported when they enter the YJS. Children who get into trouble are often troubled 
children and those who come into contact with the criminal justice system often have multiple 
needs and difficulties which must be identified and addressed in order to reduce their risk of 
re-offending. 
 
The health outcomes for young people who offend are poor and associated with poorer 
physical, emotional and socio-economic wellbeing. Supporting these vulnerable young 
people is an essential element for the prevention agenda. Tackling the health and wellbeing 
needs of these young people is a complex issue and depends on many underlying factors 
such as: low educational attainment; poor attendance at school; non-participation in post-16 
learning; unidentified speech, language and communication problems; mental health issues 
and increased risk taking behaviour relating to smoking, drug and alcohol use and risky 
sexual activity.   
 
It is also recognised that resilience in young people could contribute to healthy behaviours, 
higher qualifications and skills, better employment, better mental wellbeing, and a quicker 
or more successful recovery from illness. Building resilience in young people may help to 
protect against engaging in risky health behaviour.  Targeting those young people at most 

risk cannot be undertaken in isolation and requires a commitment from partner agencies to 
create a greater impact on reducing the health inequalities and improve the outcomes for 
young people who offend.  
 
County Durham Youth Offending Service (CDYOS) recognises the health needs of young 
people who offend and partners of CDYOS Management Board have a clear commitment 
to improve the health and wellbeing outcomes for young people. To achieve this, CDYOS 
worked closely with Public Health colleagues to undertake a Health Needs Assessment 
(HNA) of young people who offend in County Durham. Key findings and recommendation 
from the HNA will help to inform service development to improve the health and wellbeing 
outcomes and reduce health inequalities for young people who offend in County Durham. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



 

 

 
Summary and Key Statistics of the HNA findings  
 

Young people who offend have a range of needs that affect their overall wellbeing. Key 

findings are summarised from various national and local evidence and data.  

Local Data – Asset (April – September 2015) 

In 2015/16 CDYOS worked with 576 young people who had offended and who received an 

Out of Court Disposal (Pre Caution Disposal, Youth Caution, Youth Conditional Caution) or 

court conviction. 

Analysis was carried out on all 722 Asset assessments (national youth justice criminogenic 

assessment tool) of the 416 young people receiving a Youth Caution, Youth Conditional 

Caution or court conviction in a 6 month period (1 April – 30 September 2015). N.B. Some 

young people received more than 1 assessment in the 6 month period. 

Of the 416 young people who had an Asset assessment (April – 30 September 2015):   

Education / exclusions (not including children who are educated outside of mainstream 

education and in alternative provision, or managed moves) 

 314 (75.5%) were known to have been excluded from school on a fixed term basis 

 These 314 young people had a total of 2063 separate exclusions between them; 

an average of 6.6 fixed term exclusions per child 

 90 young people (21.6%) are known to have been permanently excluded from at least 

one school 

 89 (98.9%) of the 90 had previously been excluded on a fixed term basis 

 16 (17.8%) of the 90 had previously been permanently excluded from two separate 

schools 

 243 (58.4%) of the 416 young people had received between 2 and 10 exclusions in 

their school career to date 

 Over 1 in 10 (14.2%) had received between 21 and 30 exclusions in total 

(These figures include any exclusion that happened in a Co. Durham school during 

any academic year) 

 44 (10.6%) of the 416 were known to have a SEND statement or Education Health 

Care Plan on or since the Jan 2016 census  

 82 (19.7%) of the 416 were not in education, employment or training (NEET) as at 31 

July 2016 (young people aged 16-19 only/16-25 for those with intensive support 

needs)   

 166 (39.9%) of the 416 were identified as being absent from school in the 2014/15 

academic year (latest data available)  

 102 (61.4%) of the 166 met the current definition of being ‘persistently absent’ (pupils 

missing at least 10% of possible sessions) 

 

 

 

Page 116



 

 

Accommodation / Housing (excludes young people in unsuitable housing / sofa surfing) 

 14 (6.1%) of the 229 young people aged 16-18, had a Joint Homeless Protocol (JHP) 

meeting in the period because they were homeless 

 24 (10.5%)  of the 229 young people in the cohort are known to Housing Services 

either through seeking advice on housing or housing benefit, but did not have a JHP 

in place     

 

Health    

 293 (70.4%) of the 416 had mental health as a risk for reoffending; for 65 (22%) of 

the 293 it was a serious risk for reoffending  

 255 (61.3%) of the 416 had substance misuse as a risk for reoffending; for 69 (27%) 

of the 255 it was a serious risk for reoffending 

 72 (17.3%) of the 416 had physical health as a risk for reoffending; for 3 (4%) of the 

72 it was a serious risk for reoffending 

 245 (58.9%) of the 416 had education, training and employment as a risk for 

reoffending; for 44 (18%) it was a serious risk for reoffending 

 76 (18.3%) of the 416 had been a looked after child at some point in their lives 

 

Local Data – AssetPlus 2016 

At the end of 2015 the Youth Justice Board (YJB) began the national roll-out of AssetPlus, 

the new assessment and planning interventions framework for young people in the youth 

justice system (to replace Asset, the previous assessment tool). AssetPlus was 

implemented in CDYOS in November 2015. AssetPlus is designed to provide a holistic end-

to-end assessment and intervention plan, allowing one record to follow a child or young 

person throughout their time in the youth justice system. 

AssetPlus identifies the following areas of safeguarding in relation to young people who 

offend: physical abuse or harm; emotional abuse or harm; sexual abuse/sexual exploitation; 

bullying; homelessness; neglect/domestic abuse. 

Between 1 January and 31 August 2016, CDYOS completed 163 AssetPlus assessments 

on 95 young people (new cases) receiving a Youth Caution, Youth Conditional Caution or 

court conviction in the period. N.B. Some young people received more than one assessment 

in the period. 

Of the 95 young people who had an AssetPlus assessment (1 January - 31 August 2016), 

the following safeguarding concerns were identified:  

 64 (67.4%) physical abuse or harm 

 55 (57.9%) emotional abuse 

 28 (29.5%) sexual abuse/sexual exploitation 

 24 (25.3%) bullying 

 14 (14.7%) homelessness 

 14 (14.7%) neglect/domestic abuse 

 60 (63.2%) of the 95 were assessed as having at least 2 areas of safeguarding 

concern 

Page 117



 

 

 31 (32.6%) of the 95 had at least 3 areas of safeguarding concern 

 

Speech Language and Communication Needs (SLCN) 

 186 AssetPlus SLCN screens were completed on 186 young people receiving a 

Youth Caution, Youth Conditional Caution or court conviction between 1 December 

2015 - 12 January 2017 

 144 (77.4%) of the 186 had an identified speech, language, communication or neuro-

disability need 

 Young people with lower level SLCN are supported by CDYOS case managers. 

Those young people requiring specialist assessment/intervention are referred to the 

Speech and Language Therapist (SLT) in CDYOS 

 122 young people were referred to the SLT in CDYOS between 1 May 2015 - 9 

December 2016 for a specialist SLCN assessment and intervention. 

 The 122 are 13.1% of the 742 young people supervised by CDYOS for that period 

 98 (80%) of the 122 had no prior involvement with core SLT services, despite 

complex SLCN  

 

Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool (CHAT) 2016 

Between 1 January –1 October 2016, CDYOS supervised 239 young people who received 

either an Out of Court Disposal (Pre Caution Disposal, Youth Caution, Youth Conditional 

Caution) or court conviction.  

All 239 were screened for health needs via AssetPlus and 97 (41%) of the 239 were referred 

to CDYOS nurses for a detailed health assessment (via the CHAT, a national tool) due to 

specific health needs. 

Of the 97 young people who had a CHAT assessment (1 Jan – 1 Oct 2016): 

Sexual Health 

 46 (47%)  of the 97 were/had been sexually active 

 24 (52%) of the 46 had had unprotected sex 

 19 (41%) of the 46 had been tested/treated for a sexually transmitted infection 

 34 (74%) of the 46 were sexually active aged 16-18 

 9 (19.6%) of the 46 were sexually active aged 13-15 

 

Physical Health 

 58 (60%) smoked cigarettes 

 41 (42%) drank alcohol/used substances 

 33 (34%) had problems with eyes/hearing/oral health 

 

Substance Misuse (excludes novel psychoactive substances and misuse of prescription 

medication) 

 41 (42%) currently used/have used tobacco 

Page 118



 

 

 30 (31%) currently used alcohol 

 15 (15%) used cannabis 

 14 (14%) had family/friends misusing substances 

 

Mental Health (of those registered with a GP) 

 40 (41%) current/previous contact with GP re mental wellbeing 

 46 (47%) problems feeling sad/angry 

 18 (19%) problems sleeping 

 22 (23%) worrying about things over and over again 

 23 (24%) something very frightening/awful happened to them – or they saw it happen 

to family/friends 

 36 (37%) found it hard to sit still/stop fidgeting 

 32 (33%) found it difficult to concentrate 

 20 (21%) had hurt themselves 

 13 (13%) had tried to take their own life 

 10 (10%) had sometimes thought of taking their own life 

 14 (14%) had been told by a doctor/medical practitioner that they had 

ADHD/hyperactivity disorder 

 

Neuro-disability 

 20 (21%) had had an injury to the head, resulting in being knocked 

out/dazed/confused 

 12 (60%) of the 20 sought medical attention for the head injury 

 

Speech Language Communication Needs (SLCN) 

 25 (26%) had a speech problem/found it hard to say words clearly 

 27 (28%) found it hard to explain things/got stuck on words when speaking 

 

Additional Key Issues  

Looked After Children 

 Analysis of CDYOS caseload on 29 September 2016 (snapshot) showed that 12 

(5.6%) of the 216 young people CDYOS was working with at that point in time were 

currently looked after. 5.6% is in line with national figures for LAC known to youth 

offending services 

 Nationally 0.6% of children in the population are looked after. 

  40 (18.5%) of the 216 had been looked after at some point in their lives. 

 

Participation in Education, Training and Employment 

 Participation in education, training and employment (ETE) of 16-18 year olds 

supervised by CDYOS is significantly lower than the rest of the 16-18 cohort 

Page 119



 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) /At Risk of CSE 

 In August 2015, CDYOS began specifically monitoring young people who offend who 

might also be victims of CSE  

 Since August 2015, 39 young people have been identified as being potential victims 

of CSE (identified by County Durham’s CSE risk assessment matrix) 

 

HNA Consultation Findings 

 Young people, parents/carers and CDYOS staff all identified mental health as a key 

priority 

 They also identified a gap in mental health service provision for young people who 

offend 

 Parents/carers raised concerns about healthy eating and substance misuse 

 Health professionals also noted concerns about poor accessing of primary care 

services by young people in the youth justice system (including GPs and dentists) 

 

Recommendations 
  
Targeting those young people at most risk cannot be undertaken in isolation and requires a 
commitment from partner agencies to create a greater impact on reducing the health 
inequalities and improve the outcomes for young people who offend. 

 
Key recommendations for County Durham can be collated into four key themes: 
 

1. Strategic development  

2. Prevention – including risk taking behaviours and resilience 

3. Operational service delivery 

4. Data improvement  

1. Strategic development 
 

 Ensure sustainability of commissioned services for young people who offend by 

clarifying current statutory commissioning responsibilities at local and national level. 

 Provide integrated Health and Wellbeing Services for young people who offend that 

are jointly planned and commissioned by Durham County Council, NHS England 

Health and Justice and CCGs. This will provide service continuity, maximum 

utilisation of resources and clearly defined pathways in and out of services. 

 Continue to commission dedicated specialist speech and language therapists to meet 

CDYOS need.  

 Commission CDYOS mental health support to provide early intervention and 

specialist support for young people who offend. 

Page 120



 

 

 Ensure all young people with a statement of special educational need or an education 

health care plan (EHCP) continue to be supported through identified pathways into 

adult services.  

 Develop a vulnerable child pathway for County Durham that provides holistic multi-

agency support for vulnerable children and young people, including: 

o Those supervised by the youth offending service 

o Teenage parents 

o Looked after children (LAC)  

o Care leavers 

o Young people with special educational needs 

o Young carers 

o Young people with low levels of educational attainment at 16 

 CDYOS Management Board to ensure that mainstream and specialist services work 

in partnership to ensure that risk factors for offending in pre-teenage children are 

minimised and resilience is promoted. 

 Commission alcohol and substance misuse specialist support within CDYOS for 

young people who offend. 

 Increase participation in education, employment and training of 16-18 year olds who 

are supervised by CDYOS by implementing actions contained in County Durham’s 

Participation Plan.  

 Continue to work with the Missing & Exploited Group, the ERASE Team and CDYOS 

case managers to deliver the County Durham Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy 

2014 – 2017 and action plan. 

 Review provision for Domestic Violence against parents and for young people where 

they are the perpetrator of the violence.  

 Review and improve links between community health and custodial health for young 

people in the youth justice system 

 Complete a detailed review of fixed term exclusion for young people in the youth 

justice system, including those at risk of offending, with the aim of reducing the 

number of fixed term exclusions, improve outcomes and reduce inequality 

 
2. Prevention 

 Provide dedicated CDYOS nurse support to deliver early intervention and provide 

lifestyle support, attend multi-agency meetings and ensure clear pathways are 

developed with the 5-19 growing health school nurse service. 

 Expand the supportive role of volunteer mentoring for young people and families to 

improve access to primary care services and appointments for young people who 

offend. 

 Ensure Durham Resilience Programme is delivered in all mainstream schools to build 

resilience in young people and help prevent / reduce the risk of offending and re-

offending behaviour taking place. 

 Ensure appropriate and timely referrals are made to the DCC Stronger Families 

programme to help reduce the potential for re-offending ‘Family’ risk factors. 

 
 

Page 121



 

 

3. Operational Service Delivery 

 Work with education psychology to develop clear early intervention pathways that 

support schools and young people to manage behaviour to minimise school 

exclusions. 

 Ensure safeguarding pathways remain robust and are reviewed annually. This will 

provide assurance that the needs of young people with concerns regarding physical 

or emotional abuse or neglect, or sexual abuse are being met 

 Provide a sexual health promotion programme / support that has a focus on reducing 

risks of sexually transmitted infections as a motivation for change and not focused on 

reducing risk of pregnancy. 

 
4. Data Improvement 

 Ensure a comprehensive health assessment is completed by appropriately trained 

health staff for all young people on entry to CDYOS to assist with early identification 

of needs, improving quality of care and reducing duplication during transition periods. 

This should be reviewed as necessary. All health assessments should be recorded 

electronically and information shared with relevant agencies. This will be supported 

with appropriate data sharing agreements between agencies.  

 Undertake an audit of health assessment data in April 2018 to identify specific needs 

to inform future planning  

 Continue to screen all young people for speech, language and communication needs 

to ensure early identification of need.  

 
 

Next Steps 
 

The Health Needs Assessment will shape the health services commissioning intentions, in 

respect of young people who offend, from 2017 onwards. 

 

As most health and wellbeing needs are inter-related, solutions to address these needs must 

take a holistic and multi-agency approach. This will require active involvement of 

commissioners and providers. 

 

A proposed interim health model considers the findings within the HNA. A multi-agency 
steering group will support the commissioning and provision of dedicated services for 
CDYOS to include: 
 

 Speech and language therapist 

 Mental health workers  

 Specialist children’s public health nurse 

 Drug and alcohol workers 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 

 

Proposed New CDYOS Health Model 
 

A new co-commissioned model of health provision in CDYOS for 2017-19 has been  
agreed and is currently being implemented. Funding has been secured from a range of 
sources for the 2 year period. Background, challenges and opportunities of the new model 
are outlined in the following report: ‘Health Provision in CDYOS – a new model for 2017/19’. 
The additional +1 year in the current HDFT contract for 2018/19 is to be confirmed. 
 
Progress to date 
 
Considerable progress has been made to develop the new model for 2017/19. We are very 
grateful to all partners who have risen to the challenge to pool resources, ‘bend’ currently 
commissioned services, and co- commission the innovative new provision. 
 
The contribution of Public Health to improve outcomes for young people in the youth justice 
system has been significant – not only in relation to the HNA. Public Health have provided 
80k non-recurrent funding to support a nurse post for 2 years; aligned that function to the 
current 0-19 contract with HDFT until March 2019; and included 2fte substance misuse posts 
for CDYOS in the new Drug and Alcohol service specification. 
 
Challenges and risks have been acknowledged and mitigated, including: 

 Safeguarding vulnerable young people in the youth justice system 

 Meeting their health needs to reduce reoffending 

 Reputational risk to CDYOS partnership  

 Potential inspection risk if CDYOS has no health provision post April. 
 

Opportunities include: 

 Development of a SLCN Strategy for Co Durham 

 Current core SLT service contract review (2017) 

 Sexual Health Service Review (currently underway) 

 New Drug and Alcohol Service commission (go live Oct 2017) 

 School Nursing Service review (2019) 

 CAMHS Transformation funding (2017 onwards) 

 Liaison and Diversion Service (extension to March 2018) 
 

Partnership Involvement 
 
Meetings/discussions have involved the following commissioners: 

 CDYOS 

 Public Health, DCC 

 DCC Commissioners  

 NHS England (Health and Justice) 

 CCGs (DDES and NDCCG) 

 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 

 

Health Steering Group 
 
The Health Steering Group will be a subgroup of the Management Board to ensure robust 
governance. 
 
 
CDYOS Health Provision 2017/19 
 
CDYOS Health provision will be co-commissioned by DCC Public Health, NHS England, 
CDYOS, the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner, and CCGs.  An 
overarching document which sets out the model, functions, service specifications, 
performance management, and information sharing agreements is in place. All 
secondments to CDYOS will be subject to SLAs with commissioners and providers. These 
will include ISAs/DSAs. This approach will ensure an innovative partnership approach, value 
for money, and robust performance management framework to monitor impact and 
outcomes. 

 
Funding has been secured from a range of sources to support some posts. Funding sources 
are outlined below. Other posts/functions will be provided by shaping commissioned 
services to address the needs identified in the HNA. 

 
The model offers the opportunity for joint work, co-commissioning and innovation – thinking 
‘outside the box’ to develop and implement a new model to meet the health needs of young 
people who offend.   

 
The HNA identified the need for specific functions in CDYOS. Based on the findings of the 
HNA, CDYOS Health provision for 2017/19 will be: 

 1fte Speech and Language Therapist 

 1fte Specialist Children’s Public Health Nurse  

 2fte Drug and Alcohol staff  

 2fte Health Care Support Workers (Mental Health)  

 1.5fte Liaison & Diversion Link Workers   
 

Discussions will need to take place at strategic level about current commissioning 
responsibilities to ensure sustainability beyond March 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 124



 

 

Table of provision 
 

Post/Function Cost/Source 
of funding 

Provider Comments 

1fte Speech & 
Language 
Therapist 
(Band 6) 
 
2017/18 
 

c.27k (0.64 
CDYOS); 
0.36 NTHFT 
 
CDYOS non-
recurrent 
funding 

NTHFT Current CDYOS DCC contract 
extended for 8 months (April – 
end Nov 2017).  
 
CDYOS post/function to be 
incorporated into core SLT 
contract. 

2fte Health 
Care Support 
Workers 
(Mental Health) 
(Band 3) 
 
 
2017/19 

c.60k per year 
for 2fte 
 
NHS England  
Health & 
Justice 
 
Non Recurring 

TEWV 
 

NHS England Health & Justice to 
commission/fund 3fte for Durham 
& Darlington YOS (2fte CDYOS; 
1fte DYOS). Total cost c.87k per 
year. 
 
TEWV to employ & align to L&D. 
 
NHS England Health & Justice to 
fund via CAMHS Transformation. 
 
 

2fte Drug & 
Alcohol staff 
 
Oct 2017 
onwards 

No cost to 
CDYOS 

Provider 
tbc 

2fte young people’s posts to be 
included in new Drug and Alcohol 
service spec (Public Health 
commission). 
 
Posts in CDYOS from Oct 2017 – 
for duration of contract 

1fte Specialist 
Children’s 
Public Health 
Nurse (Band 6) 
 
 
 
2017/18 - 
2018/19(TBC) 
 

C.60k per 
year. 
 
(40k Public 
Health; 20k 
OPCVC) for 2 
years 
 
Non –
recurrent 
2017/19 only 

Harrogate 
and District  
Foundation 
Trust  

Public Health non -recurrent 
funding:  80k (40k per year) for 
17/18 and 18/19. Public Health 
commission. 
 
Shortfall of 20k per year to be 
funded by the OPCVC. 
 
Post to be aligned to HDFT from 
April 2017  

1.5fte Liaison 
and Diversion 
Workers 
 
2017/18 
 
 

No cost to 
CDYOS – in 
L&D structure  

TEWV L&D model includes 1.5fte staff 
to link with CDYOS and 0.5fte 
Darlington YOS. Links to Police 
custody suites/courts etc. 
 
Additional capacity/functions – 
not full time in the YOS. 

 
 
 

 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
  
26 July 2017 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board Big Tent 
Engagement Event 2017 
 

 
 
 

Report of Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager – Policy, Planning & 
Partnerships, Transformation & Partnerships, Durham County 
Council 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) with 
details of the HWB Big Tent Engagement Event 2017 and the agenda for the event, 
attached at Appendix 2, for agreement. 

 
Background 
 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board host an annual Big Tent Engagement Event to gather 

the views of stakeholders.  This will be the sixth annual engagement event. 
 
3. In 2016, the Big Tent Event was attended by over 200 stakeholders ranging from 

service users, patients, carers, representatives from the voluntary and community 
sector and other NHS and local authority partners. 

 
4. The five previous Big Tent events have been facilitated by a representative from the 

Local Government Association.  
 

5. The event will also provide HWB partners with an opportunity to inform the attendees 
about the services and projects which are being delivered, as part of the HWB 
priorities.  There is also opportunity for stalls for example past events have included the 
Integrated Needs Assessment, Health Checks and Locate. County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) have requested a stall with the aim of 
recruiting new public membership to the Trust Board. 

 
Sustainable Community Strategy  

 

6. A review of the Council’s strategic planning framework has taken place, incorporating 
the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS), Council Plan and thematic plans. 

 

7. The Big Tent Event 2017 will provide an engagement opportunity to inform the review 
of the JHWS for 2018-21, aligning priorities to the new vision of Durham County 
Council, the Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS), Council and thematic plans. 

 

8. A revised vision is in development for the County Durham Partnership and will feature 
in the Big Tent event to engage partners and consider the implications for looking 
ahead.   

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 13



 

 

 

Big Tent Engagement Event 2017 
 
Date and Venue 
 

9. The Big Tent Engagement Event 2017 will take place on 3rd October 2017, 12.00 pm – 
4.00 pm at the Durham Centre in Belmont, Durham. This date has been held in the 
diaries of Health and Wellbeing Board members.   

 

10. The event is booked for 200 delegates, which will include service users, patients and 
carers. 

 
Programme for the event 
 

11. A programme for the Big Tent event 2017 is attached at Appendix 2, with further details 
outlined below. 

 
Facilitation 
 
12. Kay Burkett from the Local Government Association has agreed to facilitate the event.  

She provide a broad national overview, and include any relevant areas of best practice.  
 

13. She will also ensure there is continuity throughout the day and introduce the workshops 
as well as offer a valuable external perspective on the issues being discussed and 
points raised throughout the day in providing observations as part of the final session.   

 

Key Note Speakers 
 
14. The key messages from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, as part of the 

Integrated Needs Assessment (INA), have influenced the key note themes for the 
event: 
 

1. Mental Health 
 
Evidenced by: 

 Approximately 10% of children aged 5-16 years have a classifiable 
mental health disorder. 

 Estimates suggest that 1 in 4 adults will experience mental health 
problems at any one time. For County Durham, this represents over 
100,000 people aged 18+.  

 The number of referrals for Adult Mental Health Professional (AMHP) 
assessments for adults with mental health needs increased by 47.1% 
when comparing 2010/11 with 2016/17, and by 16.2% when comparing 
2015/16 figures with 2016/17. 

 The suicide rate in County Durham (15.7 per 100,000 population) is 
higher than the England average of 10.1 and the North East 12.4. 
(2013-2015) 

 Nationally, life expectancy is on average 10 years lower for people with 
mental health problems due to poor physical health. 

 People with a severe mental illness are: 
o 5 times as likely to suffer from diabetes. 
o 4 times as likely to die from cardiovascular or respiratory 

disease. 

Page 128



 

 

 

o 8 times as likely to suffer Hepatitis C. 
o 15 times as likely to be HIV positive. 

 Estimates suggest that around 7% or 22,000 people aged 18-64 in 
County Durham are socially isolated. 

 Around 20% or 19,000 people aged 65+ in County Durham are lonely, 
with around 10% or over 10,000 of those experiencing intense 
loneliness. 
 

2. Tobacco  
 
Evidenced by: 

 Smoking prevalence rates in County Durham are falling over time. The 
rate has reduced from 22.2% (2012) to 17.9% (2016). Rates are no 
longer statistically significantly different from England (15.5%). 

 Smoking adds an additional £16.8 million spend on social care for 
adults aged 50 and over in County Durham. 

 In County Durham, around 1,100 people a year die from causes 
attributable to smoking. 

 Smoking attributable death rates per 100,000 (2013-15) were 
significantly higher in County Durham (381) than England (284) but are 
falling over time; between 2007-09 and 2013-15, the rate fell by 31.3 
per 100,000 (8%) 

 Between 2013 and 2015, 33% of all adult deaths (35+ years) in County 
Durham were smoking-related. 

 For 2013-15, deaths from lung cancer (82.0 per 100,000) and chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD, 80.4 per 100,000) were 
significantly higher in County Durham than England. 

 Smoking attributable deaths from heart disease (35.1 per 100,000) and 
stroke (13.6 per 100,000) are significantly higher in County Durham 
than England for 2013-15. 

 Levels of women smoking at time of delivery are worse than regional 
averages and significantly worse than the average across England. 

 There is a national target for all areas to reduce smoking prevalence to 
5% (for County Durham this was agreed to be by 2030). 

 
Work is currently taking place to finalise the speakers for the event. 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board Priorities Consultation 
 
15. The draft Health and Wellbeing Board strategic priorities were discussed at a HWB 

development session on 5th July 2017.  Further work will take place to develop these 
priorities and they will then be the subject to further consultation with wider partners 
and members of the public at the Big Tent 2017. Big Tent attendees will be asked to 
vote on their top priorities for Health and Wellbeing.  Other consultation events take 
place, which feed into the development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
including the Gypsy, Roma, Travellers fun day in the summer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



 

 

 

Themed Workshops 
 

16. The themes for the workshops are outlined below:   
 
 

1. Adult and Young Carers  
 

 Inform people about the services which are available for carers in 
County Durham.  

 Gather views on the issues affecting carers and the options and views 
on potential areas of development to improve services for carers and 
their families. 

 The information gathered will inform the review of carers services which 
is due to take place in late 2017. 

  
 The workshop will be led by Paul McAdam, Commissioning Policy and 

Planning Officer, Durham County Council (DCC) working with colleagues in 
Durham County Carers Support and the Bridge Young Carers. 

 
2. Children’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 

 Inform people about the ‘’Thrive’’ model for children’s mental health. 
This is a project led by the Healthy Child Programme Board and the 
Children and Young People‘s Mental Health Transformation Group 
which undertakes a ‘’whole system’’ approach to meeting the needs of 
children and young people’s emotional wellbeing and mental health. 

 The workshop will discuss the Thrive model with the aim of identifying 
how it can be progressed in County Durham. 

 How to implement Thrive to link mental health services together in a 
more cohesive way. 

 
  The Workshop will be led by Gill O’Neill, Consultant in Public Health working 

 with Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) colleagues.  
 

3. Dementia 

 Inform people about the Dementia Advisor Service and the Fire & 
Rescue Service’s Dementia Friendly Communities project which is 
delivered in partnership with the Alzheimer’s Society. 

 The Dementia Advisor Service was launched in County Durham on 
29th February 2016, being delivered by the Alzheimer’s Society. 

 The workshop will garner attendee’s opinions on the service and 
suggest improvements which will be fed into the review of the service 
by commissioners. 

 The Dementia Friendly Communities project is supported by the 
Dementia Advisor Service and will give a practical example of the work 
being done in communities. 

 
The workshop will be led by Neil Jarvis, Strategic Commissioning Manager 
DCC along with colleagues from County Durham and Darlington Fire & 
Rescue Service. 

 
 
 

Page 130



 

 

 

4. Adults Mental Health and Wellbeing 

 Inform people about the work being carried out which focuses on Adult 
Mental Health prevention and the promotional activities being delivered. 

 Inform people about suicide prevention work which partners are 
delivering across the county. 

 Discuss how physical health and mental health impact on one another. 
 
The workshop will be led by David Shipman, Strategic Commissioning 
Manager DCC along with colleagues from Public Health.  

 
5. Making Smoking History in County Durham 

 Share evidence and explore the issues which will prevent partners from 
achieving the ambition of 5% smoking prevalence in County Durham by 
2030 e.g. smoking in pregnancy and illicit tobacco sales. 

 How can we work together to reduce smoking levels in more socially 
disadvantaged areas of County Durham. 
 

  The workshop will be led by Dianne Woodall, Public Health Portfolio Lead – 
 Tobacco Control. 

 
6. Healthy Weight and Obesity 

 Inform people about the work of the Healthy Weight Alliance which 
emerged from a national whole systems obesity pilot. 

 How we can work together to tackle the obesity issues which are 
prevalent across many parts of County Durham. 

 Including in the workshop will be a focus on childhood obesity 0 – 2. 

 The early years work will provide an overview on physical literacy and 
the physical activity environment. 
 

  The workshop will be led by Karen McKabe, Public Health Portfolio Lead  
  with colleagues from Children and Young People’s Services. 
   

7. Active Durham Partnership 

 Inform people about the work of the partnership how it engages with 
organisations across County Durham to promote and support physical 
activity. Encouraging people of all ages, background and abilities to 
‘Start, Stay and Succeed’  

 Identifying how people being more physically active contributes to the 
county’s wider strategic outcomes in addition to individual’s health and 
wellbeing. 

 The workshop will identify how a network of organisations can work 
together to improve the work of the partnership, through the 
maximisation of resources. 

 The workshop will also identify how the partnership can work better to 
empower individuals and communities to change their behaviours and 
improve their lives. 

 
The workshop will be led by Annie Dolphin, Independent Chair of the 
Active Durham Partnership, with support from DCC Culture and Sport 
colleagues. 

 
 

Page 131



 

 

 

Stalls  
 
17. The event will also provide HWB partners with an opportunity to inform the wider 

network about the services and projects which are being delivered, and which link to 
the HWB priorities.  These will include a stall to inform people about the Great North 
Care Record which provides information about the patient in a way which is accessible 
to professionals across health services, enabling the health care specialist to see the 
right information at the right time, so they can manage the patients care better; and 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) have requested a stall 
with the aim of recruiting new public membership to the Trust Board. 

 
Attendees  
 
18. A list of organisations/groups that are proposed to be invited to the Big Tent Event is 

attached at Appendix 3, although it should be noted that this is currently under review. 
 
Recommendations 
 
19. The Health and Wellbeing Board are requested to:  

 

 Agree the agenda for the Big Tent Event 2017 (Appendix 2) 

 Agree the workshops and the two key note speakers for the event. 

 Provide any comments on proposed organisations/groups to be invited to 
the Big Tent Event (Appendix 3) 

 
 

Contacts:  
Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager - Partnerships and Community Engagement, 
Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council 
Tel: 03000 267312     

  

Page 132



 

 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

  
Finance – No direct implications. 
 
Staffing – No direct implications. 
 
Risk - No direct implications.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - The key equality and diversity 
protected characteristic groups are considered as part of the process to identify the 
groups/organisations to be invited to the Big Tent Event 2017. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment will be completed for Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 2018-21. 
 
Accommodation - No direct implications. 
 
Crime and Disorder – No direct implications. 
  
Human Rights - No direct implications. 
 
Consultation – Feedback from the Big Tent Event 2017 will inform the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2018-21 to ensure the strategy continues to meet the needs of the 
people in the local area and remains fit for purpose.  It will also influence other relevant 
plans and strategies of partner organisations of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Procurement – The Health and Social Care Act 2012 outlines that commissioners should 
take regard of the JHWS when exercising their functions in relation to the commissioning 
of health and social care services. 
 
Feedback from the Big Tent Event may lead to changes in service delivery as part of the 
relevant plans and strategies of partner organisations of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
Any procurement implications will be considered as part of the individual potential changes 
to service delivery. 
  
Disability Issues – The needs of disabled people are reflected in the JHWS.  The Durham 
Centre has disability access and a hearing loop system is in place in the auditorium where 
main presentations and workshops will take place. 
 
Legal Implications - The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on local 
authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to prepare a JHWS. The local 
authority must publish the JHWS. The Health and Wellbeing Board lead the development 
of the JHWS.  
  

Page 133



 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 – HWB Big Tent Event Agenda 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board Engagement Event 2017 

Tuesday 3rd October 2017, 12pm – 4pm 
 

The Durham Centre, Belmont Industrial Estate, Durham, DH1 1TN 
 

Agenda 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Time Activity Lead 

12.00 -  
12.45pm 

Registration, buffet lunch/ and networking 
 

 

12.45pm Welcome from Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels 
MBE - Portfolio Holder for 
Adult and Health Services 
 

12.50pm Introduction to Event 

 

Kay Burkett  
Local Government 
Association 
 

1.00pm Key Note Speakers 

 Mental Health  

 Tobacco   
 

Key Note Speakers  

 
 
2.00pm 
 
 

Group work: 
  
Themed Workshops  

 

 Adult and Young Carers 

 Children’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 

 Adults Mental Health and Wellbeing 

 Dementia 

 Making Smoking History in County Durham 

 Healthy Weight and Obesity 

 Active Durham Partnership 

 

 
 
Facilitators 

3.45pm Next Steps and close Kay Burkett  
Local Government 
Association 
 

Page 134



 

 

 

 
Appendix 3 - Proposed Groups / Organisations to be invited to the Big Tent Event 
2017 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board LifeLine 

Officer Health and Wellbeing Group School nurses 

Safeguarding Adults Board Personal School Advisors 

Local Safeguarding Children Board Care Home Association 

Children and Families Partnership Home Care Provider Forum 

Community Wellbeing Partnership Local Eye Health Network 

Mental Health Partnership Board Local Dental Network 

Countywide Durham and Darlington 
Service User and Carer Forum 

Local Pharmacy Network 

Learning Disability Engagement Forum Investing in Children 

Corporate Management Team Citizen’s Panel 

Transformation and Partnerships   

Economic Partnership Patient Reference Groups 

Environment Partnership JobCentre Plus 

Safe Durham Partnership National Probation Service 

Children and Families Partnership Community Rehabilitation Company 

Integration Board Local A&E Delivery Board 

Integration Steering Group Local A&E Delivery Operational Group 

Better care Fund Monitoring Group  

County Durham Partnership Area Action Partnerships 

Dementia Group Making Changes Together Group 

Suicide and Self Harm Group Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health, Emotional Wellbeing & 
Resilience Group 

Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat 
Steering Group 

Tobacco Control Alliance 

Adults Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Group 

Healthy Weight Alliance 

Food Partnership Active Durham Partnership 

County Durham Mental Health Provider 
& Stakeholder Forum 

3 Rivers Local Nature Partnership 

County Durham Public Mental Health 
Forum 

INA/Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
Project Groups 

Mental Health and Emotional 
Wellbeing Group Network 

Healthy Child Programme Board 

JHWS Strategy Development Group Police and Crime Commissioner 

System Resilience Group Durham Constabulary 

Strategic Multi Agency Continuing 
Health Care Group  

County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service 

Intermediate Care Plus Operational 
Steering Group 

North East Regional Faiths Network 

Planned Care Board VCS organisations including: 
 
County Durham Carers Support 
Durham Community Action 
Cornforth Partnership  

End of Life Care Group 

Joint Commissioning Group 

AWH Overview & Scrutiny 

CYP Overview & Scrutiny 

Page 135



 

 

 

County Durham Members of 
Parliament 

Visual Impairment Problem Solving 
County Durham 
Age UK County Durham 
Pioneering Care Centre 
YMCA 
Collaborate Durham (Consortia of 
organisations working with 
homelessness) 
Durham Deafened Support 
DISC 
Waddington Street Centre (mental 
health support) 
Macmillan Cancer Support 
Stonham (housing support) 
Aspire (learning, support, wellbeing) 
Upper Teesdale Agricultural Support 
Services (mental health support) 
The Bridge, Family Action (young 
carers) 
University of the 3rd Age 
Alzheimer’s Society 
 

Equality and Diversity Protected 
Characteristic Groups 

Gay Advice  

Healthwatch County Durham 

County Durham & Darlington Local 
Medical Committee 

GPs / Practice Managers 

National Housing Federation (includes 
local Housing Providers) 

Public Health Team 

Neighbourhood Services, DCC 

Regeneration & Economic 
Development, DCC 

 
 

Page 136



 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Sugar Smart Programme 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  

 

Purpose of the report 

 
1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update from the Sugar 

Smart programme in preparation for a countywide launch.  
 

Background 
 
2 In County Durham 24% of 4-5 year olds, 37% of 10-11 year olds have excess 

weight and an estimated 68% of adults. If an individual is overweight or obese 
they are more prone to a range of serious health problems such as 
cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes; as well as psychological and 
social problems such as stress and depression.  

 
3 There are significant costs to the wider economy arising from chronic ill 

health. The costs of decreased household incomes, earlier retirement and 
higher dependence on state benefits such as ill health or unemployment 
benefits that arise from obesity-related conditions also need to be considered.   

4 County Durham is part of Public Health England’s (PHE) three year 
programme into obesity systems, delivered by Leeds Beckett University and is 
developing a whole range of approaches to systematically tackle obesity.  

Sugar reduction 

5 The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition has concluded that the 
recommended average population maximum intake of sugar should be 
halved: it should not exceed 5% of total dietary energy. Nationally sugar 
intakes of all population groups are above the recommendations, contributing 
between 12 to 15% of energy.  

 
6 Consumption of sugar and sugar sweetened drinks is particularly high in 

school age children. Sugar consumption tends to be highest among the most 
disadvantaged who also experience a higher prevalence of tooth decay and 
obesity and its health consequences.  

 
7 Public Health England (2016) state in very stark terms that “this is too serious 

a problem to be solved by relying only on individuals to change their 
behaviour. Implementing a broad programme of measures to affect the areas 

Page 137

Agenda Item 14



 

that influence our sugar consumption…as well supporting people to make 
healthier choices would have significant impact across population health”.  

8 HM Government Childhood Obesity Plan (2016) states that we should provide 
practical steps to help people lower their own and their families sugar intake. It 
states that we need to harness the true potential of the public sector to reduce 
childhood obesity. “Every public sector setting, from leisure centres to 
hospitals, should have a food environment designed so the easy choices are 
also the healthy ones”. National consumer polling shows that people want 
lower sugar products and smaller portion sizes. 

 
Sugar smart 
 
9 Sugar Smart UK is a campaign from Sustain and the Jamie Oliver Food 

Foundation to help local areas across the UK to tackle excessive sugar 
consumption. The campaign encourages local organisations to take varied 
actions to help their communities reduce their sugar consumption.   

10 Durham Community Action (DCA) supported by Durham County Council’s 
(DCC) public health team are leading a consortium of statutory and voluntary 
services to deliver this national campaign across County Durham.  Partners 
include; County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT), 
Taylor Shaw, Wellbeing for Life and DCC departments such as Culture and 
Sport, Facilities/Catering, Procurement and Environmental Health. DCA will 
seek to strengthen and grow this partnership as the initiative evolves. 

11 This project will report into the County Durham Healthy Weight Alliance and 
Food Durham.   

12 Sugar Smart aims to encourage organisations to consider sugar reduction and 
the health of their communities as part of their daily business. Sugar Smart 
does not require a financial resource to deliver it. 

13  The Sugar Smart campaign recommends specific action plans, which offer a 
broad range of approaches to reduce our sugar intake. Details of the 
proposed programme will be shared at a launch on the 10 July (part of the 
whole systems approach to obesity event). Some initial DCC activities include: 

 procurement have developed a sustainable and healthier procurement 
policy 

 catering continue to make the healthy choice easier and are considering 
a ‘sugar levy’; sugary drinks increase by 20p and sugar free alternatives 
reduced by 20p. This would be based on the programme developed by 
Teesside University 

 culture and sport are proposing to trial reduced sugar vending options 
and are considering including the Government Buying Standard for Food 
in future catering contracts 

 environmental health are considering promoting healthier 
catering/trading through their licensing visits  

 

Page 138



 

14  Proposed partner activities include: 

 CDDFT will implement a healthy procurement policy, removing sugary 
foods from point of sales. 

 Wellbeing for life will reduce the sugar content of cookery classes. 

 Taylor Shaw will aim to reduce the sugar content of their menus. 

15 Improvements to the food environment will impact upon the health and 
productivity of the workforce and this supports DCC’s commitment to the 
Better Health at Work programme. 

16 Sugar smarts aligns to DCC’s efforts to ‘lead by example’ in relation to a 
healthier workforce and supports the recommendations made in the Director 
of Public Health annual report ‘Work and You’. 

17 Sugar Smart will be underpinned by a communication campaign (see 
Appendix 2) that will raise the public profile of the important work undertaken 
by DCC and its partners.  

Proposed outcomes 

18 Making healthy options available in the public sector is a key strategy by HM 
Government Childhood Obesity plan and sugar reduction is seen by PHE as 
an integral part to improving population health. An impact could be seen 
across a range of public health outcomes measures: 

 2.06 - child excess weight in 4-5 and 10-11 year olds 

 4.02 - proportion of five year old children free from dental decay 

 2.12 - excess weight in adults 

 1.09 - the percent of working days lost due to sickness absence 

19  Sugar smarts will be reviewed quarterly to assess its uptake, impact upon our 
communities and its contributions towards the associated DCC programmes. 

Recommendations 

20 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

a) Support the launch of the Sugar Smart initiative. 
 

b) Ask all partner organisations of the HWB to make a pledge based on 
the sugar smart action plan which will support achieving the goal to 
reduce sugar consumption in County Durham over the next 12 months. 
Possible pledges include: increasing the volume of sugar free drinks 
available, reduce the portion size of sugary products, provide healthier 
choices as the default choice i.e. in a meal deal, and remove the 
promotion of high sugar products.  

c) Agree to receive updates on progress to retain oversight of 
developments as appropriate. 

Contact:    Chris Woodcock, Public Health Portfolio Lead 
Tel:            03000 267 672 

Page 139



 

Appendix 1 

 
Finance - Promoting healthier choices will positively impact the sales of healthier 
food and drinks. 
 
Staffing - None. 
 
Risk – None. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - Public health aims to 
reduce inequalities and improve health outcomes by reviewing PH outcomes data 
and developing relevant policies, strategies and intentions as appropriate.  
 
Accommodation - N/A 
 
Crime and Disorder - N/A 
 
Human Rights - N/A 
 
Consultation - N/A 
 
Procurement - Sustainable and healthier procurement policy adopted across DCC.   
 
Disability Issues - None    
 
Legal Implications - None 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



 

Appendix 2 

 

Marketing 

Plan 2017 
 

 

 

Updated: 05/05/2017 

Version: 1.0 

 

 

Background and key drivers 

P
age 141



 

1. In the UK, the NHS spends between £5 and 9 billion a year treating obesity and related complications such as Type 2 Diabetes. 26,000 children are 
admitted to hospital for multiple tooth extraction under general anaesthetic caused by excessive sugar consumption. One in every five children starts 
primary schools overweight or obese and by the time they reach secondary school it’s one in three. 

 
2. In County Durham 24% of 4-5 year olds, 37% of 10-11 year olds have excess weight and an estimated 68% of adults. If an individual is overweight or 

obese they are more prone to a range of serious health problems such as cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes; as well as psychological and 
social problems such as stress and depression.  

 
3. There are significant costs to the wider economy arising from chronic ill health. The costs of decreased household incomes, earlier retirement and 

higher dependence on state benefits such as ill health or unemployment benefits that arise from obesity-related conditions also need to be 
considered.   

 
4. County Durham is part of Public Health England’s (PHE) three year programme into obesity systems, delivered by Leeds Beckett University and is 

developing a whole range of approaches to systematically tackle obesity.  
 
Sugar reduction 
5. The Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition has concluded that the recommended average population maximum intake of sugar should be halved: 

it should not exceed 5% of total dietary energy. Nationally sugar intakes of all population groups are above the recommendations, contributing 
between 12 to 15% of energy.  

 
6. Consumption of sugar and sugar sweetened drinks is particularly high in school age children. Sugar consumption tends to be highest among the most 

disadvantaged who also experience a higher prevalence of tooth decay and obesity and its health consequences.  
 
7. Public Health England (2016) state “this is too serious a problem to be solved by relying only on individuals to change their behaviour. Implementing a 

broad programme of measures to affect the areas that influence our sugar consumption…as well supporting people to make healthier choices would 
have significant impact across population health”.  

 
8. HM Government Childhood Obesity Plan (2016) states that we should provide practical steps to help people lower their own and their families sugar 

intake. It states that we need to harness the true potential of the public sector to reduce childhood obesity. “Every public sector setting, from leisure 
centres to hospitals, should have a food environment designed so the easy choices are also the healthy ones”. National consumer polling shows that 
people want lower sugar products and smaller portion sizes. 

 

Sugar smart 

P
age 142



 

9.      To support the reduction of excessive sugar consumption, a campaign from Sustain and the Jamie Oliver Food Foundation -Sugar Smart UK has been 
established to help local areas across the UK. The campaign encourages local organisations to take varied actions to help their communities reduce 
their sugar consumption. 

 
10     Durham Community Action (DCA) supported by Durham County Council’s (DCC) public health team are leading a consortium of statutory and 

voluntary services to deliver this national campaign across County Durham.  Partners include; County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
(CDDFT), Taylor Shaw, Wellbeing for Life and DCC departments such as Culture and Sport, Facilities/Catering, Procurement and Environmental Health. 
DCA will seek to strengthen and grow this partnership as the initiative evolves. 

 

Stakeholders and partners 

 COUNTY DURHAM AND DARLINGTON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST  

 CVS 

 Durham County Council – various departments including Sport and Leisure 

 Durham University 

 Leeds Beckett University  

 NHS (in County Durham not listed) 

 NHS DURHAM DALES, EASINGTON AND SEDGEFIELD CCG  

 North Durham CCG 

 Schools 
This stakeholder list is not exhaustive and will be expanded to include all individuals and groups DCC needs to communicate and work with before 

and during the project. It will be updated on a regular basis. 

 

Target audience 

 AAPs 

 Colleges / students 

 CVS 

 DCC / commissioned services / staff 

 Durham University / student unions / students 

 Employers  

 Families – parents and carers 

 Members 

P
age 143



 

 NHS / patients 

 Primary schools / pupils 

 Public sector catering – schools (Taylor Shaw), council, NHS, Police and Fire  

 Restaurants and food outlets 

 Secondary schools / pupils 

 Customers of sport and leisure facilities  

 Tourism and venues – council (e.g. Gala Theatre ) and non-council attractions, events and festivals 
 

Objectives 

 To raise awareness of the effects medium to long-term excessive sugar consumption can have on children, young people and adults 

 To highlight the impact on individuals, employers and on the NHS services 

 To promote the app which indicates the levels of sugar contained in food and drink 

 To encourage individuals to make ‘better’ choices when buying food and drink to move away from those containing high levels of sugar 

 To encourage alternative behaviours of employers and businesses in changing their food, snacks and refreshment offers (as appropriate) that 
contain lower or reduced sugar and to consider healthier alternatives 

 

Key Messages 

 There are surprising amounts of sugar in everyday food and drink 

 Too much sugar can increase the risk of serious diseases like heart disease, type 2 diabetes, some cancers and is harmful to dental health 

 Downloading the free Sugar Smart app can help reveal the levels of sugar contained in food and drink 

 Explain what being Sugar Smart means 

 Encourage businesses, particularly food businesses and other partners to sign up to being Sugar Smart  

 Offer healthy options 

 Link to other comms that seek to encourage a healthy lifestyle 

 Introduce an ‘accreditation’ or ‘standard’ which food businesses could use to promote themselves as Sugar Smart  
 

Encourage involvement  

 Encourage schools to get involved and engage with their students/pupils to think differently 

P
age 144



 

 Encourage food businesses to adopt a ‘Sugar Smart’ approach by selling healthier option food and drink 

 Encourage schools, colleges, the university, hospitals and employers to reduce unhealthy options through their vending options  
  

Change behaviour  

 Focus on providing support and encouraging individuals and businesses to the viable options available to them and to ensure they know where to 
get that support from 

 

Performance measurement 

 Numbers of businesses that engage with the service 

 Number of webpage hits 

 Time spent on the web pages 

 Numbers accessing the schools extranet 

 Number of views on the videos embedded on the pages (if applicable) 
 

Key dates and Milestones 

Launch 10th July 

Budget 

Budget is to be confirmed 

Key contacts 

Chris Woodcock 

P
age 145



 

ACTION PLAN 

Date   Action/ method of 

communication 

Notes: include target audience where appropriate an 

rationale for the action 

Action by Estimate costs  Job ref 

from TTD 

External communications. 

 Develop landing page with 

ancillary pages (if required) about 

Sugar Smart on DCC site 

Provides a focal point for the content  Nil  

 DCC social media feeds Using key dates (where appropriate), post reminders to 

businesses on various compliance requirements  

 Nil  

 DCC website carousel Lead people to the landing pages at launch and then a 

planned intervals 

 Nil  

 DC News article Explain the benefits of Sugar Smart and where to find 

out more 

 Nil  

 AAP social media Blanket all APPs    Nil  

 AAP newsletters article As above  Nil  

 Press release  Periodic reminders in line with key dates   Nil  

 Awareness raising display at 

events 

Opportunities to provide printed materials and 

encourage people to visit the site 

 See printed 

materials 

 

 Printed materials Consider printing downloaded materials from PHE to 

support event attendance 

 Tbc  

P
age 146



 

Date   Action/ method of 

communication 

Notes: include target audience where appropriate an 

rationale for the action 

Action by Estimate costs  Job ref 

from TTD 

 Schools extranet Push information through the intranet using key 

messages and tools identified by Taylor Shaw 

 Nil  

 Free listings in partner and target 

audience publications 

And partner intranet sites 

Widen the audience and reach   Nil  

 Identify and align message with 

other campaigns  

Ensure campaigns with a link carry the message of 

Sugar Smart 

 Nil  

 Launch event 10 July – gear 

appropriate activity listed above 

to support the launch 

Consider key stakeholders to invite for a photo 

opportunity 

 Possible cost for 

photographer 

 

 Consider paid for promotions – to 

push key social media messages, 

consider outdoor media. 

 

 

 

 

 

Broaden the audience reinforcing the messages being 

delivered through other means  

 tbc  

P
age 147



 

Date   Action/ method of 

communication 

Notes: include target audience where appropriate an 

rationale for the action 

Action by Estimate costs  Job ref 

from TTD 

Internal communications 

 Buzz Make those working with the target audiences aware 

of Sugar Smart 

 Nil  

 Members Update Ensure Members are aware of the work done to 

support reductions in sugar consumption 

 Nil  

 Staff intranet Make those working with target audiences aware of 

Sugar Smart and the key messages 

 Nil  

 Notice boards and reception areas Provide printed materials for locations   See printed 

materials above 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 148



 

 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
26 July 2017 
 
Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Report 2016-17 
 

 

 
 

Report of Jane Geraghty Independent Chair Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

 
Purpose of the Report 

 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) 
Annual Report 2016-2017 and in doing so provide information on the current 
position of the County Durham Safeguarding Adults Board and outline 
achievements during 2016/17, and plans for 2017/18. 

Background 

 

2 Durham County Council (DCC) and its partner agencies continue with their 
commitment and membership of the SAB and this is reflected in compliance 
reporting into the SAB on a six monthly basis.  

3 The Care Act 2014 placed SABs upon a statutory footing with a requirement 
to produce and publicise an annual report. Supplementary Care & Support 
Statutory Guidance informs that the SAB Annual Report should have 
prominence on each core member’s website and be made available to other 
agencies. 

4 It is expected that the SAB Annual Report evidences specific areas.These are 
covered by the Annual Report and include: 

 Safeguarding in the national and local context; 

 Achievements and challenges during 2016/2017; 

 Community awareness; 

 Looking ahead, future actions and the refreshed Strategic Plan for the 
period 2017-2020; 

 Perspectives of the key partners; 

 Consultation with the local Healthwatch; 

 Key data on safeguarding activity and analysis in County Durham 
which is throughout the report. 

 
Safeguarding in the national and local context 

 
5 The Association of Directors for Adult Social Services (ADASS) continues to 

champion a personalised approach to the safeguarding of adults with a 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) temperature check published in 2016. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 15



 

 

The SAB will continue to review progress on its recommendations to inform its 
future plans and activities. 

6 The Law Commission undertook a review of the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) and the Mental Capacity Act and published its findings 
together with new draft legislation in March 2017. Adult and health service 
staff and service providers have been updated of recent legal changes to 
DoLS with regards to coroner’s rules relating to adults who die whilst subject 
to a DoLS authorisation. The local Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
continue to work with the Continuing Health Care Team in North East 
Commissioning Support Unit to ensure delivery in relation to the Judicial 
DoLS agenda. 

7 Since the implementation of the Care Act 2014, an increase in safeguarding 
enquiries has been evident across many local authority areas during 2016. 
There were 3,026 enquiries undertaken in Durham, 64 per cent related to 
people over the age of 65 years, 29 per cent of enquiries (889) required 
further investigation and risks were subsequently removed or reduced in 69.9 
per cent of these cases. This is slightly higher than the national average in 
2015-2016 of 67 per cent. No action taken accounted for 18.5 per cent, 6.5 
per cent lower than the reported annual national figure of 25 per cent. 

8 An easy read version of the report (see Appendix 3) has been prepared in 
consultation with service user representatives.  

Key Achievements in 2016-2017 
 
9 The SAB refreshed its annual self-assessment tool to include MSP for partner 

completion and held an inter-agency peer challenge clinic to review 
submissions. 

10 The SAB expanded upon the success of a previous national award winning 
regional radio campaign, focussed upon raising awareness. There were 1,333 
website page views compared to 129 for the same period in 2015. The SAB 
worked with other local authorities in the region, coordinating and submitting a 
regional report to ADASS North East with evidence of the campaigns impact.  

11 Annual monitoring of the evaluation and impact of training is undertaken. NHS 
England supported the work of the SAB by funding two dedicated Mental 
Capacity Act training sessions, 169 staff and volunteers from the wider 
workforce including service providers attending sessions.  

12 Face to face training across the partnership for safeguarding adults related 
programmes were delivered to 7,256 staff, in comparison to 2,161 in 2015 – 
2016. This is in part due to improved mechanisms for collating data across the 
partnership. ‘Risk Factor’ training was delivered to 350 DCC adult and health 
service staff and multi-disciplinary team staff. 

13 A SAB newsletter has been introduced raising awareness of key related 
safeguarding issues, including the Prevent Agenda, Access to Advocacy, Be 
Fraud Aware and Beat the Scammers. Partner agencies including County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT), Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, Durham County Council Housing Solutions 

Page 150



 

 

have utilised a dedicated space to raise the profile of their own organisations 
and key initiatives. 

14 To support strengthened links with Healthwatch Durham, an overview of the 
SAB and of safeguarding adults from abuse and neglect was delivered to 
Healthwatch Board Members, friends and volunteers in March 2017.  

15 A key safeguarding principle is the empowerment of adults to express what 
they would like to happen and the outcomes they would like to achieve. This 
is a focus for all SABs. In 2016-2017 95.8 per cent of adults either fully 
achieved or partially achieved their desired outcomes following safeguarding 
enquiries. 

16 The SAB revisited its performance scorecard to reflect a multi-agency 
approach to the collation of safeguarding data strengthening the 
accountability arrangements of the partnership. The first revision was 
submitted to the SAB in January 2017 and this work continues to progress 
into 2017-2018. 

Key Partner Perspectives 
 
17 As part of the annual report process key partners are requested to offer a 

perspective of their own safeguarding activity and arrangements and their 
effectiveness for inclusion within the annual report. Submissions were 
received in 2016-2017 included: 

 Durham County Council – Adult and Health Service; 

 Durham County Council – Housing Solutions; 

 North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 Durham, Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust; 

 Durham Constabulary. 
 

Areas of focus in 2017-2018 

 

18 In developing and improving upon our performance reporting to ensure it is 
fully reflective of multi-agency working, and development of thematic audits 
that are supportive of a prevention agenda. 

19 Continue our work in gaining the ‘voice’ of adults and carers to inform our 
work with a planned follow-up ‘seek your views’ event in July 2017. 

20 Continue to strengthen relationships with Healthwatch Durham acting 
independently to support safeguarding survey activities. 

21 In an initiative led by Durham Constabulary, the SAB will continue to explore 
and identify the prevalence of sexual exploitation for adults, developing the 
most appropriate pathways for early intervention and support of those adults. 

22 In its development session of March 2017 the SAB reflected upon its progress 
to date, and its direction of travel in relation to setting future priorities. A key 
focus of those discussions were prevention and early intervention. 

Page 151



 

 

23 The Care and Support Statutory Guidance makes clear that SABs must 
understand the different concerns of the various groups that make up their 
local communities. In the year ahead, the SAB have agreed to place focus 
upon financial abuse as part of its preventative work, as well as exploring 
adults who choose to live in risky situations.  

24 The SAB agreed to continue with its ‘plan on a page’ format, revisiting its 
priorities inclusive of meeting its statutory responsibilities. A refreshed plan 
has been produced to cover the period of 2017 to 2020. Identified areas of 
focus are as shown below: 

 Prevention; 

 Early Intervention; 

 User/Carer Voice; 

 Awareness Raising; 

 Governance; 

 Performance and Quality; 

 Safeguarding Adult Reviews; 

 Learning Lessons and Improvement. 
 
25 The Annual Report 2017-18 will report on achievements and progress against 

the refreshed plan on a page this time next year 

Recommendations and reasons 

26 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a) Receive the annual report for information  
 

Contact:  Lee Alexander, Head of Adult Care, Durham County Council        
Tel:            03000 268180 

  

Page 152



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance – S.A.B currently receives £93,780 via partner agencies in order to maintain 
its business functions. This is reviewed on an annual basis. 
 
Staffing – The sustaining of adult safeguarding activities requires continued priority to 
staffing to ensure adequate resources are maintained. The continued contribution to 
staffing from partner agencies supports the sustainability of dedicated safeguarding 
adults posts/ functions. 
 
Risk – The risks associated with not appropriately managing responses to 
safeguarding are extremely high and include risks of ongoing abuse and neglect of 
individuals. As well as the risk of serious reputational damage to statutory and non-
statutory agencies in County Durham. 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board puts considerable effort into training and awareness-
raising to ensure that abuse and neglect is recognised and reported. All reports of 
concerns are screened and directed so they receive the most appropriate response. 
Any risks identified are included within risk arrangements under the umbrella of the 
Board reviewed quarterly, and the impact of training is regularly explored and reported 
upon annually. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – SAB policy and procedures 
are formulated with reference to statutory obligations in respect of equality and 
diversity and equalities impact assessments undertaken where appropriate. 
 
Accommodation – N/A 
 
Crime and disorder - Adult safeguarding is intrinsically linked, and this is covered in 
the SAB policies and procedures. There is a close working relationship to the Safe 
Durham Partnership, and annual review of the Safeguarding Framework outlining 
working arrangements across a range of partnerships. Durham Constabulary is a 
statutory partner of the SAB and prevention of harm is a key principle of the SAB. 
 
Human rights – The prevention and protection of human rights is fundamental to the 
work of the SAB and its related partners in the context of safeguarding and adult 
protection. 
 
Consultation – Report available for all partner agencies. 
 
Procurement – The adoption of safeguarding principles in the procurement of health 
and social care services is essential. Further work has been undertaken by 
commissioners for monitoring and review of procured services which will support 
providing assurance to the board. 
 
Disability issues – Safeguarding Adults procedures apply to ‘adults at risk’, who are 
adults with needs for care and support, whether or not the local authority is meeting 
those needs. 
 
Legal implications – Publication of the SAB annual report as well as Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews (SARs) in that period, lessons learnt and any incomplete actions is in 
line with the requirements of the Care Act 2014. 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Safeguarding Adults 
Annual Report 2016/2017 

P
age 155



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

2 
 

 

Message from the Chair   3   

Messages from service users, carers and advocates  4 

Our work  5 

SAB working arrangements  7 

National and local updates  10 

Board assurance 2016-2017  11 

What we have achieved in 2016 – 2017   12 

How we made a difference in 2016 - 2017  14  

Safeguarding Adult Reviews   19 

Looking ahead 2017-2018  21 

Partner statements  23 

Appendix – Refreshed Plan on a Page 2017-2020  32 

  

Contents  P
age 156



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

3 
 

As Independent Chair of the Durham Safeguarding Adults Inter-Agency Partnership Board I would like 
to thank you for taking an interest in our work and this annual report.  As Chair, I have continued to 
review the work of the Board with independence, ensuring that all partners are able to evidence their 
progress against our vision. 
 
This report, I hope will offer an insight into the work undertaken over the last year and the progress 
made since our last report in 2015 – 2016.  I hope it demonstrates the openness and transparency 

with which our Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) operates. 
 
Each year as part of our continual review we undertake a stocktake of our achievements and challenges. Partners 
of the SAB are continually working within a challenging climate, so this year, the SAB took the time to consider its 
direction. We gave particular emphasis to how we can further support individuals and wider communities to keep 
themselves safe. Empowering and supporting individuals when they may need access to safeguarding services is a 
vital element of partnership working, and ensuring ‘proportionate and good outcomes’ for people is what we should 
do in line with our vision. 
 
Prevention and early intervention are key areas that the SAB wish to take forward into 2017 – 2018.  Our partners, 
councillors and wider communities all have a part to play in achieving that and in continuing to ensure people 
remain safe from abuse and neglect in Durham.  
 
Over the last year we have strengthened our consultation and involvement with the local Healthwatch, and have 
improved our quality assurance processes to measure the effectiveness of what we do, and identify improvements. 
We will continue to monitor and question instances of poor service provision and service quality through our board 
reporting arrangements. This annual report should have prominence on each core member’s website and be made 
readily available to other agencies. As Chair, I wish to thank everyone involved for their continued commitment this 
year and into the year ahead.  

 
  

 
 
 
 

 

Message from the Chair  

Jane Geraghty, Independent Chair 
 

 P
age 157



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

4 
 

 
 
Effective safeguarding should always place the adult at the heart of what we do. Ensuring adults are empowered and 
supported to make their own decisions is essential whenever a safeguarding concern is raised. This should be our 
primary goal. In 2016 – 2017, we continued to explore the views of adults at risk and carers who received 
safeguarding responses, we also asked the advocates acting on their behalf what they thought of safeguarding 
practice. 
 

The Adult Protection Officer and Case Worker were professional throughout, we felt 

what had happened to our father was taken seriously and investigated thoroughly  
 

Individuals were met on a one to one basis within their own home or familiar 

surroundings taking into account their needs  
 

 We always felt that the process focussed on the needs of the clients and they were 

involved as much as possible in the process  
 
Making Safeguarding Personal was a key area of focus in 2016 – 2017, strengthening engagement and 
participation with adults and carers. Over the latter part of the year, a user/carer engagement forum led by our lay 
members has begun to take shape.  
 
Our local Healthwatch is supporting the work of the SAB in 2017 – 2018, by undertaking independent consultation 
activities with specific groups Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) and Carers. The SAB is keen to seek the views of wider 
communities on its future work plans. 

 

Messages from service users, carers and advocates 

P
age 158



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

5 
 

 
Since moving to a statutory footing, the SAB has a key role to assure itself that our partners and our local 
safeguarding arrangements are working harmoniously to protect adults in our area. We do this through our Board 
activity. The SAB continues to be supportive of the County Durham Sustainable Community Strategy for an 
Altogether Better Durham by 2030.   
 

 

 

Our strategic plan for 2015-2018 outlined our priorities and how we aimed 
to achieve them and encompassed: 
 
The promotion of health and wellbeing for adults with needs for care 
and support, and carers. 
 
Communicating and engaging with wider agencies and communities 
of interest to help to make adults safer, and ensure the ‘voice’ of 
adults is heard. 
 
Complying with local policy, monitoring that compliance and 
measuring its effectiveness. 
 
Reviewing and analysing safeguarding activity across our 
partnership to identify and action improvements. 

 

   We also ensure that we: 
 

 Monitor the impact safeguarding training provision; 

 Maintain and strengthen our links and reporting to relevant forums, such as, the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board, Safe Durham Partnership, Health and Wellbeing Board and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees; 

 Work in cohesive and collaborative ways with statutory and non-statutory partners; 

 Regularly review our governance arrangements and check we are meeting our statutory obligations. 
 

Our work 

P
age 159



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

6 
 

 
   Adults we support 

 
Any adult with needs for care and support, who is experiencing, or is at risk of abuse or neglect, and as a result of 
those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the risk of or experience of abuse or 
neglect. 
 
The local authority has a statutory duty to undertake safeguarding enquiries for all adults who meet the criteria 
shown above. The SAB by working together in collaboration with partners supports the local authority to achieve that 
duty. 

 

Why we do it  
 
The SAB aims to support all partners to keep adults at risk safe, and to meet statutory obligations. We promote 
collective accountability in all that we do, working together to prevent and stop all forms of abuse or neglect 
happening wherever possible.  

 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 160



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

7 
 

 

 

The Care and Support Statutory Guidance describes the main objective of the SAB as “to assure itself that local 
safeguarding arrangements and partners act to help and protect adults in its area” who meet the safeguarding 
criteria as set out in the Care Act 2014.  

 
Following a review of its governance arrangements in 2015-2016 the SAB agreed a set of actions to take forward to 
strengthen its arrangements. A number of actions were completed which included: 
 

 Improved connectivity with sub-group chairs by meeting with the Independent Chair on a quarterly basis; 

 Held ‘peer challenge clinics’ in September 2016, following self-assessment by partners; 

 Revised multi-agency performance data that is reflective of partnership working on a quarterly basis; 

 Partner submissions of ‘impact measures’ during a regional radio campaign reported to SAB in January 
2017; 

 The SAB held an annual event in September 2016 commissioned by the Association of Directors of Adult 
Social Services, North East (ADASS, NE). Following an evaluation of the event, ADASS NE made some 
recommendations to the SAB. A full update was provided to the SAB in January 2017. 

 Strengthened links with the local Healthwatch bringing independence to user/carer survey feedback 
activities. 

 
SAB membership 

 
The Care Act 2014 specifies that each SAB should have three core members, 
the local authority, clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) and the police. The 
SAB is made up of a wider membership, individual partner statements are 
outlined at the end this report.   

 

SAB meetings 
 
SAB meets on a quarterly basis, and continues to report upon the attendance of partners on a six monthly basis to 
the SAB providing evidence of the commitment of its members. 

SAB working arrangements 

P
age 161

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#safeguarding-1


 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

8 
 

 
Independent chair engagement  
 
The Independent Chair continues to meet 
regularly with the County Council’s Chief 
Executive, Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, and Chief Officers of the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, NHS Foundation Trusts 
and Police. This forum offers further opportunities 
for challenge at the most senior level.  

 
The Chair takes an active role in meeting 
partners of the SAB individually and engaging in 
a variety of board activities. In 2016 – 2017 the 
Chair attended a focus group of Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary, as well as 
Safeguarding, Care Act You and Mental Capacity 
Act training. 
 

SAB relationships 
 

The SAB continues to build and strengthen its linkage with other partnership boards. 
Not only is this key to ensuring effective safeguarding arrangements are in place, it is 
also essential in establishing efficient and collaborative arrangements, to meet our 
shared aims of prevention and early intervention.  
 
Key ‘safeguarding adult’ messages and raising the profile of the SAB were delivered as 
part of ‘learning lessons’ events coordinated by the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) in October 2016 through joint working between the two boards following the 
learning and key actions related to adults from a serious case review. 

 

 

P
age 162



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

9 
 

Sub-groups 
 
Our sub-groups continue to play a pivotal role in driving forward the work of SAB and its functions. For 2016-2017 
the sub-groups were as shown below. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notably, during this reporting period, the Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) and Post Care Act task and finish 
group disbanded. Following significant progress, it was agreed that MSP should be embedded across all work 
streams of the SAB. A policy and practice group was reformed to take forward any outstanding actions. This year 
has also seen the formation of a user/carer forum, led and chaired by a lay member. The group is making progress 
in developing ways to consult and engage with users/carers in the work of the SAB. Demonstrating and evidencing 
that ‘user/carer’ voice is at the heart of everything we do, is a priority for the SAB. In addition, our last report noted 
that we would take forward an adult sexual exploitation task and finish group, its remit is to establish the nature of the 
problem in our locality and to identify the most appropriate pathways for support. The SAB in 2016 – 2017 had seven 
working groups in place inclusive of short life working groups. All groups working towards action plans to support the 
SAB in meeting its objectives. All of these groups were represented by a variety of key stakeholders. Contributions 
from partner organisations and public representation has continued to enhance the quality of the work undertaken. 
 

P
age 163



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

10 
 

Since the implementation of the Care Act 2014, an increase in safeguarding reports has been evident across many 
local authority areas. This may be as a direct result of the new statutory duties for safeguarding adults imposed by 
the Care Act. Within its remit the SAB must assure itself that it continues to remain informed of changes to practice, 
national and local developments and legislative updates. 
 
 

 ADASS continues to strengthen and champion a personalised approach to the safeguarding of adults. Making 
Safeguarding Personal (MSP) was first introduced in 2010, and since then a number of key reports and 
guidance have been published. Research in Practice for Adults (RiPfA) published an evaluation report in 2015 
for MSP. ADASS commissioned a temperature check as a result and published its findings in 2016. The 
Durham SAB will continue to review progress on its recommendations to inform its future plans and activities. 

 

 Ensuring the wider multi-agency workforce is equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge plays a key 
part in ensuring safeguarding arrangements are effective. In the year ahead, the SAB will address a number 
of training requirements highlighted from its training needs analysis.  Self-neglect in the context of 
safeguarding will be one such programme in order to ensure that the wider multi-agency workforce is 
competent in addressing and supporting adults who self-neglect. It will explore and inform the wider workforce 
of the legal frameworks that can be accessed, the links to safeguarding adults, and will draw upon the 
learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews nationally. 

 

 In March 2017, a press release highlighted the rise in financial fraud inparticular scams being carried out, and 
groups targeted. The article informs of future training activities for staff working in banks/building societies. 
The Care and Support Statutory Guidance (2016) makes clear that SABs must understand the different 
concerns of the various groups that make up their local communities. In the year ahead, the SAB have agreed 
to place focus upon financial abuse as part of its preventative work, for example by hosting a multi-agency 
event aimed at a range of professionals including financial services staff, police, trading standards and service 
providers. 

 

 The Law Commission undertook a review of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) and the Mental 
Capacity Act published its findings together with new draft legislation in March 2017.  

 
 

National and local updates 

P
age 164

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-39166130
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#safeguarding-1
http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/lc372_mental_capacity_EasyRead.pdf


 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

11 
 

In 2015 – 2016 we reported that the SAB would strengthen its reporting and assurance arrangements. Over the last 
year the SAB has received a range of reports and presentations from partners in relation to adults and the potential 
links to safeguarding, below are some examples: 
 

 Durham Constabulary delivered a presentation on child sexual exploitation and how this links to adults with 
care and support needs. Research data was provided and suggested next steps for the SAB. A working group 
is in place to explore sexual exploitation of adults. 

 NHS England Learning Disability Network (Cumbria and North East) provided information on the work of a 
steering group in understanding premature mortality. 

 Durham County Council Consumer Protection told us about their work in relation to doorstep crime and 
scams. This will be an area of focus for the SAB given the links to financial abuse. 

 Durham County Council Public Health updated about of the work being undertaken in relation to suicide 
prevention in Durham. A number of training events for suicide prevention in 2016 – 2017 were planned. 

 North Durham, and Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups provided an 
update of the local policy for the Management of General Practitioner Professional Performance and links to 
local safeguarding arrangements. 

 County Durham Partnership Board gave a presentation highlighting the positive impact of partnership working 
in Durham. It highlighted the opportunities for improved working across all partnerships. 

 

As part of its agreed reporting mechanisms the SAB receives partner activity reports which offer a level of assurance 
of the safeguarding activity of partner agencies. These arrangements encourage working with openness and 
transparency and offer all partners the opportunity to engage in meaningful dialogue and challenge about each 
agency’s contribution to the work of the SAB. In this reporting period, the SAB received service assurance updates 
from the following partners: 
 

 Her Majesty’s Prison Service  

 North Durham and Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups  

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 Durham Constabulary 
 

Board assurance 2016-2017 

P
age 165



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

12 
 

Each year the SAB reviews its strategic priorities against a 3 year plan. In 2015 – 2016 we reported upon the actions 
to be taken forward by our sub-groups as part of our refreshed strategic plan in line with our seven priorities (see 
opposite). In March 2017, the SAB held a development session delivered by an external facilitator. Recognition was 
given to the SAB for the significant progress that has been made since March 2016. A snapshot of our key 
achievements are outlined below. 

    

We said we would… 
 

 Revisit and revise the format of the performance report and incorporate partner data. We submitted the first 
revision to our scorecard in January 2017. 

 Refresh the annual self-assessment tool to include MSP for partners to complete. Partners completed their self-
assessments in August 2016. 

 Plan inter-agency challenge events on an annual basis to peer review self-assessment tools. We held our peer 
clinic in September 2016. 

 Distribute and analyse a Training Needs Survey (over 400 responses received) to establish a baseline for 
development of the multi-agency training strategy. A Training Strategy has been developed for 2017-2018. 

 Expand upon the success of a previous national award winning regional radio 
campaign to reinforce key messages for safeguarding adults. Raising awareness 
of how to report abuse and neglect. There were 1,333 website page views 
compared to 129 for the same period in 2015. The SAB coordinated and 
submitted a regional report to ADASS NE with evidence of its impact. 

 Launch a Communication and Engagement Strategy and recently issued a 
second edition. 

 Complete a range of actions identified from our governance review in July 2016. 

 Hold a SAB annual event. An event commissioned by ADASS NE, with a focus 
upon Care Act 2014 responsibilities for the SAB took place in September 2016. 
An evaluation and recommendations were produced and presented to SAB in 
January 2017. 

 Monitor outcomes in line with national changes specifically in relation to whether 
risk is reduced, removed, or remains as a result of a safeguarding enquiry. This is 
to ensure the analysis of qualitative information captures the autonomy of individuals/choice and control in line 

Strategic 

Priorities 

Performance 

Framework 

Care Act/ Legislative 

Compliance 

Prevention 

User/ Carer 

Voice 

Awareness 

Partnership 

Engagement 

Learning Lessons 

and Improvement 

What we have achieved in 2016 – 2017 

P
age 166



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

13 
 

with MSP and the Care Act 2014. We undertook an audit of cases for ‘risk remains’ and ‘self-neglect’ and have 
highlighted some key learning points for future audits. 

 Monitoring and evaluation of the impact of training to be included in an annual Training Report that illustrates and 
evidences wider workforce knowledge. The SAB agreed that report in July 2016. 

 Rollout of an Advocacy survey to establish an illustration of advocacy views on safeguarding processes and 
achieving outcomes. The SAB received the findings of the survey in January 2017. 

 Work with commissioners to develop safeguarding elements for provider self-audits. Safeguarding standards 
have been completed, and future updates of progress and findings are scheduled for 2017-2018 from 
commissioners. 

 

We need to continue our work… 
 

 In developing and improving upon our performance reporting to ensure it is fully reflective of multi-agency 
working and incorporates prevention and early intervention. 

 In gaining the ‘voice’ of user/carers to inform our work and identify improvements. We will do this by building 
upon the work progressed in 2016-2017 to develop a user/carer forum. The forum will encompass the voice of 
adults and carers to inform future practice. We will continue to maintain our links with Healthwatch who will act 
independently to support our survey activities. 

 In seeking feedback on our strategic plans and priorities by consulting with Healthwatch, the wider workforce and 
communities of interest.  

 In continuing to work closely with the police in the development of performance reporting requirements to 
measure how well we are doing in relation to access to justice for adults and carers who have experienced abuse 
or neglect.  

 In further developing bespoke audit activities, inclusive of thematic audits that can support preventative 
strategies. 

 In identifying the prevalence and need of adults who may be sexually exploited and to develop the most 
appropriate pathways to support adults at risk of sexual exploitation or trafficking. 

 To commission a ‘peer review’ of the SAB within this reporting period as outlined in our 2015-2018 strategic plan. 
 

 

 

P
age 167



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

14 
 

Raising awareness 
 

` The SAB has promoted safeguarding 

of adults through a range of activities 
over the last year. The illustration 
opposite notes some key successes. 
 
Raising awareness of safeguarding 
adults has taken place at a number of 
events over the last year, coordinated 
by our partners or partnerships this 
included: 
 

 Cyber-crime events 

 CCG Patient Reference Groups  

 Public Awareness Events 

 Fulfilling Lives Event  

 Big Tent Event 

 Holocaust Memorial Event 

 International Women’s Day 
 
 
 
The SAB issued its first newsletter in Spring 2016, publishing each quarter since. We have raised awareness of a 
range of key issues, including the Prevent Agenda, aimed at preventing adults being drawn into terrorist activities, 
Access to Advocacy, Be Fraud Aware and Beat the Scammers (Age UK).  Partners of the SAB have a dedicated 
space in the newsletter each quarter to raise the profile of their own organisation work and key initiatives. To date, 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, 
Durham County Council Housing Solutions have included updates. 

 

 

 

How we made a difference in 2016 - 2017 

P
age 168



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

15 
 

The following case studies illustrate how safeguarding processes in County Durham have made a real difference. 

 

Mr D is an older man who lives alone with no family support. As a result of a Trading Standards 
initiative it was identified that Mr D had possibly been a victim of a postal scam. This happened over a 
12 month period and resulted in excess of £1000 being taken from his bank account. 

 

A capacity assessment was undertaken for Mr D who was reluctant to believe he was a victim of 
scams.  The assessment determined Mr D was unable to manage his finances without some support.  

An interim order was put in place to support Mr D with management of his finances and reduce further risk. 

 

Information was shared with the police to help them to investigate. There were a number of agencies involved in 
safeguarding Mr D and his financial situation, including access to an advocate to support his best interests. Mr D 
continues to be supported by agencies and the positive outcome was the significantly reduced risk of further money 
being fraudulently taken from his bank account by working in partnership with the bank.  

 

Mrs M is a woman with mental health care and support needs. Mrs M was receiving support from a 
volunteer working for an organisation that helps people overcome their mental health problems. 
Following a report of a domestic dispute a concern was raised with the local authority.   

 

The local authority undertook a safeguarding enquiry with the consent of Mrs M. Information was shared across 
agencies to establish the facts. There was a known history relating to the volunteer and concerns for Mrs M and her 
finances. It was found that Mrs M had given up her tenancy and had moved in with the volunteer. Working with Mrs 
M and with agencies actions were identified to safeguard Mrs M. As a result of the enquiries made the organisation 
reviewed its procedures for the safe recruitment of volunteers and standards of practice. The volunteer was referred 
to the Disclosure and barring service to prevent this happening again. Mrs M has since been supported to live 
independently again. 

  
 

  

P
age 169



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

16 
 

Training accessed (year-end data may be subject to change prior to publication) 
 
2 specialist sessions on the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) delivered in 2016-
2017 supported by NHS England 
funding. 2 additional dates for 2017-
2018. 
169 staff and volunteers from the wider 
workforce including service providers 
attended the MCA sessions. 
7,256 attended face to face training 
across the partnership for safeguarding 
adults related programmes, in 
comparison to 2,161 in 2015 – 2016. 
An increase of 335 per cent. 
350 DCC adult and health service staff 
and multi-disciplinary team staff 
attended ‘Risk Factor’ training  
Staff from partner agencies were able 
to access a range of e-learning training 
which included, Sexual Exploitation, 
Human Trafficking, MCA and DoLS. 

 
To support strengthened links with the local Healthwatch, an overview of the SAB 
and of safeguarding adults from abuse and neglect was delivered to 14 local 
Healthwatch Board Members, friends and volunteers in March 2017. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 170



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

17 
 

Safeguarding Activity 2016 – 2017 (year-end data may be subject to change prior to publication) 
 
 

7,451 concerns were reported and screened 
by Social Care Direct. 

 
3,026 Section 42 enquiries undertaken. 
 
64 per cent of S42 enquiries related to people 
over the age of 65 as shown opposite. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

889 (69.9 per cent) safeguarding enquiries 
action was taken and risk was either reduced 
or removed.  This is slightly higher than the 
national average of 67 per cent for 2015 – 
2016. 
 
307 (18.5 per cent) safeguarding enquiries no 
action was taken, 6.5 per cent lower than the 
reported national figure of 25 per cent for 
2015 – 2016. 
   

 
 
 
 

P
age 171



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

18 
 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) should take place 
when working with adults at risk and carers, the SAB is 
keen to ensure that this happens as a matter of course. 
Adults should be empowered to express what they would 
like to happen and the outcomes they would like to achieve. 
 
1,522 (95.8 per cent) of adults ‘desired outcomes’ were 
fully achieved or partially achieved in 2016 – 2017. 
 

 
 

Safeguarding enquiries should always consider the mental 
capacity of adults. The Care Act tells us that when 
safeguarding enquiries are undertaken, advocacy support 
should be offered to adults when needed.  An adult’s ability 
to contribute to decisions about their protection should 
always be recorded. The table opposite illustrates for all age 
groups and in the majority of instances adults are supported 
by family, friends or advocates. 
 
 
Safeguarding adults should aim to prevent further risk to 
adults. Since 2011-2012 a concerted effort has been made 
to ensure repeat instances of abuse are maintained at the 
lowest possible levels. This is an indicator of the 
effectiveness of safeguarding interventions.  

 
For 2016 – 2017, repeat instances accounted for 6.18 per cent of invoked referrals. The SAB receives audit 
information annually of all repeat instances. 

 

P
age 172



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

19 
 

The SAB must within its annual 
report provide details of any SAR’s 
undertaken, the lessons learned and 
actions to be taken as a result of a 
SAR. 
 
The Care and Support statutory 
guidance informs that wherever 
possible consideration should be 
given to parallel review processes, 

and also the exploration of joint reviews to prevent duplication. In our 2015-2016 report we informed of a case that 
had been considered against the local SAR protocol, taken forward by NHS England via the commissioning of a 
Mental Health Homicide Review.  The review was published in November 2016, and a number of single agency 
actions were identified and taken forward. Durham County Council has reported about the progress made against 
recommendations of the review in relation to training provision, risk assessment and management and the revision 
to supporting tools. 
 
Specific to the SAB there were two key recommendations. The first recommendation was to ensure that there was 
an escalation policy in place to deal with disputes and disagreements between agencies. This would address 
difficulties that had been encountered in relation to the cooperation, involvement and information sharing between 
agencies when working with vulnerable adults or children. It should be noted that there were no children identified 
within the review undertaken. The local Safeguarding Children Board and Safeguarding Adult Board have a 
collaborative information sharing protocol which was revised to meet this recommendation and endorsed by both 
the LSCB and SAB in October 2016. 
 
A second recommendation related to communication of specific risk situations between agencies. It was suggested 
that the health and social care community in County Durham should consider how it could achieve a more robust 
approach to cross-agency communications. This work is being taken forward by a focus group, with support from 
NHS England. A pilot is planned for 2017-2018 for a common framework. The pilot will run for 6 months, with an 
evaluation of its impact at 4, 8 and 12 week intervals. A full report is to be made to NHS England before wider 
rollout with a further evaluation following the wider launch of the framework. 
 
 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews 

P
age 173



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

20 
 

 
A challenge was raised at SAB in relation to the lack of SARs being undertaken and as a result the profile of SARs 
was raised through the SAB newsletter. Since that date, 3 SAR referrals have been received with a SAR Panel 
convened June 2017 to consider the requests (note there will be additional update prior to final publication). 
Initial decisions of the panel will be shared with the Chair for further consideration.  
 
National SAR data for 2015 – 2016 tells us that there were five SARs reported for the North East region. This figure 
relates to 12 local authority areas for the North East region. It is illustrative that not all SABs have undertaken SARs 
within the region, this is reflective of the national picture. 
 
  
 

 
 
   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 174



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

21 
 

The SAB Development Session in March 2017 provided an opportunity to reflect on our 3 year strategic ‘plan on a 
page’ and related priorities. 
 
The SAB agreed its current strategic plan in October 2015, adopting a plan on a page format, for the period 
2015-2018. Key areas to take forward into the next reporting period have been identified earlier within this report. 
 
A strong emphasis on the day was to use it as an opportunity to reflect and take stock of the progress made to date, 
and consider the direction of travel and to be ambitious in our approach. 
 
As a collective the SAB considered what it had done well, areas requiring further development, and the personal 
contribution made by members. 
 

 
 
There was an opportunity to reflect upon areas of significant progress with a view to considering future priorities. 

 
Making Safeguarding Personal – a user and carer task and finish group undertook a range of actions within a limited 
timescale. A user/carer forum was developed to ensure that the voice of the adult at risk is heard during the 
safeguarding process, it is supportive of empowerment and prevention, two key principles of safeguarding practice. 
This forum will continue to lead on the future development of surveys and user/carer voice. MSP is embedded as 
‘core’ business in the work of the SAB as a common thread in all working groups. Future national developments will 
continue to inform any actions moving forward. 
 

Looking ahead 2017-2018 

P
age 175



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

22 
 

Compliance with the Care Act/Legislation – a post implementation stocktake was undertaken of safeguarding adults’ 
compliance with the Care Act. It included the SAB arrangements, and has evidenced there is a good level of 
compliance. Any future legislative changes will be addressed by the policy and practice group.  
 
Partnership engagement – the work of the SAB is reliant upon partner engagement and attendance at meetings. To 
that end, SAB receives monitoring reports about attendance at board meetings and sub-groups. 
Partner activity reporting and self-assessment processes are in place and feed into an annual governance review. 
Subsequent action plans are monitored through the performance and quality group. Peer review and challenge of a 
range of audit activities will continue to take place through the performance and quality group, with reports to SAB. 
 
The SAB considered areas for future development and its priorities looking ahead into next three years and explored: 
 

 Review of work streams and related groups including Communication and lessons learned led by the local 
authority. 

 Prevention and early intervention with a focus upon hard to reach groups. 

 Raising awareness of financial abuse through a multi-agency learning event, led by the police. 

 Adults with capacity who remain in risky situations to be taken forward and led by the CCGs. 

 Exploration of the transition arrangements across the partnership that are in place and that they are understood 
across all partners. 

 
 
It was agreed that a new refreshed plan be devised outlining the priorities. The plan includes how the SAB will meet 
statutory responsibilities (See Appendix). 
 
This report offers an illustration of the work undertaken during 2016-2017 for Safeguarding Adults. Our Board 
partners continue to remain committed to promoting the prevention of abuse or neglect of adults at risk and carers. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 176



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

23 
 

The following are statements provided by partners of the SAB outlining some of their key contributions to the work of 
the SAB and areas to take forward into 2017 – 2018. 

 
Durham County Council Adult and Health Service and Housing Solutions 
 
The Care Act 2014 and its guidance instruct the Council of its responsibilities for safeguarding adults with 
care and support needs. We have a duty to make enquiries or cause others to make them. All services 

within the Council have a responsibility to protect adults at risk of abuse and neglect. 
 

The Adult and Health service takes the lead for safeguarding and supporting adults. A dedicated Safeguarding and 
Access service responds to instances that require a multi-agency adult protection response. Across the whole 
service an ethos of supporting adults to maintain choice and control over their lives is adopted which in turn should 
support adults in maintaining their own wellbeing. 
 
The Safeguarding and Access Service continues to develop the knowledge and skills through ongoing training and 
team development.  
 
Our Principal Social Worker has continued to deliver key messages to front line staff through a range of briefings and 
practitioner forums, for example;  

 Sharing key messages from the Chief Social Worker for adult’s annual report.  

 World Social Worker Day e-magazine.  

 Following the learning from a recent Mental Health Homicide Review, staff have accessed ‘Risk Factor’ training 
across the service. The purpose was to ensure a greater awareness of proportionate actions in relation to the 
reduction or prevention of risk in particularly complex cases. This was highlighted as part of the Mental Health 
Homicide Review but was also identified from wider learning instances within supported housing, multiple failings 
within a care establishment, and a carer breakdown resulting in serious assault. 

 
Over the last year work has taken place for a new monitoring and review framework for commissioned services, soft 
intelligence collections and shaping escalations via an information sharing group. This work is pivotal in ensuring a 
high quality of service provision to adults with care and support needs and the outcomes that will be achieved.  It 
further embeds fundamental principles of ‘dignity in care’, and ‘safeguarding standards’, two elements of that 
framework. 
 

Partner statements 

P
age 177



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

24 
 

Adult and health service staff and service providers have been updated of recent legal changes to DoLS with regards 
to coroners rules relating to adults who die whilst subject to a DoLS authorisation.  

 
Housing Solutions  
 

Housing solutions have continued to move forward with improving safeguarding adults understanding and responses 
within the service. Strengthened links with SAB and Housing Provider forums are in place. The SAB Training & 
Development Officer has delivered briefing sessions to Housing Solution meetings in 2016-2017. Following the 
learning from a case a near miss procedure has been developed, its aim is to support front line staff to look at any 
incidents that have not been considered against safeguarding and to identify any significant events that may impact 
for an adult. The procedure was reviewed in the SAB learning and improvement group. 
 
An audit of safeguarding information was undertaken by Housing Solutions and a number of key actions for 
improvement were identified, these were shared with the SAB performance and quality group and will be our 
progress will be reported.  A survey was issued to all Housing Solutions staff, with 100% of responses achieved. A 
training need in relation to Mental Capacity Act was identified from the survey and is being addressed.  

 
North Durham and Durham, Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups  
 
CCGs are statutorily responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which they commission services 
provide a safe system that safeguards adults at risk of or experiencing abuse or neglect. North Durham 

(ND) and Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCGs are committed to the safeguarding agenda and 
work closely with provider organisations to ensure that robust systems and processes are in place. 
 
Key Achievements - The CCGs support the work of the SAB in working towards achieving its strategic plan by 
active contribution and participation.  It has further supported the SAB by means of contributions for staffing 
resources for the period 2016/2017. Over the last year the CCGs have worked with the local authority safeguarding 
staff in relation to Section 42 and adult protection investigations.  

 
The CCGs actively participated and contributed to a user/carer task and finish group with a strong focus upon 
user/carer feedback.  
 

P
age 178



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

25 
 

The Director of Nursing supported by the Designated Nurse continues to take the strategic lead for safeguarding 
adults. As part of their statutory responsibilities the CCGs continue to play a key role in core board business, with the 
Designated Nurse actively participating in the working groups of the SAB, and taking on a role as Chair for the 
Communication and Training subgroup. Thus, supporting a clear commitment to continued partnership engagement.  
In line with the expectations of the Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) the CCGs are a key partner. The 
Durham executive LSAB representative is the Named GP for safeguarding adults. 

 
The CCGs, through the contractual clinical quality review process and commissioner assurance visits, looks for 
assurance that providers are meeting their contractual requirements, safeguarding referrals are being received and 
acted upon and those without capacity are being care for in their best interest. Failure to comply with such standards 
is measured and acted upon through the quality requirements of the NHS contract schedule. Themed safeguarding 
reports, reflecting associated quality requirements are received into the quality review process as requested by the 
CCGs.  
 
The CCGs continue to work with primary care colleagues to raise awareness through primary care practice 
development sessions which have been held throughout 2016/2017. Topics included;  

 

 Mental Capacity Act update 

 Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent (WRAP/PREVENT) training 

 Care Act Update 

 Self-neglect 

 LSAB role and responsibilities 

 Sexual Assault Referral Centre Update – forensic examinations 

 HARBOUR – domestic abuse support service 

 Multi-agency public protection arrangements 
 

In 2017 – 2018 CCGs will: 
 

 continue to work with the Continuing Health Care Team in North East Commissioning Support Unit to ensure 
delivery in relation to the Judicial DoLS agenda;    

 continue to support primary care to strengthen their safeguarding practices and provide advice and guidance on 
training requirements;  

P
age 179



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

26 
 

 continue to work with the Local Safeguarding Adult Board Training and Development Officer and related working 
groups to inform multi-agency training programmes; 

 continue to work with key providers to ensure information in relation to channel referrals is included in Quality 
Review Group reports; 

 monitor and deliver the requirements of the Intercollegiate document once published. 

 further promote the Designated Nurses role in relation to the commissioning of services within the CCGs. 

 work with the local authority and Continuing Health Care team to ensure CCG funded individuals who are 
potentially subject to MCA DoLS are addressed in a timely manner. 
 

 
                       Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
    

Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust provides a range of community and in patient 
specialist Mental Health and Learning Disability services across a large geographical area.  

  
Our vision is to be a recognised centre of excellence with high quality staff providing high quality services that 
exceed expectations.  Providing excellent services working with the individual users of our services and their carers 
to promote recovery and wellbeing. 
 
Over the last year areas of good practice identified within the Trust in relation to users and carers are: 
 

 CQC inspection of Adult Mental Health services highlighted that all in-patients said they felt safe. 

 MSP questionnaire offered to all patients willing to feedback their experience of the safeguarding adults’ 
procedures (SGA).  Audit findings indicated 100% of patients who completed the questionnaire felt they received a 
good experience in using the SGA procedure. 

 TEWV staff contributed to public Safeguarding awareness work with partner agencies across the Trusts catchment 
area. 

 
Key Achievements - The Trust’s safeguarding activity continues to be monitored internally by the Safeguarding and 
Public Protection Sub Group chaired by the Executive Director of Nursing and Governance which reports to the 
Trust’s Quality Assurance Group, which in turn reports to the Trust Board.  The Trust’s safeguarding adults 
performance is regularly monitored by Clinical Commissioning Groups via the Clinical Quality Review Group 
meetings and by the Board. 

P
age 180



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

27 
 

 
The Trust attends and actively participates in the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board and associated sub groups. 

 
The Trust Safeguarding Adults’ team is made up of; 1x Associate Director of Safeguarding, 2x Named Nurses for 
SGA, 2x SGA Senior Nurses and 2x SGA Advisors as well as 2x MARAC Advisors who provide specialist 
safeguarding and Domestic Abuse support, advice, supervision and training to all Trust staff. 

 
At the end of 2016/17 compliance rates of Trust Staff meeting the mandatory training requirements for Level 1 
training was 97% and Level 2 training compliance was 91%. 

 
Introduction of new SGA electronic recording which in turn provides more comprehensive and accurate SGA activity/ 
performance reports. 
 
Our challenges into 2017 – 2018 include: 
 

 Ensuring the Trust is able to implement safeguarding adult priorities of all 5 Safeguarding Adult Boards within its 
geographical boundaries.  

 Review of the current specialist SGA supervision system to evidence compliance and effective outcomes Further 
embed Making Safeguarding Personal by emphasising in SGA training, improved information on Trust website and 
Intranet and posters in all clinical and reception areas. Routine monitoring via patient feedback systems. 

 Undertake revision of SGA mandatory training to integrate SGA & SGC training at Level 1 and to develop SGA 
Level 2 refresher training programme.  Incorporate changes to all the training programmes in response to 
feedback from staff evaluations of current training programme. 

 Improve SGA communications through the use of social media. 

 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 
 

Who we are; 

 8,000 dedicated staff  

 8 Hospital Sites  

 A foundation trust since 2007 

 Serving a population of 650,000  

P
age 181



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

28 
 

 
Our Mission:  With you all the way (this means) 
 a warm welcome from staff  

 Treating patients and relatives and carers as they would like to be treated 

 Respecting privacy, dignity and confidentiality  

 Being looked after by staff who inspire confidence  

 Always striving for excellent standard of service 

 Always revolving around patient and carer needs 
 

Our vision: to be right first time every time  
 

What we do each year: 
 2,034,389 patient contacts  

 129,670 A&E attendances 

 662,467 district nurse appointments 

 578,646 out-patient appointments 

 42,810 operations  

 5,275 births 

 67,524 emergency admissions 

 387 radiology scans  
 

How we do it:  
An overarching clinical services strategy unpinned by our improvement strategies including;  

 Quality Matters 

 Staff Matters 

 Health Informatics 

 
Areas of Good Practice: 

 
Making Safeguarding Personal  

 Following the self-assessment review earlier in the year one of the areas for development highlighted staff 
understanding of making Safeguarding Personal. This prompted a review of the training programme and presentations 
were change to highlight what this actually means for staff on the front line.  

P
age 182



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

29 
 

 

Quality Matters  

 On a monthly basis the ward and departments undertake audits in relation to Safeguarding Adults and vulnerable 
patient groups. Compliance with the audits is consistently high and has been validated by Commissioner Visits. 
However, where areas have lower than expected compliance they produce improvement plans to demonstrate how the 
will achieve compliance with the required standards.  

 
Audit Findings/ Policy Implementation 

 As an organisation we recognise that staff still struggle with the complexities of the Mental Capacity Act, so in 
December the team presented some of the initial findings from audits and concerns to key groups within the 
organisation such as executive and clinical leads, senior nurse & midwifery group and sisters and department 
managers. The sessions covered mental capacity, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding and Restraint. The aim was to 
improve understanding and advocate the need for staff to seek advice and support and also take the opportunity for 
additional training that will be supported from the safeguarding boards later this year. 

 
Key Achievements: 

 

 The Trust supports campaigns and events throughout the year and actively promotes safeguarding adults in line 
with Local Authority.  

 The Trust actively participates in SAB. The Safeguarding Adult Lead has supported the sub groups of the board 
and actively promotes safeguarding within the culture of the organisation providing support to staff and patients. 

 The Associate Director of Nursing has taken an active role as chair of Policy & Practice Group.  
 

Our challenges into 2017 – 2018 include: 
 

Resources  

 This has been a challenging year and work is underway to anticipate the impact of the implementation of 
intercollegiate document on the Trust.  Work is already underway to see if we can augment existing arrangement 
within the Trust but this will be a challenge. Although, we have recognised a need for change and have started to 
look at adult safeguarding supervision model to support staff and the process within the trust.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 183



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

30 
 

Training  

 Training compliance remains a challenge however; we can’t detract from the work and effort that has been out in 
to achieve the improvements made this year. Although we need to ensure that staff achieve the relevant level of 
training to safeguard vulnerable patient groups.  

 
Mental Capacity Act  

 Mental Capacity awareness and the complexities of the act remain a challenge and from discussion with other 
colleagues it is clear that it is not just within CDDFT, how as an economy, we can support staff to use this in their 
working practice. However, we will aim to ensure the appropriate staff are released to attend the series of training 
around MCA in the next year.   

 
Durham Constabulary 

 
Durham Constabulary is a leading force which delivers excellent policing to the people of County Durham 

and Darlington, inspiring confidence in victims and our communities, by: 
Protecting Neighbourhoods, Tackling Criminals and Solving Problems. 
Durham Constabulary continues to meet a growing demand in the safeguarding arena through dedicated 
Safeguarding Adult Teams staffed by qualified and experienced detectives.  
 
Key Achievements: 
 
The force continues to have a designated D/Supt and DCI for safeguarding.  The force has increased its number of 
investigative safeguarding officers and Detective Inspectors to manage demand effectively and efficiently.  In 
addition, the force has moved to investigative teams that cover all safeguarding issues to ensure investigations are 
timely. 
 
In conjunction with the PCC Durham Constabulary has commissioned a piece of work to understand exploited adults, 
in part adults exploited through the sex trade.  The profile of Durham and Darlington is complete and looks towards 
multi-agency processes to safeguard these individuals.  As a starting point the force has agreed the ERASE team will 
work with adults who have just crossed over into adulthood until the risk is reduced.  This work is continuing and we 
now have a dedicated PC to conduct this work. 
 

P
age 184



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

31 
 

The force continues to use Leicestershire police to carry out victim satisfaction surveys in regard to sexual/domestic 
assaults and feedback from these surveys is used to improve our response to victims. 
 
Durham now have a top 10 complainants address list that is looked at and issued to localities for vulnerability issues 
in those calling for a service,  in order for NPT to use Problem Orientated Policing. This will identify vulnerable adults 
that are calling police on numerous occasions or where others are calling regarding them and are intended to 
establish a safety net to prevent serious harm to those individuals. 
 
Our challenges into 2017 – 2018 include: 
 

 Managing increasing demand in times of austerity – it is likely further financial cuts will be made and looking for 
further innovative and collaborative approaches to how we conduct business and safeguard the communities will 
be important. 

 Implementation of the Child Advocacy bid – we are in the final year of this project and are looking to secure 
premises to enable this project to become a reality to deal therapeutically with children and adults who have been 
victims in the most acute abusive/violent cases. 

 
Areas of Good Practice: 
 

 Our victim-focussed investigations continue to gain praise from our HMIC inspections ensuring we listen to the 
victim, identify their vulnerabilities early so they can be supported through the process. 

 Good practice and highlighted by HMIC as excellent is the victim and ASB 7 day ring-backs we conduct with 
service users, enabling us to identify good practice or areas for improvement and implement change at an early 
stage. 

 Our response to vulnerable adult missing from homes that ensures we identify early vulnerability and identify 
support agencies to reduce likelihood of going missing in the future.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 185



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

32 
 

 
 
  

Appendix – Refreshed Plan on a Page 2017-2020 

P
age 186



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

33 
 

  

P
age 187



 

Safeguarding 
Adults Annual 
Report 2016-17 

 

 

34 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding Adults 
Annual Report 2016/17 

Safeguarding_training@durham.gov.uk  
03000 268870 

P
age 188

mailto:Safeguarding_training@durham.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2016/17 

Message from Jane Geraghty 

 

My name is Jane Geraghty and I am the independent chair of Durham 
Safeguarding Adults Board.  
 
The board is made up of people from different organisations including the council, 
the police and health services who work together to stop abuse from happening. 
 
This is our annual report that says what we have been doing and what we will do 
next year to make sure that people are safe and not abused or neglected, this is 
called safeguarding. 
 
Abuse is when someone hurts you or makes you feel upset or frightened.  
 
Neglect is when the people do not look after you properly. 
 

 

What did we do in 2016/17? 
 

  

 

 
 
We went to events to tell people about safeguarding. 

  

 

 
We asked people to fill in surveys to find out what they know about 
safeguarding. 
 
75% of the people we asked knew what to do if they had a safeguarding 
concern. 

Page 189

heidi.gibson
Text Box
Appendix 3



 

 

  

 

 
We played an advert on Smooth radio to tell people how to report a 
safeguarding concern. 

  

 

 
We printed an Easy Read leaflet. 

  

 

 
We checked how well we are working together. This is called a 
Governance Review. 

  

 

 
We set up a user/carer forum and asked people what we can do to help 
us improve what we do. 

  

 

 
We continued to train staff and volunteers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 190



 

 

  
What we will do in 2017/18 

 
  

 

 
We will look at feedback and make our website better. 

  

 

 
 
 
We will hold a financial abuse event for staff, people and organisations 
we work with. 

  

 
 

We will make sure advocacy support is available for people who need it. 

  

 
 
 

 
We will work together to support adults who live in risky situations.  
This could be an adult who lives independently who neglects themselves 
and their own home. 
 
Sometimes adults are unable to protect themselves and will sometimes 
need support to keep themselves safe. 

  

 

 
We will talk to adults, carers and minority groups to improve what we do. 

  

Page 191



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
We will work with services to make sure they are provided to a good 
standard and are safe. 

  

 

 
 
We will continue to ask people to fill in surveys to help us do things 
better. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
We will continue to train staff and volunteers. 

  

 

 
We will continue to go to events to tell people about safeguarding. 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 192



 

 

Case study 
  

 

 
Joan lives in her own home and has care workers to help her. Someone 
told us that they thought a care worker was taking Joan’s money. 

  

 

 
We went to see Joan and she said she had told her care worker her 
bank PIN number. The carer was stealing Joan’s money. 

  

 

 
We told the police and the care worker can’t work with vulnerable people 
any more. 

  

 

 
We talked to Joan about keeping her details safe so that no one can 
take her money. 

 
 

What to do if you are worried that someone is being abused or neglected 
 
If abuse is happening to you, or if someone tells you they have been abused call Social Care Direct on 
03000 26 79 79. 
 
Social Care Direct will listen to you and you will be taken seriously, please don’t worry your details will be 
kept private. 
 
If you are in danger call 999 first before calling Social Care Direct. 

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

26 July 2017 
 

Durham Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Annual Report 2016-17 
 

 

 

Report of Jane Geraghty Independent Chair  Durham Local 
Safeguarding Children Board 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board with the 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17.  The full 
annual report is available on the LSCB website www.durham-lscb.org.uk. 
Attached at Appendix 2 is the Young People version of the Annual Report. 

 
Background 
 

2. Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a statutory body 
established under the Children Act 2004. It is independently chaired (as required 
by statute) and consists of senior representatives of all the principle stakeholders 
working together to safeguard children and young people in County Durham. 
 

3. The LSCB’s primary responsibility is to provide a way for local organisations that 
have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work 
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in County Durham and 
to ensure that they do so effectively. 
 

4. Statutory Guidance from Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015) 
requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish an 
Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area. 
 

5. Throughout April and May 2017 draft versions of the LSCB Annual Report were 
circulated to the LSCB Board; partner agencies; stakeholders and Corporate 
Management Team for consultation and comment. The feedback received has 
been incorporated into the final document.       

 
Durham LSCB Annual Report 
 

6. The Durham LSCB Annual Report 2016-17 sets out the work of multi-agency 
partners to ensure effective arrangements are in place to safeguard and protect 
vulnerable children and young people from abuse and neglect.  
 

7. The report describes the work undertaken against the 2016-17 priorities and sets 
out the future priorities for 2017-20.  It describes the local governance 
arrangements and structure of Durham LSCB; the linkages to other strategic 
partnerships across County Durham. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 16

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


 

 

 
8. The report provides an overview of the performance monitoring framework as 

well as providing a brief summary of the use of restraint in secure centres; 
Serious Case Reviews; Child Death Reviews; and the LSCB multi-agency 
training provision.   
 

9. To develop this year’s Young People’s Annual Report staff have directly engaged 
with over 70 young people from Durham Constabulary’s Police Cadets (spanning 
key stages 3-5) to act as an editor’s group; providing feedback, critique, 
challenge and shaping how the final document looks.  
 

10. Written in clear language, it provides general safeguarding information from a 
young person’s perspective. The Durham LSCB Annual Report for Young People 
is primarily an interactive electronic document and is best viewed on a computer, 
tablet or smartphone. 

 
LSCB Priorities for 2017-20 
 
11. Durham LSCB held a development day in February 2017 to review progress on 

the priorities; consider key challenges; and to set its future priorities. In setting the 
priorities for 2017-20 the Board considered a number of presentations and 
information sources which resulted in the following strategic priorities: 
 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Neglect 

 Empowering Young People  

 Working Together 
 
Achievements and Progress Highlights 
 

12. Below are some examples of achievements and progress made by the LSCB in 
2016/17:  

 

 A new methodology for Summary Care Records developed with learning 
events to over 700 staff delivered.  

 Launch of new online Child Protection Procedures.  

 Trained over 1,800 taxi drivers in Child Sexual Exploitation with 
safeguarding conditions now built into Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy.  

 Specialist Briefings – Exploitation, Grooming and Radicalisation / 
Intervene to Protect a Child / Understanding Victims of Rape and Sexual 
Abuse Masterclass.  

 Updated Child Sexual Exploitation Local Profile. 

 Developed a range of tackling neglect toolkits. The Neglect Practice 
Guidance and Practice Toolkit / 0-19 Level of Need / Home Environment 
Assessment Tool; all rolled out.  

 Updated single assessment procedures reflecting the added focus on 
neglect and hidden harm.   

 Domestic abuse workers based in One Point and part of Early Help 
Forums are now well established.  

Page 196



 

 

 Developed a self-harm support pathway and a self-harm education 
package for all staff including schools and GP’s.  

 Introduced web-based multi-agency auditing.  

 Website restructured with 13,591 users 97,907 website hits and 11,158 
awareness raising materials circulated.  

 84 training courses delivered and attended by 1,520 staff.  

 Virtual College ‘total package’ of e-learning purchased.  

 Over 6,000 people have completed the PREVENT duty counter terrorism 
e-learning.    

 
Conclusion 

 
13. The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17 and 

Young People’s Annual Report 2016-17 was agreed by the LSCB Board on the 
08 July 2017. 

 
14. The annual reports are available on the Durham LSCB website www.durham-

lscb.org.uk  and will be disseminated through partners own organisational 
governance structures.    
 

Recommendations 
 

15. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

a. Receive the annual report for information 
 

Contact:  Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community  
                      Engagement, Durham County Council 
Tel:                03000 263605 

 
 
  

Page 197

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance 
Yearly financial contributions to Durham LSCB are received from partner agencies and 
are detailed in the LSCB Annual Report.   
 
Staffing 
The priorities identified in the LSCB Annual Report will be delivered using existing 
resources.  Durham County Council will contribute to the delivery of the priorities in 
partnership with other responsible authorities.   
 
Risk  
No adverse implications. 
 
Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty 
The LSCB Annual Report identifies the actions to safeguard the needs of vulnerable 
children and young people. 
 
Accommodation 
No adverse implications.   
 
Crime and disorder 
The LSCB Annual Report reflects priorities and action that impact positively on crime 
and disorder in County Durham. The report shows effective partnership working with 
the Safe Durham Partnership. 
 
Human rights 
No adverse implications. 
 
Consultation 
Consultation with partner agencies and stakeholders has been undertaken as part of 
the development of the LSCB Annual Report. 
 
Procurement  
No adverse implications. 
 
Disability Issues 
No adverse implications.   
 
Legal Implications  
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a statutory body established 
under the Children Act 2004. Working Together to Safeguard Children (Statutory 
Guidance) requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish 
an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.  
 

 

Page 198



Safeguarding Children 

and Young People 

in County Durham

Annual Update for Young People 

2017
#hearmyvoice

P
age 199



Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 1 – Safeguarding Overview

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is safeguarding?

Safeguarding is about keeping 

children and young people safe 

and protecting them from 

harm, while making sure they 

grow up in a safe environment.

What does the LSCB do?

We promote the welfare of 

children and young people, 

safeguarding them from harm 

and protecting those children 

who are at significant risk of 

harm or neglect.

What does it mean for me?

Agencies including the Councils’ 

Children and Young People’s 

Services, the Police, Schools and 

Colleges and Health Services 

such as GPs, Hospitals and 

Health Visitors are all here to 

help.

Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm

2

P
age 200

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 1 – Some facts and figures about Safeguarding

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

3

Suicide is the biggest killer of 

young people – male and female –

under 35yrs in the UK (www.papyrus-uk.org)

Self   
Harm 

• Online Grooming is the 

most common model

• Of those young people 

targeted 80% are girls

• The average age of 

victims is 12 yrs old

Child Sexual Exploitation

Early Help

• 40% increase in the families 

receiving early help

• Over 1160 early help plans 

completed with a successful 

outcome

Neglect

Domestic Abuse is 

the main parental risk 

factor leading to 

children becoming 

subject of a Child 

Protection Plan

(Public Health Profiles)

P
age 201

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – LSCB Priorities

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

Reducing 

Child 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

Improving 

Early Help

Reducing 

Neglect

Reducing 

Self-Harm

Increase 

the Voice 

of the 

Child

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board agreed the following priorities for 2016/17

4

P
age 202

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Child Sexual Exploitation

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form 

of child abuse

• It can happen to anyone who is 

persuaded, bullied or forced into 

having sex or sexual activity such as 

taking and sharing naked photos of 

themselves

• This can be in return for things like 

alcohol, money, drugs or other gifts

• It can happen online and face to face

• It ruins lives and has serious long-term 

effects on young people and their 

families

5

The film Jigsaw is a story about a young girl called Becky 
who likes to use online social media to shares information 
and photos of herself and her friends. Becky has been 
talking to somebody who she believes to be another child. 
It turns out to be a man who has lied to her.

Get Help

There are people who know how to help children 
and young people in this situation. 

They will believe you. There is a way out.

Ring the Police 101 

If you are not ready to report something you 
can speak to Childline 0800 1111

P
age 203

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_o8auwnJtqE
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_o8auwnJtqE


Annual Report for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Child Sexual Exploitation

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Child Sexual Exploitation mean for me?

In school sessions young people told us that these were some of the things that people use to 

manipulate a young person in to sexual activity 

6

The video below is a local victim’s 
experience of being exploited. 

P
age 204

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/what-is-child-sexual-exploitation/
https://youtu.be/LkPzfpHmiXA
https://youtu.be/LkPzfpHmiXA
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/what-is-child-sexual-exploitation/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Improving Early Help

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Early Help?

• Early Help is just a phrase we use to 

explain one of the ways to support 

families who are having a hard time

• Every year many families face 

difficulties; talking about problems 

and getting help before things get 

worse really does work

• Families can learn new skills to tackle 

every day problems

• Getting early help means less children 

and families get to a point where they 

feel they can’t cope anymore

7

Get Help

Services can work with everyone in the family 
helping them to find solutions to their problems.  

P
age 205

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
http://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Improving Early Help

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Early Help mean for me?

More help and advice

Dad said that he wasn’t always like 

that and he felt a lot happier now 

when playing with us.

Holly was worried that she 

was going to fail her exams 

with support from speech 

and language services she is 

more confident she should 

be able to achieve her 

dreams.

8

We focus on the 

following

• Prevention – So that 

problems do not 

happen in the first 

place 

• Early Intervention –

So that problems are 

sorted out at an early 

stage

• Protection and 

targeted suport –

So that help and 

support from a 

trained professional 

is in place for 

problems that are 

serious or may 

continue for a long 

time

P
age 206

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page
http://www.surestartcountydurham.org/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page
http://www.surestartcountydurham.org/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Reducing Neglect

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Neglect?

• Child neglect is a failure to 

look after a child and could 

result in poor health or 

development

• Children (including unborn 

babies), need food, water, 

shelter, warmth, protection 

and health care to grow and 

develop

• Children need their parents 

or carers to love and care 

for them

• Neglect can also include 

physical abuse, emotional 

abuse and sexual abuse

9

Get Help

Every child and young person has the right to be 
looked after properly. If you’re not getting the 

important things you need at home, you could be 
being neglected.  

If you are not ready to report something you can 
speak to Childline 0800 1111

Watch the video to see what happens when you 
contact Childline

Domestic Abuse 
is the main parental 

risk factor 
leading to children 

becoming subject 

of a 

Child Protection 

Plan

P
age 207

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/rARrprkysqQ
https://youtu.be/rARrprkysqQ


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Reducing Neglect

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Neglect mean for me?

10

I thought Mum liked 

drinking more than us 

when Dad left. We were 

all sad and had no food. 

Me and my brothers were 

always late for school 

and they said we weren't 

dressed properly. 

This woman came and 

helped my mum get us 

ready for school and 

helped with other things 

too and I got a new bed. 

Mum doesn’t shout as 

much now and this 

makes us all happy. 

When I first met you I knew I could 

trust you; everything in my life 

changed, you helped me understand 

more about the situation I lived in 

and helped organise extra support 

for me to cope. I’ve laughed and 

cried, thank you for listening to me 

and  reminding me how to stay on 

the right track and for being my 

guardian angel  

Neglect Video: Michelle's 
Story

P
age 208

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/0X8gsyk0Dv8
https://youtu.be/0X8gsyk0Dv8


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Reducing Self-Harm

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Self-Harm?

• Self-harm is when you hurt or 

damage your own body on 

purpose. It's usually a way of 

coping with emotional stress

• Over half of people who die by 

suicide have self-harmed 

before

• Self-harm is linked to anxiety 

and depression, this can be a 

build-up of intense feelings  

• The number of 10-24 year olds 

admitted to hospital because of 

self-harm in County Durham is 

lower than the England 

average (Public Health Profiles)

11

Get Help

Worried about yourself or about a friend self-harming 
or feeling suicidal? 

You can get private and confidential help from 
PAPYRUS www.papyrus-uk.org or you can call them 

on 0800 068 41 41.

Caroline used 
to self-harm as 

a teenager.

She gives 
advice on how 

to get the 
right support.

P
age 209

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.papyrus-uk.org/
http://www.nhs.uk/video/pages/Self-harm.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/video/pages/Self-harm.aspx
http://www.papyrus-uk.org/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Reducing Self-Harm

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Self-Harm mean for me?

Young people say that conflict with family 

members, teachers, boyfriends and girlfriends are 

common reasons for self-harm. 

This often makes young people feel pushed away, 

left out, feel embarrassed or ashamed about 

self-harming themselves, and that they fear being 

judged.

• It’s when people hurt themselves on purpose

• Some people do it when they’re getting bullied

• Depression can lead to self-harm

• When you are totally stressed and feel trapped 

• People might do it because they are having a 

hard time at home 

12

Young people have told us some of the reasons 

why they think young people self-harm

P
age 210

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://www.ifucareshare.co.uk/
https://www.ifucareshare.co.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Increasing the Voice of the Child

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is the Voice of the Child?

• The voice of the child is a 

description we use to make 

sure that services take your 

views and opinions into 

account when they plan 

services

• Staff working with children 

want to know what you 

think and how things can 

be made better for you

• It means that all the people 

working to keep you safe 

will always consider what 

you say and how you feel

13

How you continue to help

The LSCB 

meet young 

people in 

their local 

areas to 

learn more 

about what 

is important 

to them. 

Over 70 Durham 

Police Cadets have 

helped us develop 

this years annual 

update.

Working hard!

P
age 211

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Priority: Increasing the Voice of the Child

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

How has the Voice of the Child made a difference to workers?

‘Both as a professional and a parent, their stories preyed 
on my mind for the rest of the day. They provided a more 
thought provoking human element and a deeper 
comprehension of their far reaching experiences and for 
that I feel very privileged’.

‘I wanted to express my own heartfelt appreciation for 
the rare opportunity, as a professional, to hear the 
accounts of actual people whose lives have been so 
massively impacted upon’.

Durham LSCB promotes the 

hashtag #hearmyvoice as a 

simple way for young people 

to express their views on social 

media

‘This direct link to young 

people and understanding the 

‘Voice of the Child’ has brought 

a positive and different 

perspective into the LSCB’.  
Jane Geraghty, Independent Chair receiving the 

Investing in Children award

14

#hearmyvoice

P
age 212

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 2 – Our plans for the future

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

Our plans for 2017 and 2018

15

• Understand Neglect – See the local picture of neglect; raise awareness and thresholds for action

• Early Identification – Improve the recognition and assessment of neglect 

• Effective Provision – Refine effective and successful support that helps reduce neglect

• Family Focus – Use the experience of our families and the voice of the child in services

Neglect

• Thresholds – Strengthen agreed levels of action across the partnership 

• Focused Intervention – Making sure children receive focused intervention

• Remove Barriers – Understanding the lessons learned and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing – Remove the barriers to local sharing of information

Working 
Together

• Voice of the Child – Every child has a voice within the child protection process

• Empower Young People – To recognise abuse, feel confident to report concerns

• Visibility and Support – Obtain the child’s story and support is child focused

• Peer Support – Develop skills for young people to support other young people

Empowering 
Young People 

• Preventing CSE – Making it more difficult to exploit children and young people

• Protecting children and young people from CSE – Identifying and safeguarding 

those children and young people at risk

• Pursuing perpetrators of CSE – Identifying, arresting and prosecuting offenders

Child Sexual 
Exploitation

P
age 213

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Report for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Section 3 – Reporting Concerns

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

For more information, click on the images to 

go to various websites and contacts

16

P
age 214

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/site/care-and-treatment/children-and-adolescent-mental-health-services/county-durham-and-darlington
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/
http://www.surestartcountydurham.org/
http://www.getsafeonline.org/durham/
https://www.ifucareshare.co.uk/
https://www.papyrus-uk.org/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
http://www.lifeline.org.uk/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Contact details for LSCB Partners

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

LSCB Business Unit 
County Hall, Durham

County Durham, DH1 5UJ 
Email: lscb@durham.gov.uk

Tel: 03000 265 770
www.durham-lscb.org.uk

Durham LSCB 03000 265 770 

Durham County Council 03000 260 000  

Durham Constabulary 101 

County Durham & Darlington 

NHS Foundation Trust 0191 333 2333 

North Durham Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) 0191 389 8600 

Durham Dales, Easington & 

Sedgefield CCG 0191 371 3222

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 01325 552 000 

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust 01642 617 617 

Harrogate & District NHS 

Foundation Trust 01423 885 959 

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 

Foundation Trust 0191 565 6256

NHS England North 0113 825 1609

Cafcass (County Durham) 0300 456 4000 

Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company (probation) 0808 168 4848

National Probation Service

North East Division 01325 246 260

National Offender Management 

Service 0300 047 6325

Schools and Colleges web link only

Voluntary and Community Sector web link only

P
age 215

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 221

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2017
	5 Thematic Review of County Durham and Darlington Child Death Overview Panel - Report of Dr Mike Lavender, Chair of Child Death Overview Panel, County Durham and Darlington
	6 Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update Report: Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plans - Report of Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical Officer,  Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group
	7 Sustainability and Transformation Plans - Prevention Workstream Update - Report and Presentation of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	8 Better Care Fund Quarter 4 Performance 2016/17 - Report of Strategic Programme Manager Care Act Implementation and Integration, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	Item 8 - Appendix 2 - BCF Q4 performanc report

	9 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Performance Report- Report of Head of Service, Durham County Council
	Item 9 - Appendix 2 - Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Performance Report

	10 Public Health England Alcohol Evidence Review - Presentation and Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Durham County Council
	11 Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Update - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Durham County Council
	12 County Durham Youth Offending Service Health Needs Assessment and New Model of Health Provision 2017/19 - Report of Strategic Manager, County Durham Youth Offending Service
	Item 12 - Appendix 2 - County Durham Youth Offending Service HNA and New Model of Health Provision Executive Summary 2017-19

	13 Health and Wellbeing Board Big Tent Engagement Event 2017 - Strategic Manager Policy, Planning and Partnerships, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council
	14 Sugar Smart Programme - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	15 Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-17 - Report of Independent Chair, Local Safeguarding Adults Board
	Item 15 - Appendix 2 - Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-17
	Item 15 - Appendix 3 - Easy Read Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2016-17

	16 Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17 - Report of Independent Chair, Local Safeguarding Children Board
	Item 16 - Appendix 2 - Young People Version of Annual Report

	19 Pharmacy Applications - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	Item 19 - Appendix 2 - Pharmacy Applications - Decision Letter KP
	Item 19 - Appendix 3 - Pharmacy Applications - Decision Letter IH




